CWI Syllabi

Managing Editors

A.M.H. Gerards (CWI, Amsterdam) M. Hazewinkel (CWI, Amsterdam) J.W. Klop (CWI, Amsterdam) N.M. Temme (CWI, Amsterdam)

Executive Editor

M. Bakker (CWI Amsterdam, e-mail: Miente.Bakker@cwi.nl)

Editorial Board

W. Albers (Enschede)
K.R. Apt (Amsterdam)
M.S. Keane (Amsterdam)
P.W.H. Lemmens (Utrecht)
J.K. Lenstra (Eindhoven)
M. van der Put (Groningen)
A.J. van der Schaft (Enschede)
J.M. Schumacher (Tilburg)
H.J. Sips (Delft, Amsterdam)
M.N. Spijker (Leiden)
H.C. Tijms (Amsterdam)

CWI P.O. Box 94079, 1090 GB Amsterdam, The Netherlands Telephone + 31 - 20 592 9333 Telefax + 31 - 20 592 4199 WWW page http://www.cwi.nl/publications_bibl/

CWI is the nationally funded Dutch institute for research in Mathematics and Computer Science.

Introduction to option pricing in a securities market

K.O. Dzhaparidze

1991 Mathematics Subject Classification: 90A09 60H30 ISBN 90 6196 487 3 NUGI-code: 811

Copyright C2000, Stichting Mathematisch Centrum, Amsterdam Printed in the Netherlands

Preface

These lecture notes are based on the material of the papers [25], [26] and [27]. Part I is a revised version of the paper [25] by K. Dzhaparidze and M. van Zuijlen. The first draft of this paper appeared in June 1992 as the technical report No 9209 of the Department of Mathematics during my detachment at the Catholic University of Nijmegen. The opportunity to complete this work occurred a few years later with the contribution [25] to the special issues of the CWI Quarterly on *Mathematics in Finance*. With kind permission of Martien van Zuijlen, I got the opportunity to base the paper [25] and related parts of the present work on our earlier notes, and I want to thank him sincerely.

Due to the growing interest in both research and teaching, there appeared in the recent years many new textbooks – our list of references, though far from being complete, contains a number of interesting titles, e.g. [3], [4], [5], [19], [22], [33], [44], [47], [49], [52], [54], [62], [78] and [66]. All these textbooks typically require to various extend the knowledge of the elements of probability theory, in particular martingale theory and stochastic calculus.

The objective of the papers [25], [26] and [27], hence of the present lecture notes, was somewhat different. To suit the editorial policy of the CWI Quarterly that publishes expository and survey papers aimed at once at the broad auditory of mathematicians and computer scientists, an attempt is made to facilitate reading without advanced probabilistic prerequisite and to keep the presentation at a low technical level. Moreover, in the paper [25] and in the corresponding Part I of the present lecture notes, the idea is pushed forward, like in [73], Chapter 15, that essentially no probability theory is needed for the buildup of the finite theory of options pricing. In this Part I all basic notions and tools of the mathematical theory of securities markets are introduced and simply explained. A path by path approach pursued throughout this course follows certain unsophisticated algebraic considerations, in contrast with usual treatment based on the probabilistic approach in the textbooks mentioned above.

Part II is devoted to the limiting transition towards usual continuous trading models, the so-called Merton model in Chapter 4 and the Black-Scholes model in Chapter 5. Since the reader is not supposed to be familiar with advanced methods of the probability theory, the presentation is kept on the same low technical level as in the previous part with the help of certain heuristic arguments. For full rigour would require a higher level of the general theory of stochastic processes. For further reading we provide a selective list of related papers some of which may carry the reader far afield. Our attention is restricted to emphasis on phenomenological understanding the cash flow mechanism in securities markets that is shown to reveal strong similarity to the physical Brownian motion (more generally, to diffusion with drift) or to the molecular

mechanism of heat flow. Our description of the economical laws governing the market resembles in some respect the seminal paper [6] by Black and Scholes.

vi

Contents

1	Introduction				
Ι	I Finite Securities Markets				
2	Binary Models				
	2.1	Introd	uction	9	
	2.2	Auxiliary notions and results			
		2.2.1	Sequences and their transforms	11	
		2.2.2	Backward recurrence equations	14	
	2.3	A bina	ary model	19	
		2.3.1	A market with two securities: a bond and a stock	19	
		2.3.2	Binomial model and moving averages	23	
3	3 Hedging and Options Valuation				
	3.1	Introd	uction	29	
	3.2	Portfo	lio and value process	32	
		3.2.1	Self-financing strategies	32	
		3.2.2	Integral representation	35	
	3.3	Recur	currence relations		
		3.3.1	Risk neutral probabilities	38	
		3.3.2	Recurrence relations for value processes	41	
	3.4	Compl	leteness and hedging strategies	47	
		3.4.1	Completeness	47	
		3.4.2	Hedging strategy	48	
	3.5	3.5 Option pricing		51	
		3.5.1	European call option	51	
		3.5.2	Pricing a contingent claim	52	
	3.6 Markets excluding arbitrage opportunities		ts excluding arbitrage opportunities	56	
		3.6.1	Arbitrage opportunities	56	
		3.6.2	Proof of Proposition 3.6.2	57	
		3.6.3	No arbitrage for moving averages models	59	

CONTENTS

II	Т	owards Continuous-Time Models	61			
4	Poisson Approximation 6					
	4.1	Introduction	63			
	4.2	Auxiliary notions and results	65			
		4.2.1 Piecewise continuous functions	65			
		4.2.2 Differential-difference equations	69			
	4.3	Binary market	71			
		4.3.1 Conditions on the bond and stock price processes	71			
		4.3.2 Self-financing strategies and value processes	76			
		4.3.3 Completeness, hedging strategy and option valuation	81			
	4.4	Poisson market				
		4.4.1 Asset pricing	83			
		4.4.2 Self-financing strategies	85			
		4.4.3 Completeness, hedging strategy and option valuation	88			
	4.5	On the Poisson approximation	91			
		4.5.1 Approximation of the assets	91			
		4.5.2 Approximate option pricing	92			
		4.5.3 Approximate hedging strategy	93			
5	Gaı	Gaussian Approximation 9				
	5.1	Introduction	95			
		5.1.1 Outline of this chapter	95			
		5.1.2 Basic conditions	96			
		5.1.3 Gaussian distribution	99			
	5.2	Brownian motion	101			
		5.2.1 Wiener's construction	101			
		5.2.2 Quasi-intervals	101			
		5.2.3 Equicontinuity	103			
		5.2.4 Quadratic variation	105			
		5.2.5 Itô's integral	106			
	5.3	Heat equations	109			
		5.3.1 Fokker-Planck equation	109			
		5.3.2 Thermal conductance	110			
		5.3.3 Modified heat equation	112			
	5.4	Towards the Black–Scholes model	114			
		5.4.1 Risk neutral probabilities	114			
		5.4.2 Heat equation in finite differences	116			
		5.4.3 Approximate option pricing	119			
	5.5	Black-Scholes model				
		5.5.1 Assets	122			
		5.5.2 Self-financing strategies	123			
		5.5.3 Hedging strategies and option pricing	126			

viii

Chapter 1

Introduction

These lecture notes are aimed at the reader, e.g. a mathematician, a computer scientist or an econometrist, who is willing to get acquainted straightly with the mathematical theory of assets trading in securities markets, without the recourse to the advanced methods of the probability theory. The course starts from a simple mathematical model of a market, a so-called binomial model that is a typical representative of the class of binary models treated in Part I. This model is quite often used for the introductory purposes as it brings forth usual continuous time models, Merton's model of Section 4.4 and the Black-Scholes model of Section 5.5. The suitable limiting transitions are described in Chapters 4 and 5, respectively. There will be no need of probabilistic methods throughout Part I, for every notion within the finite theory can be explained and every statement can be rigorously proved by means of certain unsophisticated algebraic considerations based on the path by path approach. A few probabilistic terms occasionally used is meant to facilitate further reading and to maintain connections to the traditional literature based on a probabilistic approach. The matters are somewhat more complicated in Part II. We get on with the previous path by path approach. It turns out soon, however, that we are bound to resort to certain arguments of heuristic nature. For rigorous considerations and refined statements should carry us far beyond the present framework towards the highly technical theory of the limit theorems for stochastic processes. Instead, in all of our market models we thoroughly investigate path by path the cash flow dynamics governed by appropriate equations, namely the backward recurrence relations of Proposition 3.3.4 in the case of binary models in Part I, the differential-difference equations of Proposition 4.4.3 in the case of Merton's model of Chapter 4 and the second order partial differential equations of Proposition 5.5.3 in the case of the Black-Scholes model of Chapter 5 (to trace an intrinsic relationship between these equations, see Proposition 4.3.9 in Chapter 4 and Proposition 5.4.3 in Chapter 5). The latter equations are well-known in thermodynamics, referred to usually as the *heat equations*. This brings us at the beginning of Chapter 5 into the area of the physical Brownian motion, diffusion and thermal conduction.

Our mathematical models for securities markets are diverse in nature. But they have always in common that only two assets (or securities) are traded over a finite period of time denoted throughout by [0, T]. The origin t = 0is understood as the current date and t = T as a terminal date. As usual, t is the time coordinate. The main difference between the models is that in binary models of Part I the new prices of the traded assets are announced at certain finite number of fixed instants, in Merton's model of Chapter 4 the price changes occur at certain random sequence of instants, while in the Black-Scholes model of Chapter 5 the price processes develop continuously within the interval [0, T].

One of the assets, called the *bond*, is riskless since its future prices are currently predetermined, while another asset, called the *stock*, is risky since its price process is allowed to develop along diverse trajectories. On pricing financial derivatives, it is often desirable to choose the bond as a common unit on the basis of which the prices on the stock are expressed. In this manner the bond prices become the *numeraire* – the stock price at each instant t is divided by the bond price. The resulting process is called the *discounted* stock price process. We will reserve the symbols B and S to denote the bond and the stock prices, respectively. The graved symbols will denote discounted quantities, e.g. the discounted stock price is denoted by $\dot{S} = S/B$. As the asset prices vary in time, they get the index t so that we write either B_t , S_t and \dot{S}_t or equally B(t), S(t) and $\dot{S}(t)$.

Imagine now an investor who is willing to invest currently an amount $v \ge 0$ by buying Ψ_0 shares of the bond and Φ_0 shares of the stock. So, if the current price of the bond and stock are fixed to $B_0 = 1$ (throughout we agree upon this simplification) and $S_0 = s > 0$, respectively, then the investment amounts to $v = \Psi_0 + \Phi_0 s$. As time advances, the investor adjusts his portfolio according to his observation on the past development of the stock price. Hence at a given instant t his portfolio depends on stock prices occurred strictly before time t, but not on S_t , for instance, or on yet unobserved future prices. To place emphasis on this property, we say that the portfolio is *predictable*, borrowing this term from stochastic calculus. At instant t let the investor own Ψ_t shares of the bond and Φ_t shares of the stock. Then the market value of his holding amounts to $\Psi_t B_t + \Phi_t S_t$. The entire process $\pi \doteq (\Psi_t, \Phi_t)_{t \in [0,T]}$ of selecting the portfolio components is called the investor's trading strategy. With each trading strategy π we associate the so-called value process $V(\pi) = \Psi B + \Phi S$ which at each instant t presents the market value of the holding (Ψ_t, Φ_t) so that $V_t(\pi) = \Psi_t B_t + \Phi_t S_t$. This gives rise to the term value process. Clearly, the initial endowment amounts to $v = V_0(\pi)$.

By definition, the discounted value process is $\hat{V}(\pi) = \Psi + \Phi \hat{S}$. It is said that a trading strategy π is *self-financing*, if its construction is founded only on the initial endowment so that all changes in the portfolio values are due to capital gains during the trading and no infusion or withdrawal of funds is required. The first mathematical result of our theory concerns the discounted value process $\hat{V}(\pi)$ for a self-financing strategy π . It is proved that such process $\hat{V}(\pi)$ possesses an integral representation property, in the sense that it can always be represented as the integral with respect to the discounted stock price process \hat{S} , with the integrand that is the stock component Φ of the portfolio. Symbolically, this statement is displayed as follows: at each instant t

$$\dot{V}_t(\pi) = \int_0^t \Phi_u d\dot{S}_u$$

In all our models this integral will be given an appropriate meaning. The result complementary to this is Clarck's formula telling us that in all our cases the integrand, the stock component Φ of the portfolio, can be written in a certain special way. As applied to the continuous-time trading models like in Chapter 5, this formula is well-known since [6] or [39], Formula (1.9), but under the present name it has been applied by Ocone and Karatzas [59] to portfolio optimization problems, cf also [47]–[49]. Within the context of Malliavin calculus it is used for the stochastic integral representation of a random variable, see [58], [49], Appendix E, [56], Section 1.3.3, or [57], Section 1.6. It seems worth of notice that the similar formula does exist also within the context of the finite theory of Part I as well as in the Poisson theory of Chapter 4, as it will appear in Sections 3.2.2 and 4.4.2.

In all our models, the aforementioned integral representation of the discounted value process $\dot{V}(\pi)$ has important consequences. In particular, in virtue of linearity of the transformation, $\dot{V}(\pi)$ preserves the property of the discounted stock price process that is described in Chapter 3 by equations (3.3.6). in Chapter 4 by equations (4.4.13) and in Chapter 5 by equations (5.5.5), and concerns the relationship between the increments in the time coordinate of the discounted stock price states and the increments in the space coordinate. It is then proved that under the self-financing condition on the trading strategy π the exactly same relations are satisfied by the states of the discounted value process $V(\pi)$, see Propositions 3.3.4, 4.4.2 and 5.5.3 that describe in this manner the cash flow mechanism in the markets in question. As was already mentioned, in the latter special case of the Black-Scholes market partial differential equations appear that are accustomed in physics for modeling thermal conductance. The equations involved in all three of these assertions are backward in the sense that subject to fixed boundary conditions at the terminal date T, they all allow for unique solutions. In the binary case of Part I the backward recurrence procedure and the final results are presented already in Section 2.2.2, prior to the market description. Likewise, in the Poisson case the basic differential-difference equations and their solution is presented in the preliminary Section 4.2.2. Finally, Section 5.3 is devoted to the heat equations and their solution.

Suppose that an investor is willing to invest now (at t = 0) in the bond and the stock in order to attain at the terminal date T a certain wealth, say W_T , without infusion or withdrawal of funds. The investor determines the desired wealth W_T so as to respond to all possibilities of the stock price development. It is said that the market in question is *complete* if there exists a self-financing trading strategy which attains any desired wealth W_T with a certain initial endowment. Besides, a specific trading strategy that at the terminal date Tyields the desired wealth W_T is said to be a hedging strategy against W_T . To convince oneself that our markets are complete one only needs to look for the solution to the equations governing the discounted value process $\dot{V}(\pi)$ and satisfying the boundary condition $\dot{V}_T(\pi) = \dot{W}_T$. The solution always exists and is unique, as we said, for any fixed $\dot{W}_T = W_T/B_T$. Moreover, in all three cases the explicit procedure can be described for constructing the hedging strategy against the desired wealth W_T , cf Sections 3.4.2, 4.4.3 and 5.5.3.

These considerations brings us in position to turn to our main task referred usually to as options pricing or options valuation. The emphasis is placed on a particular option called the European call option that is described as follows. Suppose that today, at time t = 0, we sign a contract giving us the right to buy one share of a stock at a specified price K, called the exercise price, and at a specified time T, called the maturity or expiration time. If the stock price S_T is below the exercise price at maturity, i.e. $S_T \leq K$, then the contract is worthless to us. On the other hand, if $S_T > K$, we can exercise our option: we can buy one share of the stock at the fixed price K and then sell it immediately in the market for the price S_T . Thus this option, called the European call option, yields a profit at maturity T equal to

$$\max\{0, S_T - K\} = (S_T - K)^+.$$

This function of the stock price S_T at maturity T, is called the *payoff function* for the European call option. Now, how much would we be willing to pay at time t = 0 for a ticket which gives the right to buy at maturity t = T one share of stock with exercise price K? To put this in another way, what is a fair price to pay at time t = 0 for the ticket? The answer to come is free of the aforementioned specific form of the payoff function, hence applicable to any *contingent claim* with any fixed *payoff function* of above type. The device to be followed may be summarized as follows:

- (i) construct the hedging strategy against the contingent claim in question, which duplicates the payoff;
- (ii) determine the initial wealth needed for construction in (i);
- (iii) equate this initial wealth to the fair price of the contingent claim.

In a complete market this leads to the unique definition of the fair price, provided of course that the payoff function of the contingent claim in question defines properly the boundary condition at the maturity T. For reasoning behind this definition, see Section 3.5. The explicit formulas can be found in Sections 3.5.2, 4.4.3 and 5.5.3.

The present introductory course is completed at the option pricing formulas. Some material for further reading and some other relevant references can be found at the beginning of each of the forthcoming chapters. The next two chapters constitute Part I and are devoted to the binary models for finite securities markets. This part is self-contained and therefore can be read independently. The objective in Chapters 4 and 5, constituting Part II, is to shed some extra light to the circumstances under which the well-known Merton and Black-Scholes models emerge, with the help of direct, path by path derivations of the necessary Poisson and Gaussian approximations. We intend to provide in this manner an easy access to much higher technicalities of the specialized literature in the field of the limit theorems of the general theory of stochastic processes.

Part I

Finite Securities Markets

Chapter 2

Binary Models

2.1 Introduction

In this preparatory chapter basic notations are settled and the primary notions are introduced. Throughout Part I we will deal with sequences in time (therefore called often processes) presenting e.g. the price development of the securities or assets traded in a market under consideration. Since the whole time stretch of trading is always finite, all these sequences consist of fixed finite number of entries. This explains the common usage of the term *finite securities markets*, see e.g. Section 2 in the seminal paper [39] devoted to the finite theory and based on the preceding paper [38]. Cf also [68], [74]–[77] and the follow-up paper [18] (the results of the latter paper can be also found in Chapter 3 of the recent book [33], devoted to the fundamental theorem of asset pricing).

One of the assets is always chosen to serve as a common unit, on the bases of which prices of other assets or financial derivatives are expressed. Such an asset is called a *numeraire*. It is usually found handy to take as a numeraire asset the bank account that earns interest at a riskless interest rate. From Section 2.3.1 onwards the riskless asset is simply called the *bond*, and the risky asset the *stock*. The risky nature of the stock, described in Section 2.2.1, means that starting from a certain fixed value, the stock price process is allowed to evolve along one of a finite number of trajectories that will be, for convenience, portrayed by drawing a price tree with several branches of consecutive offshoots (like e.g. in (2.2.14)).

For simplicity we restrict ourselves to a market where only a stock and a bond are traded, unlike in the papers mentioned above in which several stocks are allowed. For this simplifies considerably the necessary algebra, which is otherwise quite complicated, while the essential ideas are still present. Moreover, this also dictates a risky nature of the stock, as a comprehensive theory turns out to require the equality of the number of assets traded to the number of nodes allowed in the stock price tree. This is exactly the reason why we do focus exclusively on *binary* models, the models in which the stock price tree always has precisely two notes. For any deviation from this model would violate the existence or uniqueness of the solution to the system of equations basical for constructions in the next chapter. It may be already seen in Section 2.2.2 where this system of backward recurrence equations is discussed, for at each stage of the backward solution one has to have a suitable number of unknowns.

Since the paper [13] many authors use for introductory purposes the simplest binary model, the so-called *binomial* model, to let the reader to get acquainted with the basic notions of the theory and to provide simple access to more complicated situation in continuous-time models. See e.g. [3], [4], [14], [19], [33], [44], [52], [53] and [62]. By similar reasons we also place emphasis on this particular example, especially in Part II when preparing circumstances for the Poisson and Gaussian approximations. Meanwhile, in this chapter the binomial model is presented as a simplest representative of a class of the so-called *moving averages* models, cf Section 2.3.2. These are fancy mathematical models serving only to demonstrate a wide range of the possibilities within the binary framework, but basically having a little to do with reality. Nevertheless, they seem to be of certain theoretical interest like their analogies from time series analysis and of some use for the model fitting purposes (goodness-of-fit or other statistical problems are beyond the scope of present lecture notes; the interested reader may consult e.g. the recent book [8]).

The present chapter is organized as follows. In Section 2.2.1 necessary facts are summarized concerning the risky sequences in general and binary sequences in particular. As is already indicated in the general introduction (cf the similar notice in [73], Chapter 15), the presentation in Part I does not make use of probabilistic considerations so that the pathwise approach pursued throughout needs considerable adjustments. In attempt to facilitate parallel reading of the specialized literature, we provide close probabilistic references, e.g. [65], Chapter I, for elementary constructions of the sample space, or Chapter VII, in particular Definition 7.1.5 on p 450, for martingale transforms. Regarding the latter transforms and their properties mentioned in the subsections on the summation by parts and stochastic exponentials, we also refer to more sophisticated textbooks [30], [45] and [63]. As was said above, Section 2.2.2 is devoted to solving the underlying system of backward recurrence equations. Besides, the special short subsection on random walks is inserted exclusively on purpose to indicate a proper place for few probabilistic terminology that transpires time to time. A general mathematical model for a securities market, called the *binary securities market*, is defined in Section 2.3. The latter section consists of two parts. In Section 2.3.1 primary notions of asset trading are defined, such as the bond, the stock, the discounted stock and their returns. Several illustrative examples of the binary market are gathered in Section 2.3.2.

2.2 Auxiliary notions and results

2.2.1 Sequences and their transforms

Sequences with finite state space. The prime mathematical object with which we will deal throughout this chapter is a sequence of *risky* variables, say X_0, X_1, \ldots This term is used in the theory of securities market to characterize the unpredictable behaviour in time of asset prices. What we mean under this is that each of the variables involved is allowed to occupy one of a certain finite number of states: the n^{th} variable X_n , say, may be in one of the J_n states. For convenience, these states will be denoted by the corresponding lower case symbols and enumerated from 1 to J_n . So, the set of states of X_n will be presented in the following form:

$$\{x_{1n},\ldots,x_{J_n n}\}.$$
 (2.2.1)

It is assumed that $J_0 = 1$ so that the state x_{10} at the origin is fixed. Starting from the origin x_{10} the sequence X_0, X_1, \ldots is thus allowed to develop along different trajectories. If X_n is in state $x_{j_n n}$ for a certain $j_n \in \{1, \ldots, J_n\}$ then we get the following transition scheme:

$$x_{10} \longrightarrow x_{j_1 1} \longrightarrow x_{j_2 2} \longrightarrow \cdots$$
(2.2.2)

Hereby a sampled trajectory may be imagined as consecutive displacements along the states that occur at consecutive time instants $t = t_1, t_2, \ldots$. In theory the physical nature of these states needs no specification, and the mentioned trajectories are merely schematical, presenting consecutive state transitions. In practice, however, each of these states get certain numerical values attached via outcomes of some measurements. It is not excluded of course that the admissible sample paths, plotted against the vertical space (of measurements) axis and horizontal time axis, do overlap as the same outcome may occur at several different states. Clearly, a distinction is necessary between the states and the numerical values they take on. But since it will be always clear from the context whether the states or their numerical values are meant, we prefer not to complicate notations and to use the same symbol $x_{j_n n}$ for the state and for its numerical value at the same time. This should cause no ambiguity.

Our attention will be focused on the simplest situation in the market in which only one risky asset is traded, and the process of its price development will underlie the risky behaviour of all other sequences we will come across.

Transforms. Let $X = \{X_n\}_{n=0,1,\dots}$ be a certain sequence as described in the previous subsection. Let us consider it as a basic sequence. Any other sequence $Y = \{Y_n\}_{n=0,1,\dots}$ is said to be of the same type as X, if the set $\{y_{1n},\dots,y_{J_n n}\}$ of the possible states for Y_n consists of the same number J_n of entries as in (2.2.1) and, moreover, the fact that X_n is in a particular state $x_{j_n n}$ means that Y_n is in state $y_{j_n n}$. To the sequence X the backward shift operator is applied to obtain the new sequence $X_- = \{X_{n-1}\}_{n=1,2,\dots}$ The difference operator in time Δ is then defined by $\Delta X = X - X_-$, i.e. $\Delta X = \{\Delta X_n\}_{n=1,2,\dots}$ with

$$\Delta X_n = X_n - X_{n-1}$$

for any positive integer n. Obviously, if our sequence is observed to develop along the particular trajectory described by the transition scheme (2.2.2), then for the associated sequence $\Delta X_1, \Delta X_2, \ldots$ we get the transition scheme

$$x_{j_1 1} - x_{10} \longrightarrow x_{j_2 2} - x_{j_1 1} \longrightarrow \cdots$$

For completeness, put $\Delta X_0 = 0$.

A sequences will be called *predictable* if it is of the same type as X_- . Clearly, if Y is of the same type as X, then Y_- is of the same type as X_- . Note that the product Y_-X is of the same type as X. If $\Phi = {\Phi_n}_{n=1,2,...}$ is a predictable sequence, then Φ_n may occupy one of J_{n-1} states, say

$$\{\phi_{1\,n-1},\ldots,\phi_{J_{n-1}\,n-1}\}$$

Moreover, the states of Φ_n are completely determined by the states of X_{n-1} , for Φ_n is in a particular state ϕ_{jn-1} if and only if X_{n-1} has been in state x_{jn-1} , for any $j \in \{1, \ldots, J_{n-1}\}$.

The transform of X by a certain predictable sequence Φ is defined by

$$Y_n = Y_0 + \sum_{\nu=1}^n \Phi_{\nu} \Delta X_{\nu}.$$
 (2.2.3)

The summation here is carried out path by path, along the trajectories of the sequence X. In case of the transition scheme (2.2.2), for instance, the set of possible states of Y_n is $\{y_{j_n n}\}_{j_n=1,\ldots,J_n}$ where

$$y_{j_n n} = y_{j_0 0} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \phi_{j_{\nu-1} \nu-1}(x_{j_{\nu} \nu} - x_{j_{\nu-1} \nu-1}).$$
(2.2.4)

for n = 1, 2, ... We thus obtain the new sequence Y of the same type as the basic sequence X. In stochastic calculus the following abbreviation is customary

$$Y_n \doteq Y_0 + \Phi \cdot X_n, \tag{2.2.5}$$

cf e.g. [65], Definition 7.1.5 on p 450. Later, in Chapters 4 and 5, we will make use of this notation for integral extensions to (2.2.3) as well. Having this in mind, we will make already in Section 3.2.2 of the present chapter use of the term *integral representation* for a representation of type (2.2.5).

Summation by parts. If Y is of the same type as X, then the notation (2.2.5) reads

$$Y_{-} \cdot X_{n} \doteq \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} Y_{\nu-1} \Delta X_{\nu}.$$
 (2.2.6)

The following notation

$$[X,Y]_n = \sum_{\nu=1}^n \Delta Y_\nu \Delta X_\nu \tag{2.2.7}$$

is also borrowed from stochastic calculus. In these notations, we have the so-called *summation by parts formula*:

$$X_n Y_n - X_0 Y_0 = Y_- \cdot X_n + X_- \cdot Y_n + [X, Y]_n.$$
(2.2.8)

Indeed, by simple algebra we get

$$\Delta(X_n Y_n) = Y_{n-1} \Delta X_n + X_n \Delta Y_n$$

= $Y_{n-1} \Delta X_n + X_{n-1} \Delta Y_n + \Delta X_n \Delta Y_n.$ (2.2.9)

By summing up both sides of this equation we get (2.2.8).

Exponentials. For a fixed sequence $X = {X_n}_{n=0,1,...}$ with $X_0 = 0$, consider the linear difference equations

$$\Delta Z_n = Z_{n-1} \Delta X_n, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots,$$
(2.2.10)

subject to the initial condition $Z_0 = 1$. These difference equations are equivalent to

$$Z_n = 1 + Z_- \cdot X_n, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
(2.2.11)

They have unique solutions given by

$$Z_n = \prod_{\nu=1}^n (1 + \Delta X_\nu) \doteq \mathcal{E}(X)_n, \quad n = 1, 2, \dots$$
 (2.2.12)

Assume $\Delta X_n > -1$ for all n = 1, 2, ... to get a positive solution. The symbol \mathcal{E} is borrowed from the theory of stochastic differential equations. It denotes the solution of (2.2.10) (or, equivalently, (2.2.11)) and is called the stochastic, or Doléans-Dade exponential; see for instance [30], [45] or [63]. Note the following property of the Doléans-Dade exponential

$$\mathcal{E}(X)_n \mathcal{E}(Y)_n = \mathcal{E}(X + Y + [X, Y])_n \tag{2.2.13}$$

(cf (2.2.7)) which can be verified directly or by using (2.2.9).

Difference operator in the state space. Throughout this lecture notes we deal exclusively with the so-called binary sequences. It is said that a sequence $X = \{X_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots}$ is *binary*, if the set (2.2.1) of states of X_n consists of $J_n = 2^n$ entries and the transition scheme is portrayed by the n^{th} transition

$$x_{j\,n-1} \left\langle \begin{array}{c} x_{2j\,n} \\ x_{2j-1\,n}. \end{array} \right. \tag{2.2.14}$$

The first two instances, for example, are

.

$$x_{10} \left\langle \begin{array}{c} x_{21} \\ x_{21} \\ x_{32} \\ x_{11} \\ x_{22} \\ x_{12} \end{array} \right\rangle$$
(2.2.15)

Along with the difference operator in time Δ , in this particular case we can also define the difference operator in the state space, say D. To this end, a predictable sequence $DX = \{DX_n\}_{n=1,2,...}$, i.e. a sequence of the same type as X_- , is completely defined by the following statement: for each $j \in$ $\{1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}\}$ the claim that

$$X_{n-1} \text{ is in state } x_{j\,n-1} \tag{2.2.16}$$

is equivalent to the claim that

$$DX_n$$
 is in state $D_j(X_n) \doteq x_{2j\,n} - x_{2j-1\,n}$. (2.2.17)

The sequence DX is called predictable by the obvious reason that the observation at instant t_{n-1} of a certain state of X_{n-1} allows for exact forecasting the state at the forthcoming instant t_n of DX_n . It is easily verified that if Ψ and Φ are certain predictable sequences, then

$$D(\Psi + \Phi X) = \Psi + \Phi DX. \tag{2.2.18}$$

The operator D is iterated as follows. For n = 2, 3, ..., look at the two step transition scheme:

$$x_{j\,n-2} \left\langle egin{array}{c} x_{2j\,n-1} \ x_{2j\,n-1} \ x_{2j-1\,n-1} \ x_{4j-2\,n} \ x_{4j-3\,n} \end{array}
ight
angle$$

The sequence $D^2 X = \{D^2 X_n\}_{n=2,3,...}$ is completely defined by the following statement: for n = 2, 3, ... and $j \in \{1, ..., 2^{n-2}\}$ the claim that

 X_{n-2} is in state x_{jn-2}

is equivalent to the claim that

$$D^{2}X_{n} \text{ is in state } D_{j}^{2}(X_{n}) \stackrel{.}{=} D_{2j}(X_{n}) - D_{2j-1}(X_{n})$$
$$= x_{4jn} - x_{4j-1n} - x_{4j-2n} + x_{4j-3n}.$$

Note that for the same sequence $Z = \Psi + \Phi X$ as in (2.2.18) we have

$$D_{j}^{2}(Z_{n}) \doteq D_{2j}(Z_{n}) - D_{2j-1}(Z_{n}) = \phi_{2j n-1} D_{2j}(X_{n}) - \phi_{2j-1 n-1} D_{2j-1}(X_{n}).$$
(2.2.19)

2.2.2 Backward recurrence equations

Elementary solutions. Throughout this lecture notes we make use of the following notations. For any number x we denote by $\lceil x \rceil$ the smallest integer exceeding x and by $\lfloor x \rfloor$ the largest integer not exceeding x, which is usually called the *integer part* of x. Obviously

$$\lceil x \rceil - \lfloor x \rfloor = 1.$$

14

With any positive integer k we associate its n^{th} dyadic fraction k_n defined by

$$k_n \doteq \lceil k/2^n \rceil, \tag{2.2.20}$$

i.e. $k_0 = k$, $k_1 = \lceil k/2 \rceil$, $k_2 = \lceil k/4 \rceil$ and so forth. Obviously, this sequence, starting from k, gradually descends to 1: schematically

$$k \searrow k_1 \searrow k_2 \searrow \cdots \searrow 1.$$
 (2.2.21)

With these notations at hand, we are now going to describe the solution to the following boundary problem that plays an important rôle in the considerations of the present chapter. Suppose that for each n = 1, ..., N the set of 2^n coefficients is given $\{p_{1n}, \ldots, p_{2^n n}\}$. For each such n, consider the system of 2^{n-1} equations

$$x_{1 n-1} = p_{1n} x_{1n} + p_{2n} x_{2n}$$

$$x_{2 n-1} = p_{3n} x_{3n} + p_{4n} x_{4n}$$

...

$$x_{2^{n-1} n-1} = p_{2^n-1 n} x_{2^n-1 n} + p_{2^n n} x_{2^n n}.$$
(2.2.22)

To solve this system of recurrence equations we need to fix a boundary condition at the terminal date $t_N = T$ by assigning a certain value to each component of the set $\{x_{1N}, \ldots, x_{2^N N}\}$. We get the simplest case with the following boundary conditions: for a certain fixed index $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^N\}$

$$x_{jN} = \delta_{jk} \doteq \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } j = k \\ 0 & \text{if } j \neq k \end{cases}.$$
(2.2.23)

The symbol δ_{jk} used here is known as *Kronecker's delta*. The system of equations (2.2.22) can now be solved for n = N. The solution for the preceding set $\{x_{1 N-1}, \ldots, x_{2^{N-1} N-1}\}$ is given by

$$x_{j\,N-1} = \delta_{jk_1} p_{kN} \tag{2.2.24}$$

with the same Kronecker symbol as above.

Having (2.2.24) at hand, we may proceed by solving (2.2.22) for n = N-1. The set $\{x_{1N-2}, \ldots, x_{2^{N-2}N-2}\}$ is thus evaluated by

$$x_{jN-2} = \delta_{jk_2} p_{k_1 N-1} p_{kN}. \tag{2.2.25}$$

Moving backwards in this way we obtain all the solutions step by step. After n < N steps e.g., we arrive at the set $\{x_{1 N-n}, \ldots, x_{2^{N-n} N-n}\}$ with

$$x_{jN-n} = \delta_{jk_n} \prod_{0 \le \nu < n} p_{k_\nu N-\nu}.$$
 (2.2.26)

The final N^{th} step brings us to

$$x_{10} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < N} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}.$$
(2.2.27)

Use for convenience the notations

$$P_{kN}^{n} \doteq \prod_{0 \le \nu < n} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}$$
(2.2.28)

for n = 1, ..., N (obviously $P_{kN}^1 = p_{kN}$) and, in particular,

$$P_{kN} \doteq P_{kN}^{N} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < N} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}.$$
(2.2.29)

Then the result may be summarized in the following assertion.

Proposition 2.2.1. The unique solution of the system of backward recurrence equations (2.2.22) subject to the boundary conditions (2.2.23) is described by using the notations (2.2.28) and (2.2.29) as follows: for $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$

$$x_{j\,N-n} = \delta_{jk_n} P_{kN}^n. \tag{2.2.30}$$

In particular

$$x_{10} = P_{kN}. (2.2.31)$$

Random walk. The results of the previous subsection may be applied to a physical model for displacements of a particle from state to state, imparted to it by a certain external force at some instants of time. We use this example to illustrate a few basic ideas and terms from probability theory, necessary for understanding the impact of this theory upon options pricing methodology.

The initial state of the particle is supposed to be fixed to x_{10} , say. Suppose that it remains in this state during some period of time and then switches to one of the alternative states, either to x_{11} or to x_{21} . This process develops as follows: if within a certain period, say the $n-1^{th}$ one, n is a positive integer, the particle stays in state x_{kn-1} with some $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}\}$, then at the end it switches either to x_{2k-1n} or to x_{2kn} . Moreover, suppose that the external force is focused so that in the $p_{2k-1n}100\%$ of cases the transition $x_{kn-1} \searrow x_{2k-1n}$ occurs and in the remaining $p_{2kn}100\%$ of cases the transition $x_{kn-1} \nearrow x_{2k-1n}$

$$p_{2k-1\,n} + p_{2k\,n} = 1. \tag{2.2.32}$$

These numbers are called the *transition probabilities*. They are also interpreted as the *conditional probabilities* of corresponding events, under the condition that the particle departs from state x_{kn-1} .

In terms of Section 2.2.1, we deal with the binary sequence X_0, X_1, \ldots with X_n whose admissible states are (2.2.1) where $J_n = 2^n$, and the transition scheme is portrayed by (2.2.14). In case of 2 periods, for instance, we have (2.2.15) and

16

2.2. AUXILIARY NOTIONS AND RESULTS

with the corresponding transition probabilities which sum up to 1:

$$p_{21}p_{42} + p_{21}p_{32} + p_{11}p_{22} + p_{11}p_{12} = 1 (2.2.33)$$

by (2.2.32).

These notions easily extend to the general case of N periods: $P_{kN}^1 = p_{kN}$ is the probability of the transition $x_{k_1 N-1} \longrightarrow x_{kN}$, as we have already observed, $P_{kN}^2 = p_{k_1 N-1} p_{kN}$ the probability of the transition $x_{k_2 N-2} \longrightarrow x_{kN}$ and so forth. Generally, P_{kN}^n given by (2.2.28) is the probability of the transition $x_{k_n N-n} \longrightarrow x_{kN}$. Using (2.2.32) repeatedly, we obtain the following extension to (2.2.33):

$$\sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P_{kN}^n = 1 \quad \text{for} \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^{N-n}.$$
(2.2.34)

The extreme case n = N is special because each trajectory starts from a fixed point x_{10} , hence no conditioning is needed and P_{kN} for an integer $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^N\}$, given by (2.2.28), is now the (unconditional) probability that after N periods the particle will occupy the state x_{kN} . Clearly

$$\sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} = 1. (2.2.35)$$

The evolution of the particle just described is usually referred to as a random walk and the whole collection $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ as its probability distribution.

General solutions. In addition to the coefficients $\{p_{1n}, \ldots, p_{2^n n}\}$, let the set of 2^N numbers $\{c_1, \ldots, c_{2^N}\}$ be given. Consider the system of backward equations (2.2.22) subject to the boundary conditions

$$x_{jN} = c_j \quad \text{for} \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N.$$
 (2.2.36)

Obviously, these conditions reduce to (2.2.23) in the special case of $c_j = \delta_{jk}$.

Observe that the solution to the present boundary problem has the following additivity property. Let two different solutions to the system (2.2.22) be known which correspond to two different boundary conditions, say (2.2.36) with c'_j in the first case and c''_j in the second case. If these solution are x'_{jN-n} and x''_{jN-n} , respectively, then the solution to (2.2.22) subject to new boundary conditions with $c_j = c'_j + c''_j$ is composed by $x_{jN-n} = x'_{jN-n} + x''_{jN-n}$.

Due to this observation, we can easily deduce from Proposition 2.2.1 the solution also to the present general case (2.2.36), for these boundary conditions may be rewritten in the form

$$x_{jN} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} c_k \delta_{jk}$$
 for $j = 1, \dots, 2^N$.

Then the problem can be solved for each summand separately. This yields the following result.

Proposition 2.2.2. The system of recurrence equations (2.2.22) subject to the boundary conditions (2.2.36) has a unique solution: for $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$

$$x_{jN-n} = \sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} c_k P_{kN}^n \quad \text{for} \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^{N-n}.$$
(2.2.37)

In particular

$$x_{10} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} c_k P_{kN}.$$
(2.2.38)

 $\it Proof.$ Due to the additivity property observed above, it follows from Proposition 2.2.1 that

$$x_{jN-n} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} \delta_{jk_n} c_k P_{kN}^n.$$
(2.2.39)

Thus, it remains only to verify that Kronecker's δ_{jk_n} equals to 1 when $j-1 < k/2^n \leq j$, otherwise it equals to 0. The solution (2.2.37) is obtained. To get (2.2.38) substitute n = N in (2.2.37).

18

2.3 A binary model

2.3.1 A market with two securities: a bond and a stock

Securities market. Consider a securities market in which two assets (or securities) are traded at successive time periods marked by $0 = t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_N = T$. The instant $t_0 = 0$ is interpreted as the current date and $t_N = T < \infty$ as a terminal date which is considered to be fixed. It is usually said in this case that the time horizon T is finite and the trading takes place over N periods. The instants t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N are called trading times, since these are the dates at which new prices are announced in the market.

Bond. One of these assets, the *bond*, has price B_n over the period $[t_n, t_{n+1})$ for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N-1$ and B_N is the price announced at the terminal date $t_N = T$. Fix for simplicity $B_0 = 1$. These prices $\{B_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ are usually related to interest rates over the corresponding periods as follows: for $n = 1, \ldots, N$

$$B_n = r_n B_{n-1} (2.3.1)$$

and

$$B_n = r_1 \cdots r_n \tag{2.3.2}$$

where $r_n \geq 1$ is one plus the interest rate in the interval $[t_{n-1}, t_n)$. Since here the interest rates are predetermined, we call the bond the riskless asset. The quantity r_n itself is sometimes called the *gross return* on the bond at the trading time t_n , in contrast with $r_n - 1$ which is called the *net return* (cf e.g. [8], p 9).

Parallel to the bond price process $\{B_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$, it is found often useful to work with the so-called *return process* (or *cumulative return process*) on the bond $\{\mathcal{R}_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$, starting from the origin $\mathcal{R}_0 = 0$, that is defined for each $n \in \{1,\ldots,N\}$ as the accumulation of all net returns up to the trading time t_n , i.e.

$$\mathcal{R}_n = \sum_{\nu=1}^n (r_\nu - 1), \tag{2.3.3}$$

With the notations of section 2.2.1 we have

$$\Delta \mathcal{R}_n = \frac{\Delta B_n}{B_{n-1}} = r_n - 1, \qquad (2.3.4)$$

since $B_n/B_{n-1} = r_n$ by (2.3.1). Hence, the return process is expressed in terms of the bond prices

$$\mathcal{R}_n = \sum_{\nu=1}^n \frac{\Delta B_\nu}{B_{\nu-1}}$$

and the bond price process in terms of the returns

$$B_n = \prod_{\nu=1}^n (1 + \Delta \mathcal{R}_\nu).$$

Compare the later equation with (2.2.12) to see that the bond price process is the unique solution of the linear difference equations (2.2.11) with X substituted by \mathcal{R} . In terms of Section 2.3.1, the bond price process is described as the Doléans-Dade exponential of the cumulative return process, i.e. for $n = 1, \ldots, N$

$$B_n = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{R})_n. \tag{2.3.5}$$

Stock. Unlike the bond, the second asset, the *stock*, is risky in the sense that its price, denoted by S_n at time t_n , is allowed to evolve in time along more then one trajectory. The set of all admissible trajectories is described as follows. Currently (at $t_0 = 0$) the stock price S_0 is fixed in state s_{10} , say. At the next trading time t_1 a new price is announced and S_1 will occupy either state s_{11} or s_{21} . Schematically, the transition from the state s_{10} of S_0 to two alternative states s_{21} or s_{11} of S_1 can be portrayed as follows:

$$s_{10} \left\langle \begin{array}{c} s_{21} \\ s_{11}. \end{array} \right.$$
 (2.3.6)

Generally, if the stock price at the trading time t_{n-1} is in state s_{jn-1} (i.e. S_{n-1} is in state s_{jn-1}), then at the next trading time t_n it will be announced either in state s_{2jn} or s_{2j-1n} . In other words, s_{2jn} and s_{2j-1n} are two alternative states of S_n , provided S_{n-1} has been in state s_{jn-1} . Schematically,

$$s_{j\,n-1} \begin{pmatrix} s_{2j\,n} \\ s_{2j-1\,n} \end{pmatrix}$$
 (2.3.7)

This is completely similar to the model for a particle evolution of Section 2.2.2, called the random walk. In the latter case the transition scheme has been (2.2.14), alike (2.3.7). Similarly to (2.2.15), the 2 period model, for instance, is portrayed as follows:

$$s_{10} \begin{pmatrix} s_{21} & s_{42} \\ s_{32} & s_{32} \\ s_{11} & s_{22} \\ s_{12} & s_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3.8)

We want to emphasize at this point that unlike the previous case of random walk we need no mentioning of chances of particular transitions, for this is completely superfluous within the theory to be developed.

The transition scheme (2.3.7) describes a so-called *binary* market in which the stock price is allowed to evolve along one of 2^N different trajectories: at the terminal date $t_N = T$ the stock price S_N occupies one of the states $\{s_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$. For convenience we assign to the trajectories the same index

20

as to the states of S_N . This means that the following two statements are equivalent:

"the stock price evolves along the k^{th} trajectory of states"

 and

"at the terminal date $t_N = T$ the stock price S_N is in state s_{kN} ".

The stock price development along a particular trajectory is described by using the notations introduced at the beginning of Section 2.2.2. Denoting by $\lceil x \rceil$ the smallest integer exceeding x, we have defined by $k_n = \lceil k/2^n \rceil$ the n^{th} dyadic fraction of a positive integer k, cf (2.2.20). This relationship was portrayed by the scheme (2.2.21). Along the k^{th} trajectory, for any $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^N\}$, the stock price is in the states $\{s_{k_{N-n}n}\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$. In other words, at the trading time t_n the variable S_n is in state $s_{k_{N-n}n}$.

The returns are encountered in the present case too. At the trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, the gross return on the stock is defined by

$$Z_n \doteq \frac{S_n}{S_{n-1}}.\tag{2.3.9}$$

With this notation

$$S_n = S_0 Z_1 \cdots Z_n. (2.3.10)$$

In terms of Section 2.2.1, this is the Doléans-Dade exponential

$$S_n = S_0 \mathcal{E}(R)_n \tag{2.3.11}$$

where

$$R_n \doteq \sum_{\nu=1}^n (Z_\nu - 1). \tag{2.3.12}$$

So, the cumulative return process $\{R_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ on the stock is defined, that starts from the origin $R_0 = 0$. It follows from (2.3.12) that the net return on the stock at the trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ is

$$\Delta R_n = Z_n - 1. \tag{2.3.13}$$

By (2.3.9) and (2.3.13) $\Delta R_n = \Delta S_n / S_{n-1}$.

Let us denote by $\{z_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ and $\{r_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ the states of the gross return Z_n and the net return ΔR_n , respectively, which are defined as follows: if the stock price S_n is in state s_{kn} , then

$$r_{kn} = z_{kn} - 1$$
 and $z_{kn} = \frac{s_{kn}}{s_{k_1 n - 1}}$ (2.3.14)

where $k_1 = \lceil k/2 \rceil$ as usual, cf (2.2.20). As the cumulative return R_n is the sum of all net returns up to the trading time t_n , the corresponding state of R_n is obtained by summing up these returns along the path (2.2.21). This results in $\sum_{\nu=1}^{n} r_{k_{n-\nu}\nu}$.

Thus we have described in terms of consecutive states the whole range of possibilities for the stock price development. Surely, the prices are announced in currency amounts and thus all admissible states s_{kn} take on the corresponding numerical values. The expressions like (2.3.14) get then a proper meaning upon substituting these numerical values and carrying out necessary operations. As was already emphasized in the first subsection of the introductory Section 2.2.1, this convention will always kept in mind, besides it will be always assumed that $s_{10} = s > 0$ and that $s_{2kn} > s_{2k-1n} > 0$. Clearly, there is no reason to think of different prices at different states, so that if we draw all possible price graphs, they may overlap. We will see this in Section 2.3.2 where special models are discussed.

Discounting. It is usually desirable to take into account the development of the stock prices relative to the bond prices. This is achieved by making the latter prices the *numeraire* that defines the *discounted* stock prices $\{\hat{S}_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ with $\hat{S}_n = S_n/B_n$. To this new process the net returns are related in the precisely same manner as before: $\hat{K}_0 = 0$ and

$$\Delta \dot{R}_n = \frac{\Delta \dot{S}_n}{\dot{S}_{n-1}}$$

for n = 1, ..., N. We thus have the usual relationship between the discounted stock price process $\{\hat{S}_n\}_{n=0,1,...,N}$ and the cumulative return process $\{\hat{R}_n\}_{n=0,1,...,N}$: for n = 1, ..., N

$$\dot{S}_n = S_0 \dot{Z}_1 \cdots \dot{Z}_n = S_0 \mathcal{E}(\dot{R})_n$$

(cf (2.3.11) and (2.3.10)) with the discounted gross returns

$$\dot{Z}_n = 1 + \Delta \dot{R}_n = \frac{\dot{S}_n}{\dot{S}_{n-1}}.$$

The states of the discounted variables are defined by the considerations parallel to the previous subsection. In particular, if at the trading time t_n with $n = 1, \ldots, N$, the stock price S_n is in state s_{kn} for some $k = 1, \ldots, 2^n$, then the discounted gross return on the stock Z_n is in state

$$\dot{z}_{kn} \doteq \frac{\dot{s}_{kn}}{\dot{s}_{k_1\,n-1}} = \frac{z_{kn}}{r_n}.$$
 (2.3.15)

Note finally that for each $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$ the net returns $\Delta \mathcal{R}_n$, $\Delta \mathcal{R}_n$ and $\Delta \dot{\mathcal{R}}_n$ are related as follows:

$$\Delta \dot{R}_n = \frac{\Delta (R - \mathcal{R})_n}{1 + \Delta \mathcal{R}_n} = \frac{\Delta (R - \mathcal{R})_n}{r_n}.$$
(2.3.16)

The difference $\Delta(R - \mathcal{R})_n = \Delta R_n - \Delta \mathcal{R}_n$ is called the *excess return*, like in [8], p 12. The relationship (2.3.16) is equivalent to

$$\Delta R_n = \Delta \mathcal{R}_n + \Delta \dot{R}_n + \Delta \mathcal{R}_n \Delta \dot{R}_n.$$

22

2.3. A BINARY MODEL

This can also be confirmed by using (2.2.13) as follows:

$$\mathcal{E}(R)_n = \frac{S_n}{S_0} = B_n \frac{\dot{S}_n}{S_0} = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{R})_n \mathcal{E}(\dot{R})_n = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{R} + \dot{R} + [\mathcal{R}, \dot{R}])_n.$$

2.3.2 Binomial model and moving averages

Up to now we have made frequent use of the difference operator in time Δ , introduced in the second subsection of Section 2.2.1. Beginning from the present section we are going to make use also of the difference operator in the state space D. According to the definitions in the last subsection of Section 2.2.1, the latter operator is applied to the stock price process and to the corresponding gross returns as follows.

Fix the trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$. Let $j \in \{1, ..., 2^{n-1}\}$. The claim that

 S_{n-1} is in state s_{jn-1}

is then equivalent to the claim that

 DS_n is in state $D_j(S_n) \doteq s_{2jn} - s_{2j-1n}$

or, in virtue of (2.2.18), that

 DZ_n is in state $D_j(Z_n) \doteq D_j(S_n)/s_{j\,n-1}$.

We can thus write $DZ = DS/S_{-}$. The operator D is iterated as follows. Fix the trading time t_n with $n \in \{2, ..., N\}$ and let $j \in \{1, ..., 2^{n-2}\}$. The claim

 S_{n-2} is in state s_{jn-2}

is equivalent to the claim that

$$D^{2}S_{n} \text{ is in state } D_{k}^{2}(S_{n}) \stackrel{.}{=} D_{2j}(S_{n}) - D_{2j-1}(S_{n})$$
$$= s_{4jn} - s_{4j-1n} - s_{4j-2n} + s_{4j-3n}$$

or, in virtue of (2.2.19), that

$$D^2 Z_n$$
 is in state $D_j^2(Z_n) \doteq D_{2j}(Z_n) - D_{2j-1}(Z_n)$
= $\frac{D_{2j}(S_n)}{s_{2j n-1}} - \frac{D_{2j-1}(S_n)}{s_{2j-1 n-1}}.$

These notions are particularly simple in the case of the so-called *binomial model* to be described next.

Binomial model. We begin with simplest case of the binomial model that occurs most often in literature. This model will serve us in Part II as a starting point for transition to more complicated models in continuous time.

Example 2.3.1. HOMOGENEOUS CASE. In this model the prices on the bond and stock are assumed to develop homogeneously in time, as the returns on both assets are free of the time index. Hence, the interest rate remains constant and the gross returns in the bond pricing formula (2.3.2) are equal $r = r_1 = \cdots = r_N$ where $r \ge 1$, so that the bond prices grow exponentially $B_n = r^n$ as n runs through $\{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$. Accordingly, the rate of net returns on the bond at any trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ amounts to

$$\Delta \mathcal{R}_n = \frac{\Delta B_n}{B_{n-1}} = r - 1 \ge 0,$$

cf (2.3.4). Note that the extreme case r = 1, when the bond prices do not vary, may be interpreted as if the stock prices in the market were discounted before their announcement.

The rate of net and gross returns on the stock defined at the trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ by $\Delta R_n = \Delta S_n / S_{n-1}$ and $Z_n = S_n / S_{n-1}$, respectively, remains homogeneous in time as well. For, independently of n the gross return Z_n jumps either up or down, always with the same step sizes u and d, respectively, where u > d > 0 (the equalities are excluded to retain the risky nature of the stock price process). In other words, all the even states z_{2kn} takes on the value u and all the odd states z_{2k-1n} the value d, i.e.

$$z_{2kn} = \frac{s_{2kn}}{s_{kn-1}} = u$$
 and $z_{2k-1n} = \frac{s_{2k-1n}}{s_{kn-1}} = d$ (2.3.17)

whatever n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$. Thus, if the stock price at the trading time t_{n-1} is S_{n-1} , then at the end of the following period it will be either $S_{n-1}u$ or $S_{n-1}d$. So, at the trading time t_n there occurs either $S_n = S_{n-1}u$ or $S_{n-1}d$. Schematically,

$$S_{n-1} \begin{pmatrix} S_{n-1}u\\ S_{n-1}d, \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3.18)

cf (2.3.7). For instance, in the 2 period model we have $s_{42} = su^2$, $s_{32} = s_{22} = sud$ and $s_{12} = sd^2$, hence the following transitions take place:

$$s \Big<^{su} \Big<^{su^2}_{sud}_{sd} \Big<_{sd,}$$

cf (2.3.8). This is the example mentioned already above in which not all states differ in value. To extend this to the general N period model with 2^N states of S_N , for each $n \in \{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$ select those trajectories which evolve with exactly n upward and N-n downward displacements. In other words, partition the set of all possible terminal states $\{s_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ into N+1 disjoint subsets, say $\Pi_0, \Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_N$, so that if a state belongs to Π_n , then the corresponding trajectory evolves with exactly n upward and N-n downward displacements. As we know from combinatorics, the number of all such trajectories equals to

2.3. A BINARY MODEL

 $\binom{N}{n}$. By the binomial formula we have $\sum_{n=0}^{N} \binom{N}{n} = 2^{N}$. If now the stock price S_{N} occupies one of $\binom{N}{n}$ states from the subset Π_{n} , then it is announced to be equal $su^{n}d^{N-n}$. Thus, not all 2^{N} different states at the terminal date yield different stock prices and the number of the possibilities is limited to N + 1.

There is no need so far to confine our consideration only to the homogeneous case, at least until Example 3.3.5 where the homogeneity hypotheses will bring significant simplification in the basic formulas. Therefore consider the following extension to the previous example.

Example 2.3.2. NONHOMOGENEOUS CASE. Let the rate of returns on the bond be not necessarily homogeneous, and replace (2.3.17) with

$$z_{2kn} = \frac{s_{2kn}}{s_{kn-1}} = u_n \text{ and } z_{2k-1n} = \frac{s_{2k-1n}}{s_{kn-1}} = d_n$$
 (2.3.19)

for n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$. Thus the dependence on time is introduced, but the homogeneity in space is still retained. Therefore, the difference operator in the space D yields elementary results summarized in Proposition 2.3.3 below. Since the transition scheme (2.3.18) extends to

$$S_{n-1} \begin{pmatrix} S_{n-1}u_n \\ S_{n-1}d_n, \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.3.20)

we simply have $DS_n = (u_n - d_n)S_{n-1}$ and the following statement holds true:

Proposition 2.3.3. Let the underlying model be binomial. Then at each trading time t_n with n = 1, ..., N the gross return Z_n on the stock possesses the following properties:

(i) the variable DZ_n is constant in the state space: all its 2^{n-1} states take on the same numerical value $u_n - d_n$, i.e.

$$DZ_n = u_n - d_n \tag{2.3.21}$$

whatever the states $\{s_{k\,n-1}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ of the variable S_{n-1} . (ii) Moreover, at each trading time t_n with $n = 2, \ldots, N$ the variable $D^2 Z_n$ is constant in the state space: all its 2^{n-2} states vanish, i.e.

$$D^2 Z_n = 0 (2.3.22)$$

whatever the states $\{s_{kn-2}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-2}}$ of the variable S_{n-2} .

Adapted models. We are going to describe certain transformations of the binomial model that retain the properties of its returns asserted in Proposition 2.3.3. To this end, we shall introduce special notations for the gross returns in the binomial model. Let ϵ_n be an elementary variable which may occupy one of the following states $\{e_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ with

$$e_{kn} = \left\{ egin{array}{cc} u_n & ext{if } k ext{ is even} \ d_n & ext{if } k ext{ is odd} \end{array}
ight.$$

where u_n and d_n are given numbers so that $u_n > d_n > 0$. In view of (2.3.19), the sequence $\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_N$ constitutes the sequence of gross returns in the binomial model. A new sequence $\{Z_n\}_{n=1,\ldots,N}$ of gross returns is obtained by the following transformation. Set $Z_1 = \epsilon_1$ and for $n = 2, \ldots, N$

$$Z_n = \epsilon_n + f_n(\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_{n-1}), \qquad (2.3.23)$$

with certain functions f_n of n-1 arguments. By our conventions this means that for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ the states $\{z_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of Z_n and the states $\{e_{k\nu}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of ϵ_{ν} for $\nu = 1, \ldots, n$ are related as follows:

$$z_{kn} = e_{kn} + f_n(e_{k_{n-1}}, \dots, e_{k_1}, n-1).$$
(2.3.24)

Once again the notations (2.2.20) and (2.2.21) are used. Clearly, this model is portrayed by the following transition scheme: for n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$

$$s_{k\,n-1} \begin{pmatrix} s_{k\,n-1} & z_{2k\,n} \\ s_{k\,n-1} & z_{2k-1\,n} \end{pmatrix}$$

where

$$z_{2kn} = u_n + f_n(e_{k_{n-1}1}, \dots, e_{k_1n-1})$$

$$z_{2k-1n} = d_n + f_n(e_{k_{n-1}1}, \dots, e_{k_1n-1})$$
(2.3.25)

according to (2.3.24). It is easily verified that the result of Proposition 2.3.3 extends to the present case. We have

Proposition 2.3.4. Let a binary model be adapted to the binomial model according to the relationship (2.3.23) between the corresponding returns. Then the resulting sequence of gross returns retains the properties (2.3.21) and (2.3.22).

Moving averages. If the basic variables $\epsilon_1, \ldots, \epsilon_N$ are interpreted as innovations at the corresponding trading times, then the representation (2.3.23) gets the following meaning. At the trading time t_n the gross return Z_n consists of the innovation term ϵ_n plus a certain function of the past. In this manner we get a large variety of binomial models with the desired properties, as the functions of the past can vary unrestrictedly. We only intend, however, to focus in the sequel on a special case of linear functions f_n . It will be supposed, in particular, that

$$f_n(x_1,\ldots,x_{n-1}) = \alpha_1 x_{n-1} + \cdots + \alpha_{n-1} x_1$$

with some real parameters $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_{N-1}$, i.e. $Z_1 = \epsilon_1$ and for $n = 2, \ldots, N$

$$Z_n = \epsilon_n + \alpha_1 \epsilon_{n-1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-1} \epsilon_1. \tag{2.3.26}$$

Note that the expression (2.3.25) for states of the gross return Z_n reduces in the present special case to

$$z_{2kn} = u_n + \alpha_1 e_{k_1 n-1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-1} e_{k_{n-1} 1}$$

$$z_{2k-1n} = d_n + \alpha_1 e_{k_1 n-1} + \dots + \alpha_{n-1} e_{k_{n-1} 1}.$$
(2.3.27)

2.3. A BINARY MODEL

In time series analysis such models are called *moving averages*. Consider the following special examples.

Example 2.3.5. 1st ORDER MOVING AVERAGES MODEL. In (2.3.26) assume the dependence only on the nearest past and put $\alpha_1 = \alpha$ and $\alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_{n-1} = 0$. Fix again the current stock price $S_0 = s$ and at the first trading time t_1 assume the transition (2.3.6) with $s_{21} = su_1$ and $s_{11} = sd_1$ (like in the nonhomogeneous binomial model). Moreover, for $n = 2, \ldots, N$ assume

$$s_{k\,n-1} \begin{pmatrix} s_{k\,n-1}(\alpha u_{n-1} + u_n) \\ s_{k\,n-1}(\alpha u_{n-1} + d_n) & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \end{cases}$$

and

$$s_{k\,n-1} \Big\langle \frac{s_{k\,n-1}(\alpha d_{n-1} + u_n)}{s_{k\,n-1}(\alpha d_{n-1} + d_n)}$$
 if k is odd.

As in the binomial case (see Example 2.3.2), it is useful to describe the present 1^{st} order moving averages model via its gross returns, since the variables $Z_n = S_n/S_{n-1}$ are quite simple: $Z_1 = \epsilon_1$ and

$$Z_n = \alpha \epsilon_{n-1} + \epsilon_n \tag{2.3.28}$$

for n = 2, 3, ..., N, according to (2.3.26). This means that depending on the state of the stock price S_n at the trading time t_n , the gross return Z_n takes on only one of 4 numeric values:

$$\begin{array}{l} \alpha u_{n-1} + u_n \text{ if } S_n \quad \text{is in state} \quad s_{4j+4n} \\ \alpha u_{n-1} + d_n \text{ if } S_n \quad \text{is in state} \quad s_{4j+3n} \\ \alpha d_{n-1} + u_n \text{ if } S_n \quad \text{is in state} \quad s_{4j+2n} \\ \alpha d_{n-1} + d_n \text{ if } S_n \quad \text{is in state} \quad s_{4j+1n} \end{array}$$

for all $j = 0, 1, \ldots, 2^{n-2} - 1$. Note the properties (2.3.21) and (2.3.22) for the present model.

Example 2.3.6. 1st ORDER AUTOREGRESSIVE MODEL. Consider another special case of the model (2.3.26) with $\alpha_k = \alpha^k$ for some parameter α . This model is called autoregressive because the sequence of gross returns $\{Z_n\}_{n=1,\ldots,N}$ satisfies the following difference equations: $Z_1 = \epsilon_1$ and for $n = 2, 3, \ldots, N$

$$Z_n = \alpha Z_{n-1} + \epsilon_n. \tag{2.3.29}$$

CHAPTER 2. BINARY MODELS

:
Chapter 3

Hedging and Options Valuation

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter all notions regarding trading in a market are discussed and properly formalized. The primary notions are an investor's *portfolio* and its market value at each instant $t \in [0, T]$. The entire process of selecting portfolio is called the investor's *trading strategy*. With each trading strategy we associate a so-called *value process* that represents the development in time of the market value of the investor's holding.

The first mathematical result is obtained by an elementary algebra, see Proposition 3.2.1. It takes advantage of the difference operator in space D introduced in Section 2.2.1 and tells us that the stock component of the portfolio is a special predictable process representable in the form of the ratio (3.2.9). This gives rise to the so-called Clark's formula in Section 3.2.2, the integral representation (3.2.22) of the value process for self-financing trading strategies. Recall the definition of the self-financing property. It is said that the investor's strategy is self-financing if at the current date t = 0 he buys some shares of the bond and stock and afterwards readjusts his portfolio using exclusively capital gains from the trading, without infusion or withdrawal of funds. This is easily formalized in the present setting of the discrete time, see Definition 3.2.2, as the increments in time of price processes have clear meaning. In the continuous time models, however, a little bit more precaution is needed. Though standard arguments like in [35], [39], [47] – [49] etc. extend straightforwardly the considerations of Section 3.2.1, as is seen in Part II.

The states of the discounted stock price process can always be arranged into the sequence of recurrence identities of the same form as we have had in Section 2.2.2, cf (2.2.22). This is just a matter of suitable notations for the coefficients p_{kn} , cf (3.3.1) – (3.3.4). In terms of the general theory of stochastic processes, this is called the martingale property of the discounted stock price process with respect to a special probability distribution generated by the transition probabilities p_{kn} (cf Section 2.2.2, the second subsection on random walks where these probabilistic terms are introduced). Due to this connection, it became customary to attribute to p_{kn} the term *risk neutral probabilities*. We also make use of this term, but with certain reservation because up to the present point nothing restricts these numbers to be negative. It will be seen in Section 3.6 closing this chapter that some additional conditions has to be required from the asset price processes to enforce strictly positive p's. It is quite remarkable that this requirement has clear economical meaning as it excludes arbitrage opportunities that are special self-financing trading strategies of making profit without any investment. Therefore since [38] and [39] a lot of work is going on refining this statement in various settings and at various degree of abstraction, see e.g. the recent books [33] and [66] where further references are provided.

There is of course nothing deep-lying about the identity (3.3.4), except that this "martingale property" of the discounted stock price process is inherited by all value processes for the self-financing trading strategies, hence we have the parallel relations (3.3.14). The probabilistic counterpart of Proposition 3.3.4 is that the integral transforms preserve the martingale property, cf e.g. [65], Theorem 7.1.1.

From Section 2.2.2 we already know how to solve the backward recurrence equations subject to any boundary condition at the terminal date T, if we want to find out how much has to be invested now at t = 0 in order to attain at t = T a certain desired wealth. Since a unique solution always exists, we conclude in Section 3.4.1 that our binary market is *complete* in the sense that any desired wealth is attainable starting from a certain initial endowment and choosing for a suitable self-financing trading strategy. See Section 3.4.2 for the explicit construction of such strategy called the *hedging strategy* against given desired wealth.

Suppose now that in a binary market derivative securities or contingent claims are exercised in the form of financial contracts written on the stock. Their values are derived from, or contingent on the stock price development. One of such derivatives is a *call option* that is a contract that entitles its owner with the right to hold some shares of stock (or to sell shares in case of a put option, see Section 3.5, the subsection on call-put parity) by a certain date called the *expiration time* or *maturity*. For the sake of simplicity we discuss exclusively the so-called European call option that is only allowed to be exercised at maturity, leaving aside e.g. the American call option that can be exercised at any date prior to maturity, or some other exotic options, for their pricing would require much more efforts. An interested reader may consult the recent introductory books [44], [78], [79], [80] or [81]. A contingent claim provides a positive payoff function at maturity. The European call option, for instance, provides the payoff (3.5.1). Pricing a contingent claim is to determine its market value at any date prior to maturity, in particular, at the current date t = 0. It is explained in Section 3.5 how to handle this task and how to find the current fair price by relating the problem to the construction of the hedging strategy against the contingent claim in question, the strategy that duplicates the payoff. The initial wealth needed for the construction is then taken for the fair price of the contingent claim. See Section 3.5.2 for concrete examples of pricing the European call option, in particular the well-known Cox-Ross-Rubinstein pricing formula for the binomial model, cf [13], [14] or [53].

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 3.2 the portfolio and value processes are treated and the self-financing strategies are characterized. In Section 3.3 the recurrence relations for the value processes are discussed. In Section 3.4 the completeness of a binary market is defined and the explicit procedure is provided for the construction of the hedging strategies. The result is used in Section 3.5 for pricing contingent claims, in particular the European options. Finally, in Section 3.6 the class of binary markets excluding arbitrage opportunities is characterized.

3.2 Portfolio and value process

3.2.1 Self-financing strategies

Portfolio. Suppose that one invests an amount $v \ge 0$ in the two assets described in Section 2.3.1. Let Ψ_0 and Φ_0 denote the numbers of shares of the bond and stock, respectively, owned by the investor at the current date $t_0 = 0$. The asset prices at the current date were fixed to $B_0 = 1$ and $S_0 = s$, so that the investment amounts to

$$v \doteq \Psi_0 + s\Phi_0. \tag{3.2.1}$$

Furthermore, let Ψ_n and Φ_n denote the number of shares of the bond and stock, respectively, owned by the investor at the consecutive trading times t_n , n = 1, ..., N. The couple (Ψ_n, Φ_n) is called the investor's *portfolio* at time t_n . Observe that the components Ψ_n and Φ_n of a portfolio may become negative, which has to be interpreted as short-selling the bond or the stock. Since the investor selects his portfolio at time t_n with n = 1, ..., N on the basis of the history of the price development in the market, the number of shares Ψ_n and Φ_n of the bond and stock he owns at time t_n may depend on prices B_{ν} and S_{ν} with $\nu < n$, but not on prices not yet announced, e.g. B_n and S_n . In particular

$$(\Psi_0, \Phi_0) = (\Psi_1, \Phi_1), \tag{3.2.2}$$

which means that the currently selected portfolio is kept unchanged during the whole first period $[t_0, t_1]$. Afterwards, just after the stock price S_1 is announced at time t_1 the portfolio turns into (Ψ_2, Φ_2) and stays unchanged during the whole period $(t_1, t_2]$. The investor proceeds further in the same manner, by selecting last time his portfolio (Ψ_N, Φ_N) just after the announcement of the stock price S_{N-1} at time t_1 and keeping it until the terminal date $t_N = T$.

The entire process $\pi = (\Psi_n, \Phi_n)_{n=0,1,...,N}$ of selecting the portfolio components is called a *trading strategy*. With each trading strategy π we associate the process

$$V(\pi) = \{V_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,...,N}$$

by

$$V_n(\pi) \doteq \Psi_n B_n + \Phi_n S_n. \tag{3.2.3}$$

In view of (3.2.1) $V_0(\pi) = v \ge 0$. After discounting, i.e. dividing both sides by B_n , we get

$$\dot{V}_n(\pi) \doteq \Psi_n + \Phi_n \dot{S}_n. \tag{3.2.4}$$

The process $V(\pi)$ is usually called the *value process* for a trading strategy π , since $V_n(\pi)$ represents the market value of the portfolio at time t_n held just before any changes are made in the portfolio.

As was observed above, a portfolio (Ψ_n, Φ_n) depends only on the history of the price development before the trading time t_n . In terms of Section 2.2.1,

3.2. PORTFOLIO AND VALUE PROCESS

this means that both components $\Psi = {\{\Psi_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N} \text{ and } \Phi = {\{\Phi_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}}$ of the trading strategy π are predictable. That is, both sequences are of the same type as S_- . So, if S_n is in state s_{kn} for some $k \in {\{1,\ldots,2^n\}}$, then Ψ_n and Φ_n are in the states $\psi_{k_1 n-1}$ and $\phi_{k_1 n-1}$, respectively. As usual $k_1 = \lceil k/2 \rceil$. According to (3.2.4), the investor's discounted wealth at time t_n is then in state

$$\dot{v}_{kn}(\pi) = \psi_{k_1 n-1} + \phi_{k_1 n-1} \dot{s}_{kn}. \tag{3.2.5}$$

Recall that also $DS = \{DS_n\}_{n=1,...,N}$ and $DV(\pi) = \{DV_n(\pi)\}_{n=1,...,N}$ are predictable processes and the knowledge that S_{n-1} has been in state s_{kn-1} allows to predict the states of DS_n and $DV_n(\pi)$ that are

$$D_k(S_n) = s_{2k\,n} - s_{2k-1\,n}$$

$$D_k(V_n(\pi)) = v_{2k\,n}(\pi) - v_{2k-1\,n}(\pi),$$
(3.2.6)

respectively. Anticipating (3.2.8) and (3.2.9), we put $DS_0 = DS_1$ and $DV_0(\pi) = DV_1(\pi)$ to meet (3.2.2). The assertion of the following proposition is an elementary consequence of (2.2.18) applied to (3.2.3), and (3.2.4) for the predictability of the portfolio components implies

$$DV(\pi) = \Phi DS$$
 and $D\dot{V}(\pi) = \Phi D\dot{S}.$ (3.2.7)

To refresh the arguments, however, we will provide the detailed proof.

Proposition 3.2.1. The components of the portfolio (Ψ_n, Φ_n) at trading time t_n with n = 0, 1, ..., N are given by

$$\Psi_n B_n = \frac{V_n(\pi) D S_n - S_n D V_n(\pi)}{D S_n}$$
(3.2.8)

and

$$\Phi_n = \frac{DV_n(\pi)}{DS_n}.$$
(3.2.9)

Proof. Fix $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$. At the trading time t_{n-1} let S_{n-1} be in state s_{kn-1} with some $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}\}$. By (3.2.5) the investor's discounted wealth at the next trading time t_n may then be in one of the following two alternative states:

$$\begin{split} \dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi) &= \psi_{k\,n-1} + \phi_{k\,n-1} \dot{s}_{2k\,n} \\ \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi) &= \psi_{k\,n-1} + \phi_{k\,n-1} \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}. \end{split}$$

By solving the system of these two equations with respect to $\psi_{k\,n-1}$ and $\phi_{k\,n-1}$, we get

$$\psi_{k\,n-1} = \frac{\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi)\dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}} \tag{3.2.10}$$

 and

$$\phi_{k\,n-1} = \frac{\dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}.$$
(3.2.11)

Π

In non-discounted form we have

$$\psi_{k\,n-1}B_n = \frac{v_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)s_{2k\,n} - v_{2k\,n}(\pi)s_{2k-1\,n}}{s_{2k\,n} - s_{2k-1\,n}}$$

and

$$\phi_{k\,n-1} = \frac{v_{2k\,n}(\pi) - v_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)}{s_{2k\,n} - s_{2k-1\,n}}$$

Due to (3.2.6), this is equivalent to (3.2.8) and (3.2.9). The proof is complete.

Self-financing. It will be shown next that the value process $V(\pi)$ is of a special structure when π belongs to the class of so-called *self-financing* strategies defined as follows:

A trading strategy π is said to be self-financing, if its construction is founded only on the initial endowment so that all changes in the portfolio values are due to capital gains during the trading and no infusion or withdrawal of funds is required.

To formalize this definition, we may argue as follows. We have already defined by (3.2.3) the market value $V_n(\pi)$ at the trading time t_n of the portfolio (Ψ_n, Φ_n) . Next, the market value of the consecutive portfolio (Ψ_{n+1}, Φ_{n+1}) just after it has been selected at the trading time t_n may be evaluated by $\Psi_{n+1}B_n + \Phi_{n+1}S_n$. But this value can't differ from the previous $V_n(\pi)$, since no infusion or withdrawal of funds took place. Thus, apart from (3.2.3) the following relation holds:

$$V_n(\pi) = \Psi_{n+1}B_n + \Phi_{n+1}S_n \tag{3.2.12}$$

or, in the discounted form,

$$V_n(\pi) = \Psi_{n+1} + \Phi_{n+1} S_n. \tag{3.2.13}$$

These considerations allow us to equate the right hand sides in (3.2.3) and (3.2.12), as well as in (3.2.4) and (3.2.13). We get

$$\Psi_n B_n + \Phi_n S_n = \Psi_{n+1} B_n + \Phi_{n+1} S_n$$

and

$$\Psi_n + \Phi_n \dot{S}_n = \Psi_{n+1} + \Phi_{n+1} \dot{S}_n.$$

It is easily seen that these identities are equivalent to (3.2.14) and (3.2.15) below, hence we have the following formal definition.

Definition 3.2.2. A trading strategy π is said to be self-financing, if at each trading time t_n with n = 1, ..., N the corresponding portfolio satisfies the condition

$$B_{n-1}\Delta\Psi_n + S_{n-1}\Delta\Phi_n = 0 \tag{3.2.14}$$

3.2. PORTFOLIO AND VALUE PROCESS

or, in the discounted form,

$$\Delta \Psi_n + \dot{S}_{n-1} \Delta \Phi_n = 0. \tag{3.2.15}$$

The self-financing is a basic notion in the forthcoming sections as well. Let us therefore make it universally applicable by rewriting (3.2.14) and (3.2.15)in an integral form. To this end, we sum up both sides of these equations and use the notations

$$B_- \cdot \Psi_n \doteq \sum_{\nu=1}^n B_{\nu-1} \Delta \Psi_{\nu} \quad \text{and} \quad S_- \cdot \Phi_n \doteq \sum_{\nu=1}^n S_{\nu-1} \Delta \Phi_{\nu}$$

like in Section 2.2.1, formula (2.2.5). We thus get the following equivalent conditions

$$B_{-} \cdot \Psi_{n} + S_{-} \cdot \Phi_{n} = 0 \tag{3.2.16}$$

or, in the discounted form,

$$\Psi_n - \Psi_0 + \dot{S}_- \cdot \Phi_n = 0. \tag{3.2.17}$$

With the notations $k_1 = \lceil k/2 \rceil$ and $k_2 = \lceil k/4 \rceil$, the self-financing condition (3.2.15) means that

$$\psi_{k_1 n-1} - \psi_{k_2 n-1} = -\dot{s}_{k_1 n-1} (\phi_{k_1 n-1} - \phi_{k_2 n-1}).$$

We occasionally will use the term *admissibility* of a trading strategy, meaning the following

Definition 3.2.3. If the investor follows a self-financing strategy π so that his wealth remains nonnegative, i.e. $V_n(\pi) \geq 0$ at each trading time t_n with $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$, then it is said that the strategy π is admissible.

3.2.2 Integral representation

The term *predictability* of portfolio components is borrowed from the theory of stochastic calculus, where predictable processes play the rôle of integrands in stochastic integrals. The reader familiar with this theory, as well as with the theory of continuous trading in the spirit of, e.g. [39], Section 3, could trace the analogy of the representation (3.2.19) below and the integral representation of the discounted value process for a self-financing strategy as a stochastic integral with respect to the discounted stock price process. Later we will return to this, see Chapter 4, Proposition 4.4.2, and Chapter 5, Formula (5.5.8). But meanwhile the situation is quite simple as we will only deal in the present chapter with the transform of \hat{S} by Φ which is

$$\Phi \cdot \dot{S}_n \doteq \sum_{\nu=1}^n \Phi_\nu \Delta \dot{S}_\nu, \qquad (3.2.18)$$

as was already defined in Section 2.2.1.

Proposition 3.2.4. Let π be a self-financing strategy. Then the corresponding value process $V(\pi) = \{V_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ with the initial endowment $v = V_0(\pi) \ge 0$ has the following representation: for all $n = 1, \ldots, N$

$$\dot{V}_n(\pi) = v + \Phi \cdot \dot{S}_n, \tag{3.2.19}$$

cf (3.2.18).

Proof. Obviously, it suffices to prove that for n = 1, ..., N

$$\Delta \dot{V}_n(\pi) = \Phi_n \Delta \dot{S}_n. \tag{3.2.20}$$

But this is easily seen since by applying (2.2.9) to (3.2.4) we obtain

$$\Delta \dot{V}_n(\pi) = \Delta \Psi_n + \Delta (\Phi_n \dot{S}_n) = \Delta \Psi_n + \Delta \Phi_n \dot{S}_{n-1} + \Phi_n \Delta \dot{S}_n,$$

which equals to $\Phi_n \Delta \dot{S}_n$ due to equation (3.2.15).

As was mentioned in Section 2.2.1, cf (2.2.4), the summation in (3.2.19) is carried out path by path, which means that if for a fixed $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ we deal with S_n that occupies the state s_{kn} with some $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^n\}$, then investor's discounted wealth at time t_n is in state

$$\dot{v}_{kn}(\pi) = v + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \phi_{k_{n-\nu+1}\,\nu-1}(\dot{s}_{k_{n-\nu}\,\nu} - \dot{s}_{k_{n-\nu+1}\,\nu-1}). \tag{3.2.21}$$

Clark's formula. We want to emphasize further analogy with the theory of continuous trading. Within this theory the discounted value process is represented as a stochastic integral with respect to the discounted stock price process, with the integrand - the stock component of the portfolio - that is of a special form, namely given by so-called Clark's formula. See [39], Formula (1.9), or [59]. As is seen in Corollary 3.2.5 to Proposition 3.2.1 below, the analogous formula in the case of a binary market is quite elementary. It is based on the simple usage of the difference operator in the state space as defined in Section 2.2.1. For further references on the analogous case of continuous trading where certain Malliavin derivatives occur (functional derivatives in the state space), see [58], [56], Section 1.3.3, [57], Section 1.6, or [49], Appendix E. Cf also Chapter 4, Proposition 4.3.7, and Chapter 5, Remark 5.5.4. In virtue of Propositions 3.2.4 and 3.2.1 we obtain

Corollary 3.2.5. Under the self-financing condition (3.2.14) we have for n = 1, ..., N

$$\dot{V}_n(\pi) = v + \frac{DV(\pi)}{DS} \cdot \dot{S}_n \tag{3.2.22}$$

and

$$\frac{\Delta \dot{V}_n(\pi)}{\Delta \dot{S}_n} = \frac{D \dot{V}_n(\pi)}{D \dot{S}_n}.$$
(3.2.23)

3.2. PORTFOLIO AND VALUE PROCESS

Proof. Substitute the integrand (3.2.9) in (3.2.19) to get (3.2.22). Apply the difference operator in time Δ to both sides of (3.2.22). We get

$$\Delta \dot{V}_n(\pi) = \frac{DV_n(\pi)}{DS_n} \Delta \dot{S}_n.$$

But this coincides with (3.2.23), since $DV/dS = D\dot{V}/D\dot{S}$ by (3.2.7).

3.3 Recurrence relations

3.3.1 Risk neutral probabilities

Fix a trading time t_n for some n = 1, ..., N and consider the particular branch of the discounted price tree for the stock

$$\dot{s}_{k\,n-1} \Big\langle \dot{s}_{2k\,n} \\ \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n} \Big\rangle$$

for some $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$. It is easy to express \dot{s}_{kn-1} as a linear combination of the future states \dot{s}_{2kn} and \dot{s}_{2k-1n} by solving the equation

$$\dot{s}_{k\,n-1} = x\dot{s}_{2k\,n} + (1-x)\dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}$$

with respect to the unknown x. The solution is

$$x = \frac{\dot{s}_{k\,n-1} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}.$$

In order to exhibit the dependence of this solution on the time and state indices, we use throughout the following notations:

$$p_{2kn} = \frac{\dot{s}_{kn-1} - \dot{s}_{2k-1n}}{\dot{s}_{2kn} - \dot{s}_{2k-1n}}$$
(3.3.1)

and

$$p_{2k-1\,n} = \frac{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{k\,n-1}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}.$$
(3.3.2)

So, for any trading time t_n and any state of \hat{S}_n , the numerical values of p_{2kn} and p_{2k-1n} satisfy

$$p_{2kn} + p_{2k-1n} = 1. ag{3.3.3}$$

With these notations we get for all n = 1, ..., N that

$$\dot{s}_{k\,n-1} = p_{2k\,n}\dot{s}_{2k\,n} + p_{2k-1\,n}\dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}, \quad k = 1,\dots,2^{n-1}.$$
(3.3.4)

Observe that negative values of p_{kn} are not excluded, since it may happen that either $\dot{s}_{kn-1} \leq \dot{s}_{2k-1n}$ or $\dot{s}_{kn-1} \geq \dot{s}_{2kn}$. Later, in Section 3.6, we will treat separately a class of markets in which both of these possibilities are excluded. We will see that this is justified by certain arguments having a clear economical meaning. Within the latter class of markets, the numerical values of p_{kn} are positive, satisfying (3.3.3). This makes possible then to give them the same interpretation as in the special subsection of Section 2.2.2 concerning random walk. Recall that p_{kn} have been interpreted as the transition probabilities. By this reason, we will permit ourself the liberty to associate the term *probability* with the numerical values of p_{kn} even beyond the situation of Section 3.6, although it makes no sense to think of negative probabilities, of course. Furthermore, following the established tradition in the present field, the numerical values of p_{kn} will be referred to as the *risk neutral probabilities*. This may be justified as follows. In terms of the states of the discounted net returns \dot{r}_{kn} the equation (3.3.4) is equivalent to

$$0 = p_{2kn} \dot{r}_{2kn} + p_{2k-1n} \dot{r}_{2k-1n}$$
(3.3.5)

(for the proof, see Lemma 3.3.1 below) which means that the weights (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) with property (3.3.3) are chosen so as to neutralize the upward displacements in the discounted net returns on the stock by the downward displacements. The reader familiar with the theory of stochastic processes (e.g. to the extend of the introductory Section 7.1 in [65]) should notice that the discounted net returns on the stock with property (3.3.5) constitute martingale differences with respect to the probability distribution generated by the collection of the transition probabilities p_{kn} , and that the discounted stock price process with property (3.3.4) constitutes a martingale. As p_{2kn} and p_{2k-1n} are the conditional probabilities of the upward and downward displacements, respectively, given that the stock price S_{n-1} has been in state s_{kn-1} , the right hand sides both in (3.3.4) and (3.3.5) are understood as the corresponding expectations. We are not in position to enter here in more details on these notions, as this would require a probabilistic buildup and would carry us far afield.

Instead, we want to stress an additional characteristic feature of the quantities p_{2kn} and p_{2k-1n} . To this end, rewrite (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) in the form

$$\hat{s}_{2k-1\,n} - \hat{s}_{k\,n-1} = -p_{2k\,n} D_k(S_n)
\hat{s}_{2k\,n} - \hat{s}_{k\,n-1} = p_{2k-1\,n} D_k(\hat{S}_n)$$
(3.3.6)

with $D_k(\dot{S}_n) = \dot{s}_{2kn} - \dot{s}_{2k-1n}$ as usual. So we see that $-p_{2kn}$ and p_{2k-1n} serve as the proportionality coefficients relating the increments in time of the discounted states on the left-hand side of the identities (3.3.6) to the corresponding stretch in space of states on the right.

We now give the proof of the identities (3.3.5) for each $n = 1, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$. Note first that in terms of the states of the gross returns on the stock, both (3.3.4) and (3.3.5) are equivalent to

$$r_n = p_{2k\,n} z_{2k\,n} + p_{2k-1\,n} z_{2k-1\,n} \tag{3.3.7}$$

where r_n is one plus the interest rate as in (2.3.2) and $\{z_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are the states of Z_n as in (2.3.14). Besides, by using

$$1 + \dot{r}_{kn} = \dot{z}_{kn} = \frac{z_{kn}}{r_n},$$

cf (2.3.15), we may rewrite (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) in the following alternative form:

$$p_{2kn} = \frac{r_n - z_{2k-1n}}{z_{2kn} - z_{2k-1n}} \tag{3.3.8}$$

and

$$p_{2k-1\,n} = \frac{z_{2k\,n} - r_n}{z_{2k\,n} - z_{2k-1\,n}}.$$
(3.3.9)

Lemma 3.3.1. Under the self-financing condition (3.2.14) the states of the discounted net returns on the stock satisfy the identities (3.3.5) for all n = $1, \ldots, N \text{ and } k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}.$

Proof. By (3.3.8) and (3.3.9) we get

$$p_{2kn}z_{2kn} + p_{2k-1n}z_{2k-1n} = \frac{(r_n - z_{2k-1n})z_{2kn} + (z_{2kn} - r_n)z_{2k-1n}}{z_{2kn} - z_{2k-1n}}$$

the equals to r_n .

which equals to r_n .

Examples. In the moving averages model the states $\{z_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of the gross return on the stock Z_n , defined by (2.3.14), are specified by (2.3.27) so that (3.3.8) and (3.3.9) yield

$$p_{2kn} = \frac{r_n - d_n - \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \alpha_{n-\nu} e_{k_{\nu+1}\nu}}{u_n - d_n}$$
(3.3.10)

and

$$p_{2k-1n} = \frac{u_n - r_n + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n-1} \alpha_{n-\nu} e_{k_{\nu+1}\nu}}{u_n - d_n}$$
(3.3.11)

for each n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$. Consider two special examples.

Example 3.3.2. BINOMIAL MODEL. For each n = 1, ..., N substitute $\alpha_1 =$ $\cdots = \alpha_{n-1} = 0$ in (3.3.10) and (3.3.11). In this special case we see that p_{2kn} and p_{2k-1n} take on the same numerical value for all $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$, namely

$$p_{2kn} = \frac{r_n - d_n}{u_n - d_n}$$
 and $p_{2k-1n} = \frac{u_n - r_n}{u_n - d_n}$. (3.3.12)

Example 3.3.3. 1st ORDER MOVING AVERAGES MODEL. For every n = 1, ..., Nput $\alpha_1 = \alpha$ and $\alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_{n-1} = 0$ in (3.3.10) and (3.3.11). We obtain

$$p_{2kn} = \frac{r_n - d_n - \alpha e_{kn-1}}{u_n - d_n}$$

= $p_{2k-1n} = \frac{u_n - r_n + \alpha e_{kn-1}}{u_n - d_n}$ (3.3.13)

for all $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$. So, these equations yield

$$p_{4kn} = \frac{r_n - d_n - \alpha u_{n-1}}{u_n - d_n}$$
 and $p_{4k-1n} = \frac{u_n - r_n + \alpha u_{n-1}}{u_n - d_n}$

for even indices, and

$$p_{4k-2n} = \frac{r_n - d_n - \alpha d_{n-1}}{u_n - d_n}$$
 and $p_{4k-3n} = \frac{u_n - r_n + \alpha d_{n-1}}{u_n - d_n}$

for odd indices, where $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-2}$.

40

3.3. RECURRENCE RELATIONS

3.3.2 Recurrence relations for value processes

It is well-known in the theory of stochastic processes that any transform of a martingale by a predictable integrand is again a martingale, see e.g. [65], Theorem 7.1.1. As was already seen in Section 3.2.2, Proposition 3.2.4, under the self-financing strategy the value process is a such transform of the discounted stock price process by the stock component of the portfolio. Hence (3.2.19) is a martingale transform. Let us now recall the remark in Section 3.3.1 about the relationship between the equations (3.3.4) and the martingale property of the discounted stock price process. This suggests us that the states of the discounted value process do satisfy equations of form similar to (3.3.4). This is indeed easy to confirm.

Proposition 3.3.4. In a binary market a trading strategy π is self-financing if and only if for all $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ the states $\{\hat{v}_{kn}(\pi)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of the discounted value process $\hat{V}(\pi) = \{\hat{V}_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ at the trading time t_n and the states $\{\hat{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ at the previous trading time t_{n-1} are related by the equations

$$\dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = p_{2k\,n}\dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi) + p_{2k-1\,n}\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi) \tag{3.3.14}$$

where $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$. The weights p_{2kn} and p_{2k-1n} are given by (3.3.1) and (3.3.2).

Proof. (i) Assume self-financing of the trading strategy π . Then the corresponding discounted value process satisfies (3.2.13), i.e. its states satisfy

$$\dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = \psi_{k\,n-1} + \phi_{k\,n-1}\dot{s}_{k\,n-1} \tag{3.3.15}$$

for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$. These equations and (3.2.10)–(3.2.11) yield

$$\dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = \frac{\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi)\dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}} + \frac{\dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi)}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}}\dot{s}_{k\,n-1}.$$
(3.3.16)

It can be easily verified that the coefficients of $\dot{v}_{2kn}(\pi)$ and $\dot{v}_{2k-1n}(\pi)$ are indeed given by (3.3.1) and (3.3.2).

(ii) Conversely, (3.3.14), (3.3.1) and (3.3.2) imply (3.3.16), and hence (3.3.15). By Definition (3.2.3), (3.3.15) implies (3.2.5), i.e. the strategy in question is indeed self-financing.

Similarly to (3.3.6), we thus have from (3.3.14) the following relationship between the increments in time and in space of the discounted states of the value process:

$$\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = -p_{2k\,n}D_k(\dot{V}_n(\pi))
\dot{v}_{2k\,n}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = p_{2k-1\,n}D_k(\dot{V}_n(\pi)).$$
(3.3.17)

This tells us that the previous proportionality coefficients $-p_{2kn}$ and p_{2k-1n} are preserved.

The equations (3.3.14) are backward recurrent in the sense that if the states of the discounted value process are given at the terminal date $t_N = T$, then working backwards one can determine the states at the previous trading times step by step, each time using the system of equations (3.3.14). In Section 2.2.2 we have already discussed the solution of this problem. Indeed the system of equations (3.3.14) takes the form (2.2.22) upon the substitution $x_{jn} = \dot{v}_{jn}(\pi)$. Thus if at the terminal date $t_N = T$ the states of the discounted value process are fixed, say

$$\hat{v}_{jN}(\pi) = c_j, \ j = 1, \dots, 2^N,$$
(3.3.18)

where $\{c_1, \ldots, c_{2^N}\}$ is a set of given numbers, cf (2.2.36), then the solutions are given by (2.2.37) and (2.2.38), upon the same substitution $x_{jn} = \dot{v}_{jn}(\pi)$, of course. Regarding their applications in the present setup we want to make following remarks.

Firstly, the weights in (2.2.22) are now specified by (3.3.1) and (3.3.2). Negative numerical values are not excluded. But in the strictly positive case, the numerical values of p_{kn} may be interpreted as transition probabilities, as in the subsection on random walk in Section 2.2.2. Likewise, the strictly positive weights

$$P_{kN}^{n} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < n} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}$$
(3.3.19)

in (2.2.28) get the meaning of transition probabilities, and the collection $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1}$ of weights in (2.2.29) with

$$P_{kN} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < N} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}$$
(3.3.20)

the meaning of a probability distribution.

Secondly, we will need in the sequel to specify the boundary conditions (3.3.18) as follows. Define a variable \dot{H}_N which is allowed to occupy one of the 2^N states $\{\dot{h}_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ by means of a certain function H (to be called in Section 3.5.2, the *payoff function*) that maps each trajectory of the stock price development to the corresponding states of \dot{H}_N . We may portray this mapping from the states of the terminal stock price to that of the payoff as follows:

$$\dot{s}_{jN} \xrightarrow{H} \dot{h}_{jN}, \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N.$$

$$(3.3.21)$$

Consider then the system of recurrence equations

$$x_{j\,n-1} = p_{2j\,n} x_{2k\,n} + p_{2j-1\,n} x_{2j-1\,n} \tag{3.3.22}$$

for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ and $j = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$ (cf (2.2.22), as well as (3.3.4) and (3.3.14)), subject to the boundary conditions

• •

$$x_{jN} = \dot{h}_{jN}, \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N.$$
 (3.3.23)

3.3. RECURRENCE RELATIONS

As in Section 2.2.2, the solution to this system of equations is obtained by the procedure starting with the substitution n = N in (3.3.22) that determines $\{x_{j N-1}\}_{j=1,\ldots,2^{N-1}}$. Working backwards in this manner, after n such steps the solution $\{x_{j N-n}\}_{j=1,\ldots,2^{N-n}}$ is obtained with

$$x_{j\,N-n} = \sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P_{kN}^n \dot{h}_{kN}.$$
(3.3.24)

This procedure is terminated after N steps and yields

$$x_{10} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{h}_{kN}.$$
(3.3.25)

To grasp the meaning of these solutions in the present context, consider the payoff function H(x) = x to reduce (3.3.21) to the simplest case $\dot{H}_N = \dot{S}_N$ and $\dot{h}_{kN} = \dot{s}_{kN}$. This specifies the boundary conditions (3.3.23) so that upon the substitution $x_{jn} = \dot{s}_{jn}$ the solutions reduce to

$$\dot{s}_{j\,N-n} = \sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P_{kN}^n \dot{s}_{kN}$$
(3.3.26)

and, in particular,

$$s = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{s}_{kN}.$$
(3.3.27)

The reader familiar with the probability theory must recognize in the latter equations yet another characterization, additional to (3.3.4), of the martingale property of the discounted stock process. It is indeed seen from (3.3.27) that the expectation of the terminal discounted stock price \hat{S}_N (relative to the probability distribution $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,...,2^N}$) equals to the fixed initial value s. Likewise, the sum on the right-hand side of (3.3.26) gets the interpretation of the conditional expectation of the terminal discounted stock price \hat{S}_N , given that n periods before the discounted stock price \hat{S}_{N-n} has been in state \hat{s}_{kN-n} . Consider now another example of the payoff function

$$\dot{s}_{jN} \xrightarrow{H} \frac{\dot{s}_{jN}}{\dot{s}_{j_1 N}} - 1, \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N.$$

In this case $\dot{h}_{kN} = \dot{r}_{kN}$ and we get, using (2.2.34) and (2.2.35) that

$$\sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P_{kN}^n \dot{r}_{kN} = 0 \tag{3.3.28}$$

and, in particular,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \check{r}_{kN} = 0. \tag{3.3.29}$$

This is an alternative to (3.3.5) characterization of the fact that the discounted net returns constitute martingale differences.

Let us turn back to the discounted value process $\hat{V}(\pi)$ for a certain selffinancing strategy π . As we know, its integral representation (3.2.19) is a martingale transform. This property of $\hat{V}(\pi)$ is characterized either by (3.3.14) or by the relations

$$\dot{v}_{j\,N-n}(\pi) = \sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P_{kN}^n \dot{v}_{kN}(\pi)$$
(3.3.30)

which for n = N are reduced to

$$v = \sum_{k=1}^{2^{N}} P_{kN} \dot{v}_{kN}(\pi).$$
(3.3.31)

Obviously, the relations (3.3.30) are associated with (3.3.14) in the precisely same way as the relations (3.3.26) with (3.3.4).

Examples of solution. It will be necessary for concrete applications to have at hand the explicit solutions to the system of equations (3.3.22) subject to the boundary conditions (3.3.23).

Example 3.3.5. BINOMIAL MODEL: HOMOGENEOUS CASE. For given numbers u, d and r, denote

$$p_u = rac{r-d}{u-d}$$
 and $p_d = rac{u-r}{u-d}$

which satisfy $p_u + p_d = 1$. These are the risk neutral probabilities in the present special case, cf (3.3.12). Recall the partition $\Pi_0, \Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_N$ of the set of all possible terminal states $\{s_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$, discussed in Example 2.3.1. If the stock price at the terminal date occupies one of the state from the subset Π_n , then it amounts to $su^n d^{N-n}$. Let us consider now a special payoff function that makes distinction only of prices announced at the terminal date. Namely, let us specify the mapping (3.3.21) as follows: for all $n \in \{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$

$$\dot{h}_{jN} = r^{-N} H(su^n d^{N-n}) \quad \text{if} \quad s_{jN} \in \Pi_n \tag{3.3.32}$$

where H is a certain function of a single argument. This gives to the solutions (3.3.24) and (3.3.25) a special form that may be described in terms of the sequence of functions $\{f_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ with

$$f_n(x) = \sum_{j=0}^n \binom{n}{j} p_u^j p_d^{n-j} H(x u^j d^{n-j}).$$

Note that $f_0(x) = H(x)$. With these notations (3.3.24) and (3.3.25) are reduced to

$$x_{jN-n} = r^{-N} f_n(s_{jN-n}), \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^{N-n},$$
(3.3.33)

3.3. RECURRENCE RELATIONS

and

$$x_{10} = r^{-N} f_N(s). ag{3.3.34}$$

Thus, if X_n is a variable with the set of states $\{x_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$, then

$$X_{N-n} = r^{-N} f_n(S_{N-n})$$

Example 3.3.6. BINOMIAL MODEL: NONHOMOGENEOUS CASE. For given numbers u_n , d_n and r_n with n = 1, ..., N denote

$$p_{u_n} = rac{r_n - d_n}{u_n - d_n} \quad ext{and} \quad p_{d_n} = rac{u_n - r_n}{u_n - d_n}$$

which satisfy $p_{u_n} + p_{d_n} = 1$ and present the risk neutral probabilities in the present special case, cf (3.3.12). Alternatively to Example 2.3.2, it turns out useful to describe the situation by means of N binary indices ι_1, \ldots, ι_N with ι_n taking on either the value d_n or u_n . For, the summation we will need to carry out in the formulas (3.3.35) and (3.3.36) below (cf also (3.3.37) and (3.3.38)) will extend over these binary indices. Moreover, with their help the set of states for the stock price S_n may be described as the product $\{s\iota_1 \cdots \iota_n\}$ which indeed yields 2^n of appropriate outcomes when the indices vary. A payoff may then be defined by means of a certain function H of a single argument so that

$$s\iota_1\cdots\iota_N\longmapsto H(s\iota_1\cdots\iota_N).$$

Define now the sequence of functions $\{f_n\}_{n=1,\dots,N}$ with $f_0(x) = H(x)$ and

$$f_n(x) = \sum_{\iota_{N-n+1}\cdots\iota_N} p_{\iota_{N-n+1}}\cdots p_{\iota_N} H(x\iota_{N-n+1}\cdots\iota_N)$$
(3.3.35)

for n = 1, ..., N, where the summation extends over the *n* binary indices $\iota_{N-n+1}, ..., \iota_N$. Then the solution (3.3.24) reduces to

$$x_{jN-n} = \frac{f_n(s_{jN-n})}{r_1 \cdots r_N}.$$

In particular

$$x_{10} = \sum_{\iota_1 \cdots \iota_N} \frac{p_{\iota_1} \cdots p_{\iota_N}}{r_1 \cdots r_N} H(s\iota_1 \cdots \iota_N).$$
(3.3.36)

Note that if X_n is a variable with the set of states $\{x_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$, then

$$X_{N-n} = \frac{f_n(S_{N-n})}{r_1 \cdots r_N}.$$

Example 3.3.7. 1st ORDER MOVING AVERAGES MODEL. We retain here the notations of the previous example. Moreover, we denote by

$$p_{u_n|\iota_n} = rac{r_n - d_n - lpha \iota_n}{u_n - d_n}$$
 and $p_{d_n|\iota_n} = rac{u_n - r_n + lpha \iota_n}{u_n - d_n}$

with $p_{u_n|\iota_n} + p_{d_n|\iota_n} = 1$, the risk neutral probabilities, cf (3.3.13). For $n = 1, \ldots, N$ define the following functions of two variables

$$f_{n}(x,y) = \sum_{\iota_{N-n+1}\cdots\iota_{N}} p_{\iota_{N-n+1}|y} p_{\iota_{N-n+2}|\iota_{N-n+1}}\cdots p_{\iota_{N}|\iota_{N-1}} \times H(x(\iota_{N-n+1}+\alpha y)(\iota_{N-n+2}+\alpha\iota_{N-n+1})\cdots(\iota_{N}+\alpha\iota_{N-1}))$$
(3.3.37)

where H is again a function of a single argument. Then the solution (3.3.24 may be given by

$$x_{2j\,N-n} = \frac{f_n(s_{2j\,N-n}, u_{N-n})}{r_1 \cdots r_N}$$

and

$$x_{2j-1\,N-n} = \frac{f_n(s_{2j-1\,N-n}, d_{N-n})}{r_1 \cdots r_N}$$

for $j = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$. In particular

$$x_{10} = \sum_{\iota_1 \cdots \iota_N} \frac{p_{\iota_1} p_{\iota_2 | \iota_1} \cdots p_{\iota_N | \iota_{N-1}}}{r_1 \cdots r_N} \times H(s(\iota_1 + \alpha s)(\iota_2 + \alpha \iota_1) \cdots (\iota_N + \alpha \iota_{N-1})).$$
(3.3.38)

Note that if X_n is a variable with the set of states $\{x_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$, then

$$X_{N-n} = \frac{f_n(S_{N-n}, \epsilon_{N-n})}{r_1 \cdots r_N}.$$

3.4 Completeness and hedging strategies

3.4.1 Completeness

In the theory of securities markets the following question arises. Suppose that an investor is willing to invest now (at t = 0) in the bond and the stock in order to attain at the terminal date T a certain wealth, say W_T , without infusion or withdrawal of funds. The investor determines the desired wealth W_T so as to respond to all possibilities of the stock price development. Is then this goal attainable? The answer depends on the conditions in the market in question, of course. In this connection the term *completeness* of a market is used, that is defined as follows.

Definition 3.4.1. A market is called complete if there exists a self-financing trading strategy which attains any desired wealth W_T with a certain initial endowment.

These strategies bear a special name.

Definition 3.4.2. A specific trading strategy that at the terminal date T yields the desired wealth W_T is called the hedging strategy against W_T .

In this chapter we are concerned exclusively with binary markets, so the knowledge of the conditions in a market means the knowledge of all 2^N possibilities of the stock price development up to the terminal date $t_N = T$. By evaluating each of these possibilities, the investor determines then the wealth he desires to attain at the terminal date $t_N = T$. In this way W_N becomes a variable with 2^N possible states $\{w_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ depending on the states of the terminal stock price: if the stock price evolves along the k^{th} trajectory, i.e. S_N is in state s_{kN} , then W_N is in state w_{kN} .

It will be shown in this section that a binary market is complete in the sense of Definition 3.4.1. Moreover, for a fixed W_N the required initial endowment and the hedging self-financing strategy will be determined. To this end, fix a wealth W_N desired at the terminal date $t_N = T$, i.e. fix its states $\{w_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$. For the discounted wealth $\dot{W}_N = W_N/B_N$ with the corresponding states $\{\dot{w}_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ where $\dot{w}_{kN} = w_{kN}/B_N$, solve the recurrence equations (3.3.22), subject to the boundary conditions

$$x_{jN} = \dot{w}_{jN}, \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N.$$
 (3.4.1)

We need to apply the formula (3.3.24) with \dot{h}_{kN} substituted by \dot{w}_{kN} . Denote the solutions by $\{\dot{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N-1$. We obtain

$$\dot{w}_{j\,N-n} = \sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P^n_{kN} \dot{w}_{kN}.$$
(3.4.2)

In particular

$$w_{10} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{w}_{kN}, \qquad (3.4.3)$$

cf (3.3.30) and (3.3.31). Finally, for each n = 0, 1, ..., N denote by \dot{W}_n the variable with states $\{\dot{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,...,2^n}$. We are now in a position to describe a particular trading strategy which attains the desired wealth W_N with the initial endowment (3.4.3).

3.4.2 Hedging strategy

According to Definition 3.4.2, a specific trading strategy π whose value process $\dot{V}(\pi) = \{\dot{V}_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ is such that $\dot{V}_N(\pi) = W_N$ is the hedging strategy against the desired wealth W_N . This strategy is uniquely determined by the following procedure:

- Given the price development of the bond and stock, determine the numerical values of all transition probabilities $\{p_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for $n = 1,\ldots,N$ by the formulas (3.3.1) and (3.3.2).
- Given the wealth W_N , determine recurrently the numerical values of the $\{\hat{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ by formula (3.4.2), as described above.
- Determine, in particular, the numerical values of the probability distribution $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ by formula (3.3.20), and then the initial endowment w_{10} by formula (3.4.3).
- Invest currently the amount w_{10} in Ψ_0 and Φ_0 shares of the bond and the stock respectively, where Ψ_0 and Φ_0 are calculated as follows. Calculate

$$\begin{split} \psi_{10} &= \quad \frac{\dot{w}_{21}\dot{s}_{21} - \dot{w}_{11}\dot{s}_{11}}{\dot{s}_{21} - \dot{s}_{11}} \\ \phi_{10} &= \quad \frac{\dot{w}_{21} - \dot{w}_{11}}{\dot{s}_{21} - \dot{s}_{11}} \end{split}$$

according to the formulas (3.2.10) and (3.2.11) with n = k = 1 and $\dot{v}_{21}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{21}$, $\dot{v}_{11}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{11}$. According to (3.2.2), identify these numeric values of the stock and bond components Ψ_1 and Φ_1 with Ψ_0 and Φ_0 , respectively.

- During the first period keep the portfolio unchanged, i.e. keep Ψ_1 shares of the bond and Φ_1 shares of the stock, in order to get the wealth $\dot{V}_1(\pi)$ determined by formula (3.2.3) with n = 1, which coincides with \dot{W}_1 .
- If at the trading time t_1 the stock price s_{21} is announced, then during the second period keep ψ_{21} shares of the bond and ϕ_{21} shares of the stock. These numbers of shares are calculated by

$$\psi_{21} = \frac{\dot{w}_{42}\dot{s}_{42} - \dot{w}_{32}\dot{s}_{32}}{\dot{s}_{42} - \dot{s}_{32}}$$
$$\phi_{21} = \frac{\dot{w}_{42} - \dot{w}_{32}}{\dot{s}_{42} - \dot{s}_{32}}$$

according to the formulas (3.2.10) and (3.2.11) with $n = 2, k = 2, \dot{v}_{42}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{42}$ and $\dot{v}_{32}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{32}$.

However, if the announced stock price is s_{11} , then keep ψ_{11} shares of the bond and ϕ_{11} shares of the stock, again determined by the formulas (3.2.10) and (3.2.11) but now with $n = 2, k = 1, \dot{v}_{22}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{22}$ and $\dot{v}_{12}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{12}$, i.e.

$$\begin{split} \psi_{11} &= \frac{\dot{\psi}_{22}\dot{s}_{22} - \dot{\psi}_{12}\dot{s}_{12}}{\dot{s}_{22} - \dot{s}_{22}}\\ \phi_{11} &= \frac{\dot{\psi}_{22} - \dot{\psi}_{12}}{\dot{s}_{22} - \dot{s}_{12}} \end{split}$$

Then the wealth $\dot{V}_2(\pi)$ attained at the trading time t_2 is determined by formula (3.2.5) with n = 2. It coincides with \dot{W}_2 .

- If during the forthcoming trading periods the portfolio will be held which is always determined by the same formulas (3.2.10) and (3.2.11) with $\{\dot{v}_{kn}(\pi) = \dot{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for the integers *n* increasing up to *N*, then the value process $\dot{V}(\pi) = \{\dot{V}_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ will develop in such a way that $\dot{V}_n(\pi)$ will coincide with \dot{W}_n for $n = 1, \ldots, N$. In particular, at the terminal date $t_N = T$ the wealth W_N will be attained.

The trading strategy just described is indeed the hedging strategy against the wealth W_N and the construction is unique. Clearly, this strategy is applicable to any desired wealth of the type W_N with 2^N possible states $\{w_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ numbered according to the states of the terminal stock price. This proves the completeness of a binary market. We have

Proposition 3.4.3. A binary market is complete: any wealth W_N , desired at the terminal date $t_N = T$, is attainable with an initial endowment uniquely defined by (3.4.3). If for n = 0, 1, ..., N the states $\{\hat{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,...,2^n}$ of \hat{W}_n are obtained by (3.4.2), then the so-called hedging strategy against W_N is uniquely determined by selecting the portfolio according to (3.2.10) and (3.2.11) with $\{\hat{v}_{kn}(\pi) = \hat{w}_{kn}\}_{k=1,...,2^n}$ for n = 0, 1, ..., N.

If $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ is indeed a probability distribution, i.e. all the weights in the sum (3.4.3) are strictly positive, then the sum itself is positive and the possibility is excluded of attaining a positive wealth at the terminal date $t_N = T$ with a nonpositive initial endowment. Moreover, in this case the hedging strategy of the present section is not only self-financing but also admissible in the sense of Definition 3.2.3, since the corresponding value process – the solution of the above recurrence equations – cannot be negative.

Example 3.4.4. CONSTANT PORTFOLIO. It is not hard to see that a strategy of selecting a constant portfolio (a portfolio selected at the current date $t_0 = 0$ and kept unchanged over consecutive periods of trading) is the hedging strategy against some W_N , if and only if W_N is representable as a linear combination of the bond and stock prices B_N and S_N at $t_N = T$, which means that there are constants ϕ and ψ such that

$$W_N = \psi B_N + \phi S_N. \tag{3.4.4}$$

Indeed, in order to attain at $t_N = T$ the wealth W_N of the form (3.4.4), one has to invest the amount $v = \psi + \phi s$ ($s = S_0$ as usual) by buying currently, at $t_0 = 0$, ψ shares of the bond and ϕ shares of the stock. In other words, the investor has to select at $t_0 = 0$ the portfolio (Ψ_0, Φ_0) = (ψ, ϕ). If this portfolio is kept unchanged, i.e. (Ψ_n, Φ_n) = (ψ, ϕ) for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$, then the corresponding value process $V(\pi) = \{V_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ is given by

$$V_n(\pi) = \psi B_n + \phi S_n \tag{3.4.5}$$

so that we also have the desired equality $V_N(\pi) = W_N$.

Note that according to the assertion of Proposition 3.4.3 the discounted value process $\dot{V}(\pi) = \{\dot{V}_n(\pi)\}_{n=0,1,...,N}$ with $\dot{V}_n(\pi) = \psi + \phi \dot{S}_n$ solves the recurrence equations (3.3.22) subject to the boundary conditions $x_{kN} = \psi + \phi \dot{s}_{kN}$, $k = 1, \ldots, 2^N$. Hence the strategy $\pi = (\Psi_n, \Phi_n)_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ of holding the constant portfolio $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) = (\psi, \phi)$ is the hedging strategy against W_N as in (3.4.4).

3.5 Option pricing

3.5.1 European call option

Suppose that today, at time t = 0, we sign a contract giving us the right to buy one share of a stock at a specified price K, called the *exercise price*, and at a specified time T, called the *maturity* or *expiration time*. If the stock price S_T is below the exercise price at maturity, i.e. $S_T \leq K$, then the contract is worthless to us. On the other hand, if $S_T > K$, we can exercise our option: we can buy one share of the stock at the fixed price K and then sell it immediately in the market for the price S_T . Thus this option, called the *European call option*, yields a profit at maturity T equal to

$$\max\{0, S_T - K\} = (S_T - K)^+. \tag{3.5.1}$$

The function (3.5.1) of the stock price S_T at maturity T, is called the *payoff* function for the European call option.

Now, how much would we be willing to pay at time t = 0 for a ticket which gives the right to buy at maturity t = T one share of stock with exercise price K? To put this in another way, what is a fair price to pay at time t = 0for the ticket? This question has a direct answer only in the trivial case where the exercise price K lays outside the range of all possible values of S_T . If, for instance, the exercise price is too high (exceeding all possible values of S_T), then clearly the contract is worthless and the fair price of the ticket is 0. On the other hand, consider another extreme situation in which the exercise price K is too low; i.e. below all possible values of S_T , so that $S_T \ge K$. Obviously, the payoff function (3.5.1) then reduces to

$$S_T - K. \tag{3.5.2}$$

In order to determine the fair price to pay at time t = 0 for the ticket which entitles us to the payoff (3.5.2), suppose that instead of buying the ticket we act as follows. Currently, at t = 0, we borrow an amount K and buy one stock, where $K = K/B_T$ is the exercise price, discounted by the bond price B_T at maturity t = T. In terms of Section 3.2.1, we select the special portfolio $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) = (-\dot{K}, 1)$ by investing an amount $v = V_0(\pi) = s - \dot{K}$, where as usual $s = S_0 > 0$ is the stock price at t = 0. We keep consequently this portfolio unchanged over N periods of trading i.e. we hold the constant portfolio $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) = (-\dot{K}, 1)$ for all $n = 0, 1, \dots, N$ like in Example 3.4.4 where $\phi = 1$ and $\psi = -\dot{K}$. Our wealth at maturity $t_N = T$ will then amount to $V_T(\pi) = S_T - K$, which equals to the payoff (3.5.2); see (3.4.4) and (3.4.5) with $\phi = 1$ and $\psi = -\dot{K}$ (for convenience, we have identified $V_N(\pi)$, S_N and B_N with $V_T(\pi)$, S_T and B_T). In other words, holding the call with payoff (3.5.2) is exactly equivalent to holding the above mentioned portfolio which requires, as we have seen, the investment of the amount $v = S_0 - \dot{K}$. Any option price different from $S_0 - K$ would enable either the option seller or the option buyer to make a sure profit without any risk or, as is sometimes said, to have "free lunch" (in Section 3.6 below we will choose for the term "an arbitrage

opportunity"). It is natural, therefore, to conclude that the fair price of the equivalent call is $S_0 - \dot{K}$.

The discounted value process \hat{V} for the present strategy π of keeping the constant portfolio $(-\hat{K}, 1)$ is determined by substituting in the discounted version of (3.4.5) $\phi = 1$ and $\psi = -\hat{K}$, which yields

$$\dot{V}_n(\pi) = \dot{S}_n - \dot{K}, \ n = 0, 1, \dots, N.$$

It solves the recurrence equations (3.3.22), subject to the boundary conditions

$$x_{jN} = \dot{s}_{jN} - \dot{K} = \frac{s_{jN} - K}{B_N}, \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^N,$$

see Example 3.4.4. Hence the strategy of holding the portfolio $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) = (-\dot{K}, 1)$ for all $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ is the *hedging strategy* against the payoff (3.5.2).

Remark 3.5.1. The fair price of a call will be denoted throughout by C. Thus if the exercise price K in (3.5.1) is too high (exceeding all possible values of S_T), then C = 0. On the other hand, if the exercise price K is too low (below all possible values of S_T), then $C = S_0 - \dot{K}$. This is strictly positive if at least one of the states of \dot{S}_T is strictly below $S_0 = s$, so that also $\dot{K} < S_0$.

Although we have used above the "no arbitrage" principle to obtain fair option prices, we want to emphasize here that we will not need that principle in the next section where we give a formal definition of the fair price of a contingent claim.

3.5.2 Pricing a contingent claim

A contract with some fixed discounted payoff function \dot{H}_N that assigns to each of 2^N trajectories of the discounted stock price process some nonnegative numerical value, is called a *contingent claim*. Let $\{\dot{h}_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ be the states of \dot{H}_N , like in (3.3.21). The European call option is thus a special contingent claim with payoff (3.5.1). Consider, for example, the two period binomial model. Suppose that the contract we are going to sign yields the discounted payoff \dot{h}_{12} if the gross return on the stock goes down at both of trading times, \dot{h}_{22} if it first goes down and then up, \dot{h}_{32} if it first goes up and then down and \dot{h}_{42} if it goes up in both cases. If we deal with the European call option, then

$$\dot{h}_{12} = \frac{1}{r_1 r_2} (sd_1 d_2 - K)^+ \qquad \dot{h}_{22} = \frac{1}{r_1 r_2} (sd_1 u_2 - K)^+ \dot{h}_{32} = \frac{1}{r_1 r_2} (su_1 d_2 - K)^+ \qquad \dot{h}_{42} = \frac{1}{r_1 r_2} (su_1 u_2 - K)^+.$$

In contrast to the general case (3.3.21), the payoff (3.5.1) of the European call option makes no distinction between those states in which the terminal stock prices are identical, e.g. in the homogeneous model we get $\dot{h}_{22} = \dot{h}_{32}$.

The fair price of a contingent claim is defined by the same considerations as in the special case of the linear payoff (3.5.2). The procedure used in the preceding section can be described as follows:

3.5. OPTION PRICING

- (i) construct the hedging strategy against the contingent claim in question, which duplicates the payoff;
- (ii) determine the initial wealth needed for construction in (i);
- (iii) equate this initial wealth to the fair price of the contingent claim.

According to Proposition 3.4.3 the hedging strategy against the contingent claim with a payoff function \dot{H}_N consists in holding the portfolio with the components (3.2.10) and (3.2.11), where $\{\dot{v}_{kn}(\pi)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ are determined by solving the recurrence equations (3.3.22), subject to the boundary conditions (3.3.23). This strategy indeed duplicates the payoff, since $\dot{V}_N(\pi) = \dot{H}_N$. It requires the initial wealth $v = V_0(\pi)$ which is calculated according to (3.3.25):

$$v = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{h}_{kN}$$

with P_{kN} and \hat{h}_{kN} defined by (3.3.20) and (3.3.21), respectively. The fair price $C = C(\hat{H}_N)$ of the contingent claim with the payoff function \hat{H}_N is thus defined by

$$C(\dot{H}_N) = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{h}_{kN}.$$
(3.5.3)

The European call option (3.5.1), in particular, has a special payoff function depending only on the stock price at maturity $t_N = T$ and its fair price is

$$C = \sum_{k=1}^{2^{N}} P_{kN} (\dot{s}_{kN} - \dot{K})^{+}.$$
(3.5.4)

If all the weights are strictly positive summing up to 1 and $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ is a probability distribution, then we can apply (2.2.35) and (3.3.27) to get $C \geq s - \check{K}$. In view of Remark 3.5.1, this means that the fair price of the European call option is not less then the fair price of the contingent claim with linear payoff (3.5.2).

Let us turn back to the example of two period binomial model. Using the same notations as in Example 3.3.6 we get the fair price of the European call option

$$C = \frac{p_{d_1}p_{d_2}}{r_1r_2}(sd_1d_2 - K)^+ + \frac{p_{d_1}p_{u_2}}{r_1r_2}(sd_1u_2 - K)^+ + \frac{p_{u_1}p_{d_2}}{r_1r_2}(su_1d_2 - K)^+ + \frac{p_{u_1}p_{u_2}}{r_1r_2}(su_1u_2 - K)^+.$$
(3.5.5)

The call-put parity. Suppose that today, at time t = 0, we sign a contract which gives us the right to sell, at specified time T one share of a stock at a specified price K. If the stock price S_T is above the exercise price at maturity, i.e. $S_T \ge K$, the contract is worthless. On the other hand, if $S_T < K$, we can exercise our option: we can sell one share of the stock at the fixed price K and then buy it immediately in the market for the price S_T . Thus this option, called the *European put option*, yields the following profit at maturity T:

$$\max\{0, K - S_T\} = (K - S_T)^+.$$

This function $(K - S_T)^+$ of the stock price S_T at maturity T, is called the *payoff function* for the European put option. The fair price of a put is denoted by P, and according to our theory we have

$$P = \sum_{k=1}^{2^{N}} P_{kN} (\dot{K} - \dot{s}_{kN})^{+}.$$

Since

$$(S_T - K)^+ - (K - S_T)^+ = S_T - K,$$

we obtain by (2.2.35) and (3.3.27) the so-called call-put parity relationship:

$$C - P = \sum_{k=1}^{2^{N}} P_{kN}(\dot{s}_{kN} - \dot{K}) = s - \dot{K}.$$

Option strategies. We can easily use the linearity of the summation operator in (3.5.4) to evaluate options formed as certain linear combinations of contingent claims. For instance prices of *spreads* in the exercise price are obtained as linear combinations of individual option prices. Also the price of for instance a *strangle* with payoff function $|S_T - K|$ turns out to be C + P since $(S_T - K)^+ + (K - S_T)^+ = |S_T - K|$.

Examples of option pricing. We conclude this section by applications of the general option pricing formula (3.5.4) to the following special models.

Example 3.5.2. BINOMIAL MODEL. Consider first the homogeneous case. According to (3.5.5) in the two period model we have

$$C = \frac{1}{r^2} \left(p_d^2 (sd^2 - K)^+ + 2p_d p_u (sdu - K)^+ + p_u^2 (su^2 - K)^+ \right).$$

This extends straightforwardly to the N period model, since formula (3.3.25) reduces to (3.3.34) and

$$C = \frac{1}{r^N} \sum_{j=0}^{N} {\binom{N}{j}} p_u^j p_d^{N-j} (su^j d^{N-j} - K)^+$$
(3.5.6)

3.5. OPTION PRICING

which is the well-known Cox-Ross-Rubinstein option pricing formula, see [13].

As for the nonhomogeneous case, the fair price of the European call option is determined by applying formula (3.3.36). So, it equals

$$C = \sum_{\varepsilon_1 \dots \varepsilon_N} \frac{p_{\varepsilon_1} \dots p_{\varepsilon_N}}{r_1 \dots r_N} (s\varepsilon_1 \dots \varepsilon_N - K)^+.$$
(3.5.7)

This is the straightforward extension to the two period formula (3.5.5).

Example 3.5.3. 1^{st} ORDER MOVING AVERAGE. In this case we have (3.3.38) so that the fair price of the European call option equals

$$C = \sum_{\varepsilon_1 \dots \varepsilon_N} \frac{p_{\varepsilon_1} p_{\varepsilon_2 | \varepsilon_1} \dots p_{\varepsilon_N | \varepsilon_{N-1}}}{r_1 \dots r_N} (s(\varepsilon_1 + \alpha s)(\varepsilon_2 + \alpha \varepsilon_1) \dots (\varepsilon_N + \alpha \varepsilon_{N-1}) - K)^+.$$
(3.5.8)

3.6 Markets excluding arbitrage opportunities

3.6.1 Arbitrage opportunities

It will be shown in Proposition 3.6.2 below that under natural restrictions on the asset prices development in a binary market the possibility is excluded of making a profit without any initial endowment. More precisely, the possibility is excluded of constructing a self-financing trading strategy $\pi = (\Psi_n, \Phi_n)_{n=0,1,...,N}$ with an initial endowment

$$v = V_0(\pi) = \Psi_0 + \Phi_0 S_0 = 0 \tag{3.6.1}$$

and with a value process which attains at t_N only states with nonnegative values, i.e. $V_N(\pi) \ge 0$, and at least one state with a strictly positive value. A strategy of selecting such a portfolio is called an *arbitrage opportunity*. Thus, an arbitrage opportunity represents a riskless plan of making a profit without any investment: there is no threat of loss, since $V_N(\pi) \ge 0$ and moreover, there is a chance of a pure gain in case the stock price develops along one of those trajectories for which $V_N(\pi)$ attains one of the states with a strictly positive value. It is, therefore, economically meaningful (and mathematically useful, as we will see below), to treat separately the security markets which exclude arbitrage opportunities. These markets also allow for a certain economic equilibrium as will be seen in the concluding part of the present course.

Remark 3.6.1. Since negative values of the components of the portfolio (Ψ_0, Φ_0) at t = 0 are not excluded, there is no real reason for keeping the initial endowment $v = V_0(\pi) = \Psi_0 + \Phi_0 S_0$ nonnegative, as in Section 3.2.1. We may drop this assumption and take into consideration the possibility of an arbitrary initial endowment v, not necessarily $v = V_0(\pi) \ge 0$. The equality to 0 in (3.6.1) has to be replaced then by the sign \le . Note also that the trivial strategy with $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) \equiv (0, 0)$ is not an arbitrage opportunity.

Proposition 3.6.2. A binary market excludes arbitrage opportunities if and only if the states $\{\hat{s}_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of the discounted stock prices $\hat{S}_n, n = 1, \ldots, N$, take on values which satisfy the inequalities

$$\dot{s}_{2k-1\,n} < \dot{s}_{k\,n-1} < \dot{s}_{2k\,n} \tag{3.6.2}$$

for $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$ and n = 1, ..., N.

It is instructive to prove the assertion of Proposition 3.6.2 first in the special case of the one-period model where N = 1, because one can easily trace in that case the main idea behind the proof.

Lemma 3.6.3. (i) If the transition (2.3.6) of the stock price is such that

$$\dot{s}_{11} < s < \dot{s}_{21},\tag{3.6.3}$$

then for every portfolio $(\Psi_0, \Phi_0) = (\Psi_1, \Phi_1)$, whose value process satisfies

$$\{\dot{v}_{21}(\pi) > 0 \text{ and } \dot{v}_{11}(\pi) \ge 0\}$$
(3.6.4)

or

$$\{\dot{v}_{21}(\pi) \geq 0 \text{ and } \dot{v}_{11}(\pi) > 0\},\$$

we have $v = V_0(\pi) > 0$, so that there is no arbitrage opportunity.

(ii) Conversely, if (3.6.3) is violated, so that $s \leq \dot{s}_{11}$ or $s \geq \dot{s}_{21}$, then the trading strategy of selecting portfolio

$$\pi_0 = \pi_1 = (-\phi s, \phi) \tag{3.6.5}$$

 $with \ some$

$$\left\{ egin{array}{ll} \phi > 0 & if \ s \leq \grave{s}_{11} \ \phi < 0 & if \ s \geq \grave{s}_{21} \end{array}
ight.$$

is an arbitrage opportunity.

Proof. (i) Suppose that (3.6.3) and (3.6.4) hold. Put $\Psi_0 = \Psi_1 = \psi$ and $\Phi_0 = \Phi_1 = \phi$. If $\phi = 0$, then $V_0(\pi) = V_1(\pi) = \psi$ is strictly positive by (3.6.4). We get the desired strict inequality also for $\phi \neq 0$, since

$$V_0(\pi) = \psi + \phi s > \begin{cases} \psi + \phi \dot{s}_{21} = \dot{v}_{21}(\pi) \ge 0 & \text{if } \phi < 0 \\ \\ \psi + \phi \dot{s}_{11} = \dot{v}_{11}(\pi) \ge 0 & \text{if } \phi > 0. \end{cases}$$

(ii) To see that the portfolio (3.6.5) yields an arbitrage opportunity, observe that $v = V_0(\pi) = -\phi s + \phi s = 0$ and that $\dot{V}_1(\pi) = \phi(\dot{S}_1 - s)$ can be in two alternative states: either $\dot{v}_{21}(\pi) = \phi(\dot{s}_{21} - s)$ or $\dot{v}_{11}(\pi) = \phi(\dot{s}_{11} - s)$. By the definition of ϕ these states satisfy condition (3.6.4). Hence, the portfolio (3.6.5) yields an arbitrage opportunity.

Corollary 3.6.4. The assertion in Proposition 3.6.2 holds in the special case where N = 1.

Proof. We note that the notion of self-financing is empty in case N = 1. (i) The sufficiency of (3.6.3) for excluding arbitrage opportunities is indeed reduced to the statement (i) that under (3.6.3) and (3.6.4) we have $v = V_0(\pi) > 0$ whatever the components $\Psi_0 = \Psi_1 = \psi$ and $\Phi_0 = \Phi_1 = \phi$ of a portfolio, hence the self-financing strategy attaining (3.6.4) cannot be an arbitrage opportunity.

3.6.2 Proof of Proposition 3.6.2

Let us turn back to the general multi-period model of a binary market. It is useful to extend first in a separate lemma the arguments used in the course of proving assertion (i) of Lemma 3.6.3.

Lemma 3.6.5. Let the discounted value process $\dot{V}(\pi) = {\dot{V}_n(\pi)}_{n=0,...,N}$ of a self-financing strategy π be such that for some trading time $t_n, n \in {1,...,N}$, we have $\dot{V}_n(\pi) \ge 0$ and at the same time at least one of the states ${\dot{v}_{kn}(\pi)}_{k=1,...,i}$

takes on a strictly positive value. Then under condition (3.6.2) $\dot{V}_{n-1}(\pi)$ is of the same type: $\dot{V}_{n-1}(\pi) \geq 0$ and at least one of the states $\{\dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ takes on a strictly positive value.

Proof. Since the self-financing condition (3.2.14) is assumed to hold, the set of states $\{\hat{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ at the fixed trading time t_{n-1} satisfies

$$\dot{v}_{k\,n-1}(\pi) = \psi_{k\,n-1} + \phi_{k\,n-1}\dot{s}_{k\,n-1},\tag{3.6.6}$$

with strict inequality if $\dot{v}_{2jn}(\pi) = \dot{v}_{2j-1n}(\pi) > 0$, as we already know. If $\phi_{jn-1} \neq 0$, then by assumption (3.6.2) and by (3.6.6)

$$\dot{v}_{j\,n-1}(\pi) > \begin{cases} \psi_{j\,n-1} + \phi_{j\,n-1} \dot{s}_{2j\,n} = \dot{v}_{2j\,n}(\pi) \ge 0 \text{ if } \phi_{j\,n-1} < 0 \\ \psi_{j\,n-1} + \phi_{j\,n-1} \dot{s}_{2j-1\,n} = \dot{v}_{2j-1\,n}(\pi) \ge 0 \text{ if } \phi_{j\,n-1} > 0. \end{cases}$$

The proof is complete.

We present now the proof of Proposition 3.6.2.

Proof. (i) Suppose that condition (3.6.2) holds and suppose we have a selffinancing strategy for which $\dot{V}_N(\pi) \ge 0$, with at least one strictly positive state. We will show that this strategy requires a positive investment $v = V_0(\pi) > 0$ and therefore cannot be an arbitrage opportunity. To prove this claim we apply Lemma 3.6.5. If $\dot{V}_N(\pi)$ is of the above type, then $\dot{V}_{N-1}(\pi)$ is of the same type, and so on. Hence the states of $\dot{V}_1(\pi)$ satisfy (3.6.4) and by Lemma 3.6.3, assertion (i), we have $v = V_0(\pi) > 0$.

(ii) As in the special case of N = 1 (cf Lemma 3.6.3, assertion (ii)), the necessity of (3.6.2) for N > 1 will be proved by contradiction: it will be shown that there is an arbitrage opportunity, provided (3.6.2) is violated. Suppose that for some $m \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ we have

$$\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \le \dot{s}_{2j-1\,m} \tag{3.6.7}$$

or

 $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \geq \dot{s}_{2j\,m}$

for some $j \in \{1, \ldots, 2^{m-1}\}$. Consider the self-financing strategy of selecting the following portfolio. At the trading times preceding t_m we take the trivial portfolio:

 $(\Psi_n, \Phi_n) = (0, 0), \text{ for } n < m.$

At t_m the portfolio (Ψ_m, Φ_m) is selected according to

$$(\psi_{k\,m-1},\phi_{k\,m-1}) = \begin{cases} (0,0) & \text{if } k \neq j \\ (-\phi s_{j\,m-1},\phi) & \text{if } k = j \end{cases}$$
(3.6.8)

where $\phi > 0$ if $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \leq \dot{s}_{2j-1\,m}$ and $\phi < 0$ if $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \geq \dot{s}_{2j\,m}$.

3.6. MARKETS EXCLUDING ARBITRAGE OPPORTUNITIES

Next, at t_{m+1} the portfolio (Ψ_{m+1}, Φ_{m+1}) is nonzero only when k = j and

$$\begin{cases} (\psi_{2j\,m}, \phi_{2j\,m}) &= (\phi(\dot{s}_{2j\,m} - \dot{s}_{j\,m-1}), 0) \\ (\psi_{2j-1\,m}, \phi_{2j-1\,m}) &= (\phi(\dot{s}_{2j-1\,m} - \dot{s}_{j\,m-1}), 0). \end{cases}$$
(3.6.9)

Finally, for n > m + 1 we do not change the portfolio (Ψ_n, Φ_n) anymore (note that this strategy is self-financing). Choosing for this strategy, the investor is not taking any risk before and after the trading time t_{m-1} . Awaiting the stock price announcement at the trading time t_{m-1} , the investor acts only if state $s_{j\,m-1}$ occurs, by selecting the portfolio according to (3.6.8) and choosing the appropriate sign of ϕ . It will be shown that this strategy is an arbitrage opportunity. Observe that the corresponding value process evolves as follows: $V_n(\pi) = 0$ for all $n = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1$, while $\dot{V}_m(\pi) \ge 0$ is in one of the following states. Fix $k \in \{1, \ldots, 2^{m-1}\}$. If $k \neq j$, then both $\dot{v}_{2k\,m}$ and $\dot{v}_{2k-1\,m}$ vanish. If k = j we have

$$\begin{aligned} \hat{v}_{2k\,m}(\pi) &= \phi(\hat{s}_{2j\,m} - \hat{s}_{j\,m-1}) \\ \hat{v}_{2k-1\,m}(\pi) &= \phi(\hat{s}_{2j-1\,m} - \hat{s}_{j\,m-1}). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore either

$$\{\dot{v}_{2j\,m}(\pi) > 0 \text{ and } \dot{v}_{2j-1\,m}(\pi) \ge 0\}$$

or

$$\{\dot{v}_{2j\,m}(\pi) \ge 0 \text{ and } \dot{v}_{2j-1\,m}(\pi) > 0\},\$$

depending on whether $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \leq \dot{s}_{2j-1\,m}$ or $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} \geq \dot{s}_{2j\,m}$. Hence, there is no threat of loss. Moreover, if at t_{m-1} the stock price is in state $s_{j\,m-1}$, then a pure gain is attained (unless the next state is either $s_{2j-1\,m}$ and $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} = \dot{s}_{2j-1\,m}$, or $s_{2j\,m}$ and $\dot{s}_{j\,m-1} = \dot{s}_{2j\,m}$). Since in the subsequent trading intervals no risk is taken, the investor's wealth remains nonnegative, and thus the above strategy is indeed an arbitrage opportunity. The proof of Proposition 3.6.2 is complete.

Note that condition (3.6.2) can be written in the following alternative form: for n = 1, ..., N

$$M < r_n < m \tag{3.6.10}$$

where $z_{kn} = s_{kn}/s_{k_1n-1}$, cf (2.3.14), while M and m are the maximum and the minimum, respectively, over the set $\{z_{2k-1n} : k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}\}$.

3.6.3 No arbitrage for moving averages models

The condition of no arbitrage is simply tractable in the following

Example 3.6.6. BINOMIAL MODEL. Since $z_{2k-1n} = d_n$ and $z_{2kn} = u_n$ whatever the index k (cf Example 2.3.2), the condition (3.6.10) for no arbitrage opportunities reduces to

$$d_n < r_n < u_n \text{ for } n = 1, ..., N.$$

For the general moving averages model of Section 2.3.2, however, the condition of no arbitrage opportunities is quite complicated, since (3.6.10) means that $d_1 < r_1 < u_1$ and for $n = 2, \ldots, N$

$$M + d_n < r_n < m + u_n$$

where the maximum $M = \max\{\alpha_{n-1}e_{k_{n-1}} + \cdots + \alpha_1e_{k_1}e_{k$

Example 3.6.7. 1st ORDER MOVING AVERAGES MODEL. In the present model of a market with $\alpha_1 = \alpha$ and $\alpha_2 = \cdots = \alpha_{n-1} = 0$ (cf (2.3.28)) arbitrage opportunities are excluded only if

$$|\alpha| < \frac{u_n - d_n}{u_{n-1} - d_{n-1}}$$
 for $n = 2, \dots, N$.

In this case the above condition of no arbitrage opportunities reduces to the following conditions:

$$\begin{cases} d_1 < r_1 < u_1 \\ \\ \alpha u_{n-1} + d_n < r_n < \alpha d_{n-1} + u_n & \text{for } n = 2, \dots, N \end{cases}$$

if α is positive and

$$\begin{cases} d_1 < r_1 < u_1 \\ \alpha d_{n-1} + d_n < r_n < \alpha u_{n-1} + u_n \text{ for } n = 2, \dots, N \end{cases}$$

if α is negative.

Part II

Towards Continuous-Time Models

Chapter 4

Poisson Approximation

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter the material is used of Part I. Most of this material is presented in Section 4.2 in the form aimed at the limiting transition in Section 4.4 towards the Poisson model. See Section 4.4 for details on this model; for some related references see e.g. [12], [14], [16], [32], [39], [61] and [64]. The presentation in this chapter is kept at the same low technical level as in Part I. A path by path approach pursued here is based on certain unsophisticated algebraic considerations, in contrast with the usual treatment based on a probabilistic approach, namely on a martingale approach. The results obtained in this manner in Section 4.4 are of an heuristic nature, for the full rigour would require higher technical level of the general theory of stochastic processes, see e.g. [1], [2], [22], [46], [50] and [51].

As in Chapter 2, it is assumed that in a securities market two assets, called the bond and stock, are traded during the time interval [0, T]. New prices on both assets are announced at certain fixed trading times, say $t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_N$ where $t_0 = 0$ is the current date and $t_N = T$ the terminal date. Thus the whole time interval [0, T] is divided in N trading periods by a grid $\{t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$. It is supposed throughout the present chapter that the number N of the trading times is very large, and possibilities are sought for approximating the option pricing formulas of Part I, Section 3.5. To this end, we let $N \to \infty$. We can expect in the limit sensible results if only the grid $\{t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$ of trading times becomes finer and finer in the sense that the mesh size of the grid tends to zero as $N \to \infty$ (the mesh size is the maximal length of the trading periods) and if the asset prices are made dependent on the index N in a certain special manner. See Section 4.2.1 for the conditions under which the Poisson approximation of the present paper is obtained. Asymptotically, the cumulative return process on the bond is assumed to increase with a constant interest rate, see (4.3.11). The asymptotics of the returns on the stock is characterized by the displacements at certain random instants, upwards with a constant amplitude or downwards with an infinitesimal amplitude, cf (4.3.17) or (4.3.18). To these displacements certain weights are assigned (called as in Part I, Section 3.3.1, risk neutral probabilities, cf (4.3.35) and (4.3.36)) so that under the conditions 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 the approximation (4.3.40) becomes valid. Using probabilistic terminology one may argue that the upward displacements become rare events, since the right hand side in (4.3.40) is infinitesimal, of magnitude 1/T. This is the necessary prerequisite for the Poisson approximation of Section 4.4.

In Section 4.3 the complete description is provided of the Poisson model (or Merton's model, as it is sometimes called, cf [53]). The price processes on the bond and the stock are given by (4.4.2) and (4.4.4), respectively, see (4.4.1) and (4.4.3) for the corresponding returns. The Poisson model describes the situation when the stock price develops with sudden jumps of a constant amplitude at random instants. As usual, the self-financing strategy in the Poisson model is defined by the portfolio selection founded only on an initial endowment so that all changes in the portfolio values are due to capital gains during trading and no infusion or withdrawal of funds is allowed. It is shown that the value process of a self-financing strategy has the integral representation and, moreover, Clark's formula holds; cf the Propositions 4.3.5 and 4.3.7 in the binary case and the similar Propositions 4.4.2 and 4.3.5 in the Poisson case. As was already mentioned, the usage of this term in both of these cases stems from the analogy to the genuine Clark formula in [58] or in [59].

Next, it is shown in Proposition 4.4.3 that this value process satisfies the differential equations (4.4.29) which play the same rôle in the Poisson case as equations (4.3.46) in the binary case. In particular, they entail the completeness of a Poisson market, see Proposition 4.4.5. The hedging strategy against any desired wealth is explicitly defined by the portfolio components (4.4.32) and (4.4.33) in terms of the Poisson distribution (4.2.14) (in fact, the right hand side of (4.4.35) is a certain conditional expectation). This gives rise to the term *Poisson market*.

Finally, the option pricing formulas are presented for contingent claims (see (4.4.36) with a Poisson expectation on the right hand side) and for the European call option in particular, see Proposition 4.4.6.

The integral representations (4.3.30) and (4.4.26) mentioned above involve the Riemann-Stieltjes integrals with respect to piecewise continuous functions. Certain elementary facts concerning this kind of functions and respective integrals are gathered in the next section.
4.2 Auxiliary notions and results

4.2.1 Piecewise continuous functions

In this chapter the asset prices are supposed to evolve along piecewise continuous trajectories within a time period [0, T]. Therefore we will need to settle some notations and to present some common facts concerning functions of this type. For the definitions below we make use of the indicator function $I_{\mathcal{T}}$ of a set $\mathcal{T} \subset [0, T]$ which is a function of time $t \in [0, T]$ such that

$$I_{\mathcal{T}}(t) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } t \in \mathcal{T} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$

Let F be a function of the same argument $t \in [0, T]$, discontinuous at certain instants T_1, \ldots, T_m so that $0 < T_1 < \ldots < T_m \leq T$ and continuous in-between. Let F be defined within the time stretch between the jumps by means of certain continuous functions $\{f_k\}_{k=0,1,\ldots,m}$ so that

$$F(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} f_k(t) I_{[T_k, T_{k+1})}(t).$$
(4.2.1)

Let us set $T_0 = 0$ and $T_{m+1} \ge T$ for convenience. Note that F is a rightcontinuous function in the sense that by approaching an instant $t \in [0, T)$ from the right we get $\lim_{s \downarrow t} F(s) = F(t)$. With this function F another function $F_$ is associated by the following conventions: $F_-(0) = F(0)$ and $F_-(t) = F(t-) \doteq \lim_{s \uparrow t} F(s)$ for $t \in (0, T]$. By continuity of the components $\{f_k\}_{k=0,1,\ldots,n}$ we have

$$F_{-}(t) = f_{0}(t)I_{[T_{0},T_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} f_{k}(t)I_{(T_{k},T_{k+1}]}(t).$$
(4.2.2)

Obviously, F_{-} is a left-continuous function. We will write alternatively F(t) or F_t , F(t-) or F_{t-} , for the notation with the variable as a subscript is more widely used in stochastic calculus. Next, the function ΔF of jumps of F is defined by $\Delta F = F - F_{-}$. In view of (4.2.1) and (4.2.2), ΔF takes on non-zero values only at the instants of discontinuity T_1, \ldots, T_m when

$$\Delta F(T_k) = f_k(T_k) - f_{k-1}(T_k), \quad k = 1, \dots, m.$$
(4.2.3)

Riemann-Stieltjes integrals. In the Propositions 4.3.5 and 4.4.2 integral representations are asserted, in terms of the Riemann-Stieltjes integrals with respect to piecewise continuous functions. The definition of such integrals is as follows (see e.g. [65], Section II.6.10, for more details).

Let H be a piecewise continuous function of the same type as F, with the representation similar to (4.2.1)

$$H(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} h_k(t) I_{[T_k, T_{k+1})}(t).$$

The function H_{-} is then defined similarly to (4.2.2). The integral of H_{-} with respect to F is a function G of the same type as F. Namely, at time $t \in [0, T]$ the integral

$$G(t) \doteq \int_0^t H_{u-} dF_u$$

is represented in the form

$$G(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} g_k(t) I_{[T_k, T_{k+1})}(t)$$

where

$$g_k(t) = g_k(T_k) + \int_{T_k}^t h_k(u) df_k(u)$$

for $t \in [T_k, T_{k+1})$, with $g_0(0) = 0$ and

$$g_k(T_k) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} \int_{T_j}^{T_{j+1}} h_j(u) df_j(u) + \sum_{j=1}^k h_{j-1}(T_j) \Delta F(T_j)$$

for k = 1, ..., m. To give a proper meaning to the integrals just introduced, assume all $\{f_k\}_{k=0,1,...,n}$ to be of bounded variation. Though this is truly superfluous, as in the present paper only continuously differentiable functions f_k will occur, with $df_k(u)$ to be understood as $f'_k(u)du$ where f'_k is the derivative of f_k . We often will use the alternative notation

$$\int_0^t H_{u-} dF_u = H_- \cdot F_t,$$

usual in stochastic calculus. Note that for k = 1, ..., m and $t \in [T_k, T_{k+1})$

$$g_k(t) - g_{k-1}(T_k) = h_{k-1}(T_k)\Delta F(T_k) + \int_{T_k}^t h_k(u)df_k(u).$$

Hence by (4.2.3)

$$\Delta(H_- \cdot F) = H_- \Delta F. \tag{4.2.4}$$

In Section 4.3 the trajectories of price development are certain piecewise constant functions. In this special case of F given by (4.2.1) with the constant components $f_k(t) \equiv f_k$, it follows from (4.2.4) that

$$H_{-} \cdot F_{t} = \sum_{u \in [0,t]} H_{u-} \Delta F_{u}.$$
(4.2.5)

Integration by parts. Integrals defined in the previous section allow for integrating by parts: for each $t \in [0, T]$

$$H_tF_t - H_0F_0 = H_- \cdot F_t + F_- \cdot H_t + [H, F]$$

where

$$[H,F] = \sum_{u \in [0,t]} \Delta H_u \Delta F_u$$

as in Chapter 2, Formulas (2.2.7) and (2.2.8) (see [65], Section II.6.11 for more details). In the course of proving Proposition 4.3.5 we will use the following consequence of this integration by parts formula.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let H', F' and H'', F'' be piecewise continuous functions of the above type. The function

F = F'H' + F''H''

has integral representation

$$F - F_0 = H' \cdot F' + H'' \cdot F''$$

if and only if

 $F'_- \cdot H' + F''_- \cdot H'' = 0.$

Exponentials. The details on the material of present section can be found in [65], Section II.6.12. See also [30], [45] or [63].

Obviously, in case of a continuous function F of bounded variation the solution of the integral equation

$$H_t = 1 + H_- \cdot F_t \tag{4.2.6}$$

is uniquely defined by

 $H_t = e^{F_t - F_0}.$

In the another extreme case of a piecewise constant F

$$H_t = \prod_{u \in [0,t]} (1 + \Delta F_u).$$

In case of a piecewise continuous function ${\cal F}$ the above two cases are combined in the solution

$$H_t = e^{F_t - F_0} \prod_{u \in [0,t]} (1 + \Delta F_u) e^{-\Delta F_u}.$$
(4.2.7)

In stochastic calculus the solution to (4.2.6) is usually denoted by $H_t = \mathcal{E}(F)_t$ and called Doléans-Dade exponential (or stochastic exponential). We apply (4.2.7) to the following special case. Let $\mathcal{N} = {\mathcal{N}_t}_{t \in [0,T]}$ be the so-called *counting process* with $\mathcal{N}(t)$ which counts the number of jumps observed up to time $t \in [0,T]$. By assumption $\mathcal{N}(0) = 0$. Further $\mathcal{N}(t) = 0$ if no jumps occur up to time t and $\mathcal{N}(t) = k$ if and only if $T_k \leq t$ for $k \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$. Let

$$F(t) = a(\mathcal{N}(t) - \lambda t)$$

with certain positive numbers a and λ , cf (4.4.6). Then

$$\Delta F_t = \begin{cases} a & \text{if } t \in \{T_1, \dots, T_m\} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Hence (cf (4.4.5))

$$\mathcal{E}(F)_t = (1+a)^{\mathcal{N}(t)} e^{-a\lambda t}.$$

Difference operator in the state space. In the present chapter the asset prices will be allowed to evolve along piecewise continuous trajectories, but the discontinuities in Sections 4.3 and 4.4 are of a completely different nature.

In Section 4.3 the situation of Chapter 2 is retained in which new prices are announced at fixed trading times, denoted by t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N with $t_0 = 0$ and $t_N = T$. Since in-between the prices remain unchanged, the trajectories of their development are piecewise constant, of type (4.2.1) but with the functions in the sum on the right hand side replaced by constants and with the instants T_j fixed to be exactly N + 1 trading times mentioned above. Moreover, in Section 4.3 the stock price processes, the value processes etc. are again risky, described by means of the same binary sequence $\{X_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots}$ as in the last subsection of Part I, Section 2.2.1. They all will then get the form $X = \{X_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ say, with

$$X(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} X_n I_{[t_n, t_{n+1})}(t), \qquad (4.2.8)$$

cf e.g. (4.3.2) below. The definition of the difference operator D in the state space of such processes is straightforward: the process $DX = \{DX_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined so that

$$DX(t) = DX_1 I_{[t_0, t_1]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^N DX_{n+1} I_{(t_n, t_{n+1}]}(t), \qquad (4.2.9)$$

with the same DX_n as in Part I, Section 2.2.1. Recall that we have set $DX_0 = DX_1$. According to the definition (4.2.2), we associate with X the process $X_- = \{X(t-)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ where

$$X(t-) = X_1 I_{[t_0,t_1]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N} X_{n+1} I_{(t_n,t_{n+1}]}(t), \qquad (4.2.10)$$

cf (4.2.2). Any process of the latter type, e.g. DX, is called *predictable*. For, the knowledge that X(t-) is in state x_{kn} allows one to predict that DX(t) will

be in state $D_k(X_{n+1}) = x_{2k n+1} - x_{2k-1 n+1}$, cf Part I, Formulas (2.2.16) and (2.2.17). Note that if Ψ and Φ are two predictable processes, then we have the same relation (2.2.18) as in Part I.

In Section 4.4 the source of uncertainty will be completely different. A special securities market will be treated in which some fixed net returns on the stock occur unexpectedly at certain instants. The possible trajectories of the stock price processes, the value processes etc. get then the form (4.2.1) with certain fixed functions on the right hand side and with the instants of jumps T_j . To adequately define the difference operator D in the state space of such processes, we argue as follows. Suppose that there where exactly k jumps prior to the instant t so that F(t-) takes on the value $f_k(t)$. Then at time t either nothing happens or a new jump does occur. Consequently, the value of the function F(t) either remains $f_k(t)$ or gets equal to $f_{k+1}(t)$. Clearly, the latter switch takes place if the k + 1th jump does occur at instant t. By this consideration, at instant t the difference operator D is applied to the function F as follows: if F(t-) has taken on the value $f_k(t)$, then DF(t) takes on the value

$$D_{k+1}(F_t) \doteq f_{k+1}(t) - f_k(t). \tag{4.2.11}$$

Hence the process $DF = \{DF_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined by

$$DF(t) = D_1(F_t)I_{[0,T_1]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m D_{k+1}(F_t)I_{(T_k,T_{k+1}]}(t)$$
(4.2.12)

with the states given by (4.2.11). Compare (4.2.2) and (4.2.12) to conclude that DF is a process in time of the same type as F_{-} . This process, as well as any process of type F_{-} , is called predictable. Note again that if Ψ and Φ are two predictable processes, then we have

$$D(\Psi + \Phi F) = \Psi + \Phi DF, \qquad (4.2.13)$$

the same relation (2.2.18) as in Part I, Section 2.2.1.

4.2.2 Differential-difference equations

Poisson distribution. In the probability theory the Poisson distribution with intensity $\lambda > 0$ is defined by $\mathcal{P}_{\lambda} = \{p_i(\lambda)\}_{i=0,1,\dots}$ with

$$p_j(\lambda) = \frac{\lambda^j}{j!} e^{-\lambda}.$$
(4.2.14)

The positive numbers (4.2.14) sum up to 1, so that \mathcal{P}_{λ} is a probability distribution. Note that definition (4.2.14) extends to $\lambda = 0$ as follows:

$$p_j(0) = \delta_{j0} \doteq \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } j = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.15)

Here we use again Kronecker's symbol, as in Part I, Section 2.2.2. The following property of the Poisson distribution is well-known.

Lemma 4.2.2. At each $t \in (0,T]$ let the Poisson distribution $\mathcal{P}_{t\lambda} = \{p_j(t\lambda)\}_{j=0}$ be defined by (4.2.14) with the intensity $t\lambda$. This distribution satisfies the following system of differential-difference equations

$$\frac{dp_j(t\lambda)}{dt} = -\lambda(p_j(t\lambda) - p_{j-1}(t\lambda)), \quad j = 0, 1, \dots$$

with $p_{-1}(t\lambda) \equiv 0$ and the initial conditions (4.2.15).

Proof. This is easily verified by the direct differentiation of (4.2.14).

For more details see, e.g. [34], vol 1, Section 17.2, or [11], Section 4.1.

Solution to the differential-difference equations. Let $t \in [0, T]$. Consider the system of differential-difference equations

$$\frac{d\hat{x}_k(t)}{dt} = -\lambda \left(\hat{x}_{k+1}(t) - \hat{x}_k(t) \right), \quad k = 0, 1, \dots,$$
(4.2.16)

subject to the boundary conditions

$$\hat{x}_k(T) = \hat{h}_k(T), \quad k = 0, 1, \dots,$$
(4.2.17)

with given numbers $\{\dot{h}_k(T)\}_{k=0,1,\ldots}$. The parameter $\lambda > 0$ is the same as in (4.2.14), cf also (4.4.13) and (4.4.29) below. Lemma 4.2.2 allows for the following explicit solution of the system of equations (4.2.16).

Proposition 4.2.3. The system (4.2.16) of differential equations in the interval $t \in [0, T]$, subject to the boundary conditions (4.2.17), is satisfied by

$$\dot{x}_k(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t))\dot{h}_{k+j}(T), \quad k = 0, 1, \dots$$
(4.2.18)

provided that the numbers $\{\dot{h}_k(T)\}_{k=0,1,...}$ allow the differentiation under the summation sign. In particular

$$\dot{x}_0(0) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T) \dot{h}_j(T).$$
(4.2.19)

Proof. The boundary conditions (4.2.17) are satisfied due to property (4.2.15) of the Poisson distribution. Differentiating both sides of (4.2.18) we get by Lemma 4.2.2 that

$$\frac{d\dot{x}_k(t)}{dt} = -\lambda \{\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} p_{j-1}(\lambda(T-t))\dot{h}_{k+j}(T) - \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t))\dot{h}_{k+j}(T)\} = -\lambda \left(\dot{x}_{k+1}(t) - \dot{x}_k(t)\right).$$

This yields (4.2.16). The proof is complete.

4.3 Binary market

4.3.1 Conditions on the bond and stock price processes

Consider a binary securities market in which the bond and stock are traded during the time interval [0,T] which is partitioned in N trading periods by a grid $\{t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$. Unlike in Chapter 2, the prices on the bond and stock announced at the n^{th} trading time t_n with $n \in \{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$ are now denoted by B_n^N and S_n^N , respectively, in order to express the dependence on N. Moreover, the corresponding price processes $B^N = \{B_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ and $S^N = \{S_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ are defined in the entire time interval [0,T] by

$$B^{N}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} B_{n}^{N} I_{[t_{n}, t_{n+1})}(t)$$
(4.3.1)

and

$$S^{N}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} S_{n}^{N} I_{[t_{n}, t_{n+1})}(t).$$
(4.3.2)

As in (4.2.1), an additional instant $t_{N+1} \ge T$ is introduced for convenience. Put $B^N(0) = 1$ and $S^N(0) = s$ for simplicity, where s is a certain positive number. The discounted stock price process is denoted as in Chapter 2 by $\hat{S}^N = \{\hat{S}_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with

$$\dot{S}^{N}(t) = \frac{S^{N}(t)}{B^{N}(t)}.$$
(4.3.3)

The bond is a riskless asset and the price process B^N evolves along a prescribed piecewise constant trajectory, while the stock is a risky asset and the price process S^N is allowed to evolve along 2^N different piecewise constant trajectories. These trajectories are specified by the binary transition scheme of Part I, Section 2.3.1. They all start from the same fixed state s, the current state of the stock price

$$s = s_{10}^N > 0.$$

Further, the whole price tree is uniquely determined by two offsprings at each trading time. If at t_{n-1} with $n = 1, \ldots, N$ the stock price was in state s_{kn-1}^N , then at the consecutive trading time t_n it is announced either in state s_{2kn}^N or s_{2k-1n}^N with

$$s_{2kn}^N > s_{2k-1n}^N > 0.$$

Hence if $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$ with some $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$ the stock price $S^N(t)$ may occupy one of the states $\{s_k^N(t)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ with $s_k^N(t) \equiv s_{kn}^N$. During the first period $[t_0, t_1)$, for instance, the stock price stays in the current state s > 0. At the terminal date $t_N = T$ the stock price $S^N(T)$ may occupy one of 2^N states $s_k^N(T)$ with some $k = 1, \ldots, 2^N$. In Part I, Section 2.3.1, we have agreed to also say that the stock price evolves along the k^{th} trajectory. In order to describe the stock price development along this particular trajectory, we specify the stock price state at each $t \in [t_n, t_{n+1})$ for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ by the identity $s_{k_{N-n}}^N(t) \equiv s_{k_{N-n}n}^N$ where k_n is the n^{th} dyadic fraction of k, i.e.

$$k_n = \lceil k/2^n \rceil, \tag{4.3.4}$$

see Part I, Section 2.2.2, for more details. Note that by definition

$$S^{N}(t-) = sI_{[t_{0},t_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} S_{n}^{N} I_{(t_{n},t_{n+1}]}(t), \qquad (4.3.5)$$

cf (4.2.10).

We shall now formulate the conditions of the present chapter which restrict the behaviour of asset prices in the market, to allow for the limiting transition in Section 4.5 below, when the number of trading periods N increases unboundedly while the stretch of each trading period, say $\Delta t_n = t_n - t_{n-1}$ with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, tends to zero. For instance, think of the special case of markets where new prices are announced regularly so that the trading times are equidistant, given by $t_n = nT/N$, and the corresponding mesh is given by $\Delta t_n = T/N$ (see Section 4.5.1 below for more details on this special case). In fact, all the entries $\{t_j\}_{j=0,1,\ldots,N}$ in the N^{th} grid depend on N and one should write $\{t_j^N\}_{j=0,1,\ldots,N}$ instead, but for simplicity the upper index is always suppressed.

Our conditions will be formulated in terms of net returns on both assets. At the current date $t_0 = 0$ the net return on the bond equals to 0 by convention and at $t \in (0, T]$ to

$$\Delta \mathcal{R}^{N}(t) \doteq \frac{\Delta B_{t}^{N}}{B_{t-}^{N}} = \frac{B_{t}^{N}}{B_{t-}^{N}} - 1.$$
(4.3.6)

Obviously, this is non-zero only at $t \in \{t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$. The cumulative return process on the bond $\mathcal{R}^N = \{\mathcal{R}^N_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined as the sum of all previous net returns:

$$\mathcal{R}^{N}(t) = \sum_{u \in (0,t]} \frac{\Delta B_{u}^{N}}{B_{u-}^{N}} = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{dB_{u}^{N}}{B_{u-}^{N}}$$
(4.3.7)

and, in terms of Section 4.2.1,

Ì

$$B^{N}(t) = \prod_{u \in (0,t]} (1 + \Delta \mathcal{R}_{u}^{N}) = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{R}^{N})_{t}.$$
(4.3.8)

Condition 4.3.1. As $N \to \infty$ the increase of the return process on the bond over each trading period becomes proportional to the length of this period: for each n = 1, ..., N

$$\frac{\mathcal{R}^N(t_n) - \mathcal{R}^N(t_{n-1})}{t_n - t_{n-1}} = r + \varrho_n^N,$$

where r > 0 is a positive constant, while ϱ_n^N is a negligible remainder term.

4.3. BINARY MARKET

Obviously, Condition 4.3.1 means that at the trading time t_n with $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ the return on the bond

$$\rho_n^N \doteq \Delta \mathcal{R}^N(t_n) = \mathcal{R}^N(t_n) - \mathcal{R}^N(t_{n-1})$$
(4.3.9)

is asymptotically proportional to the length of the preceding period:

$$\rho_n^N = (r + \varrho_n^N) \Delta t_n \sim r \Delta t_n. \tag{4.3.10}$$

Here and elsewhere below the sign \sim indicates that the ratio of the two sides tends to unity. In view of (4.3.6)–(4.3.8), we have for each $t \in [0, T]$ that

$$\mathcal{R}^N(t) \sim rt \tag{4.3.11}$$

 and

$$B^N(t) \sim e^{rt}.\tag{4.3.12}$$

Indeed, by (4.3.10)

$$\log B^N(t) \sim \sum_k \log(1 + r\Delta t_k) \sim r \sum_k \Delta t_k$$

(here $\log(1+x) \sim x$ is used) and

$$\mathcal{R}^N(t) \sim r \sum_k \Delta t_k \sim rt$$

where the summation extends over the lengths of all past periods prior to time t. Asymptotically, this means that the cumulative return process on the bond is assumed to increase with a constant interest rate r.

The cumulative return process on the stock $R^N = \{R_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined similarly as the sum of all previous net returns. At the current date $t_0 = 0$ the net return equals to 0 and at $t \in (0,T]$ to

$$\Delta R^N(t) \doteq \frac{\Delta S_t^N}{S_{t-}^N} = \frac{S_t^N}{S_{t-}^N} - 1.$$

Obviously, the latter expression is non-zero only at $t \in \{t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$. So

$$R^{N}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{dS_{u}^{N}}{S_{u-}^{N}} = \sum_{u \in (0,t]} \frac{\Delta S_{u}^{u}}{S_{u-}^{N}}$$

 and

$$S^{N}(t) = s\mathcal{E}(R^{N})_{t} = s\prod_{u \in (0,t]} (1 + \Delta R_{u}^{N}), \qquad (4.3.13)$$

analogously to (4.3.7) and (4.3.8). In Part I, Section 2.3.1, we also introduced the discounted cumulative return process $\hat{R}^N = \{\hat{R}_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ by

$$\dot{R}^N(t) = \int_0^t \frac{d\dot{S}_u^N}{\dot{S}_{u-}^N} = \sum_{u \in (0,t]} \frac{\Delta \dot{S}_u^N}{\dot{S}_{u-}^N}$$

with the discounted stock price process \hat{S}^N defined by (4.3.3). Obviously,

$$\dot{S}^N(t) = s\mathcal{E}(\dot{R}^N)_t = s\prod_{u\in(0,t]} (1+\Delta\dot{R}^N_u).$$

We are now going to formulate conditions on the behaviour at the trading times $t_n, n = 1, ..., N$, of the net returns on the stock $\Delta R^N(t_n)$ in terms of their states

$$r_{kn}^{N} = z_{kn}^{N} - 1 = \frac{s_{kn}^{N}}{s_{k_{1}n-1}^{N}} - 1, \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^{n},$$
(4.3.14)

where $k_1 = \lfloor k/2 \rfloor$, as in Part I, Formula (2.3.14).

Condition 4.3.2. At the trading time t_n with some n = 1, ..., N the net return on the stock $\Delta R^N(t_n)$ is in one of the 2^n states

$$r_{2k\,n}^N = a + \alpha_{2k\,n}^N, \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^{n-1},$$
(4.3.15)

or

$$r_{2k-1\,n}^{N} = -(b + \beta_{2k-1\,n}^{N})\Delta t_{n}, \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^{n-1},$$
(4.3.16)

where a and b are some positive constants, while $\{\alpha_{2kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ and $\{\beta_{2k-1n}^N\}$ are negligible remainder terms as $N \to \infty$. In fact b can be negative but exceeding -r with r > 0 of Condition 4.3.1, to guarantee inequality (4.3.19) below.

Using the same sign \sim as above we may express (4.3.15) and (4.3.16) in the following form

$$r_{kn}^N \sim \begin{cases} a & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \\ -b\Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(4.3.17)

If Condition 4.3.1 holds as well, then the states $\{\hat{r}_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of the discounted net return $\Delta \hat{R}^N(t_n)$ with $n \in \{1,\ldots,N\}$ are approximated as follows. Due to (4.3.10) it follows from the relation (2.3.16) in Part I, Chapter 2, that the net returns on the stock $\Delta \hat{R}^N(t_n)$ is approximated by the excess return $\Delta (R^N - \mathcal{R}^N)_n$. Apply (4.3.10) and (4.3.17) to the latter expression to get

$$\dot{r}_{kn}^N \sim \begin{cases} a & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \\ -a\lambda\Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$
(4.3.18)

where

$$\lambda = \frac{r+b}{a} > 0 \tag{4.3.19}$$

is a parameter which later on will take on the rôle of the intensity of the Poisson distribution, cf (4.2.14). Since the even state indices correspond to the upward displacements, and the odd indices to the downward displacements, the asymptotic relations (4.3.17) and (4.3.18) tell us that for N sufficiently large all the upward displacements are of the same order a > 0. We call this

parameter a the amplitude of the upward displacements. On the other hand, all the downward displacements are infinitesimal, of magnitude Δt_n . Look, for instance, at the condition (4.3.18) concerning the discounted net returns on the stock. The range of the parameters a and b are restricted so that the inequality (4.3.19) holds and in contrast to the upward displacements, the downward displacements are negative. It will be seen below that this is crucial for developing the theory of the present chapter. In particular, the following lemma will be referred to.

Lemma 4.3.3. Under the conditions 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 the weights $\lambda \Delta t_n$ and $1 - \lambda \Delta t_n$ neutralize the upward displacements of the discounted net returns on the stock against the downward displacements, in the sense that

 $\lambda \Delta t_n \dot{r}_{2k\,n}^N + (1 - \lambda \Delta t_n) \dot{r}_{2k-1\,n}^N \sim 0 \tag{4.3.20}$

for all $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$ and n = 1, ..., N.

Proof. By (4.3.18)

$$\lambda \Delta t_n \dot{r}_{2k\,n}^N + (1 - \lambda \Delta t_n) \dot{r}_{2k-1\,n}^N \sim a\lambda \Delta t_n + (1 - \lambda \Delta t_n) (-a\lambda \Delta t_n) \\ = a(\lambda \Delta t_n)^2$$

which is of a lower magnitude than (4.3.40). This is equivalent to the desired relation (4.3.20), in view of our convention about the usage of \sim .

The comparison of the assertions of Lemma 4.3.3 and Lemma 3.3.1 in Part I suggests us to assign the weights $\lambda \Delta t_n$ and $1 - \lambda \Delta t_n$ to the upward and downward displacements, respectively, and to bring them in connection with the risk neutral probabilities. We will return to this in the next section, see formula (4.3.40). Note meanwhile that in this probabilistic interpretation the upward displacements become rare events, since the corresponding transition probabilities become infinitesimal, proportional to Δt_n . This will provide in Section 4.5 the conditions for the Poisson approximation.

Remark 4.3.4. In Condition 4.3.1 the remainder term ρ_n^N is called negligible, because it can be suppressed in the asymptotic relation (4.3.10) (as well as in the consequent relations (4.3.11) and (4.3.12) or elsewhere below). This is achieved, in particular, if

$$\max_{n \in \{1, \dots, N\}} |\varrho_n^N| \to 0$$

as $N \to \infty$. In Condition 4.3.2 the remainder terms, all the α 's and β 's, are negligible in the asymptotic relation (4.3.17) (or elsewhere below) if, for instance, it holds that

$$\max_{n \in \{1, \dots, N\}} \max_{k \in \{1, \dots, 2^{n-1}\}} |\alpha_{2k\,n}^N| \to 0$$
$$\max_{n \in \{1, \dots, N\}} \max_{k \in \{1, \dots, 2^{n-1}\}} |\beta_{2k-1\,n}^N| \to 0$$

as $N \to \infty$.

4.3.2 Self-financing strategies and value processes

Self-financing. In the present setup the situation of Section 3.2.1 is described as follows. One starts again with the investment that amounts to

$$v = \Psi_0 + s\Phi_0 \ge 0 \tag{4.3.21}$$

where Ψ_0 and Φ_0 are the numbers of shares of the bond and stock, respectively, owned at the current date $t_0 = 0$. Let Ψ_n^N and Φ_n^N denote the number of shares of the bond and stock, respectively, owned by the investor at the consecutive trading times t_n , n = 1, ..., N. At any time $t \in [0, T]$ investor's portfolio (Ψ_t^N, Φ_t^N) is then defined by the bond and stock components

$$\Psi^{N}(t) = \Psi_{1}^{N} I_{[t_{0}, t_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \Psi_{n+1}^{N} I_{(t_{n}, t_{n+1}]}(t)$$
(4.3.22)

and

$$\Phi^{N}(t) = \Phi_{1}^{N} I_{[t_{0},t_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1} \Phi_{n+1}^{N} I_{(t_{n},t_{n+1}]}(t).$$
(4.3.23)

Note that the possible trajectories of both components are piecewise constant functions of the same type as those of S_{-}^{N} , compare (4.3.22) and (4.3.23) with (4.3.5). At each $t \in (0,T]$ the dependence of the portfolio only on the past prices means that if $t \in (t_n, t_{n+1}]$ and $S^N(t-)$ is in state s_{kn}^N for some $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N-1$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^n$, then Ψ_t^N is in state ψ_{kn}^N , likewise Φ_t^N is in state ϕ_{kn}^N . In stochastic calculus processes of this type are called *simple predictable*, cf [63], p 43.

predictable, cf [63], p 43. The process $\pi^N = (\Psi_t^N, \Phi_t^N)_{t \in [0,T]}$ is called a *self-financing trading strategy*, if the portfolio is selected so that for all $t \in [0,T]$

$$B_{-}^{N} \cdot \Psi_{t}^{N} + S_{-}^{N} \cdot \Phi_{t}^{N} = 0, \qquad (4.3.24)$$

cf (3.2.16) in Part I. The notion just introduced is of universal use whenever the integrals in (4.3.24) are well-defined, which in the present special case of piecewise constant portfolio components (4.3.22) and (4.3.23) are particularly simple:

$$B_{-}^{N} \cdot \Psi_{t}^{N} = \sum_{u \in [0,t]} B_{u-}^{N} \Delta \Psi_{u}^{N}$$
(4.3.25)

and

$$S_{-}^{N} \cdot \Phi_{t}^{N} = \sum_{u \in [0,t]} S_{u-}^{N} \Delta \Phi_{u}^{N}, \qquad (4.3.26)$$

cf (4.2.5). In view of (4.3.25) and (4.3.26) the condition (4.3.24) is equivalent to

$$B_{-}^{N}\Delta\Psi^{N} + S_{-}^{N}\Delta\Phi^{N} = 0. (4.3.27)$$

4.3. BINARY MARKET

Value process. Like in Part I, Formula (3.2.3), with each trading strategy π^N we associate the value process $V^N(\pi) = \Psi^N B^N + \Phi^N S^N$, which means that the process $V^N(\pi) = \{V_t^N(\pi)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined by

$$V^{N}(t;\pi) = \Psi^{N}_{t} B^{N}_{t} + \Phi^{N}_{t} S^{N}_{t}$$
(4.3.28)

so that $V^N(0; \pi) = v \ge 0$, cf (4.3.21).

According to Formula (3.2.12) in Part I, if π^N is self-financing trading strategy, then we also have $V_-^N(\pi) = \Psi^N B_-^N + \Phi^N S_-^N$. That is

$$V^{N}(t-;\pi) = \Psi^{N}_{t} B^{N}_{t-} + \Phi^{N}_{t} S^{N}_{t-}.$$
(4.3.29)

Using the integrating by parts formula of Section 4.2.1, we obtain exactly in the same manner as in Part I, Section 3.2.2, the following characterization of self-financing strategies.

Proposition 4.3.5. A trading strategy π^N is self-financing if and only if its discounted value process $\dot{V}^N(\pi) = {\dot{V}_t^N(\pi)}_{t \in [0,T]}$ admits the following integral representation: at each $t \in [0,T]$

$$\dot{V}^N(t;\pi) = v + \Phi^N \cdot \dot{S}_t^N. \tag{4.3.30}$$

Proof. Take into consideration (4.3.25)–(4.3.28) and apply the same arguments as in Part I, Proposition 3.2.4.

Note that the integral representation (4.3.30) is valid also in general, if only the integrals are well-defined and Proposition 4.2.1 holds. This is easily seen by taking into consideration that (4.3.24) is equivalent to

 $\Psi_t^N - \Psi_0 + \dot{S}_-^N \cdot \Phi_t^N = 0,$

cf Part I, (3.2.17). We want to emphasize that the value process for a selffinancing strategy is a process of the same type as the stock price process, since it evolves along one of 2^N piecewise constant trajectories. In fact we have

$$\dot{V}^{N}(t;\pi) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \dot{V}_{n}^{N}(\pi) I_{[t_{n},t_{n+1})}(t), \qquad (4.3.31)$$

like (4.3.2), where $\dot{V}_n^N(\pi)$ is a variable whose states are described according to formula (3.2.21) in Part I, i.e.

$$\dot{v}_{kn}^{N}(\pi) = v + \sum_{\nu=1}^{n} \phi_{k_{n-\nu+1}\nu-1}^{N} (\dot{s}_{k_{n-\nu}\nu}^{N} - \dot{s}_{k_{n-\nu+1}\nu-1}^{N})$$
(4.3.32)

with $k = 1, ..., 2^n$ and k_n given by (4.3.4).

Example 4.3.6. CONSTANT PORTFOLIO. Like in the Example 3.4.4 in Part I, suppose that one keeps the constant portfolio $(\Psi_t^N, \Phi_t^N) = (\psi, \phi)$ all the time $t \in [0, T]$, that is obviously a self-financing strategy - no infusion or withdrawal of funds is needed (both terms on the left-hand side of (4.3.27) equal to 0). The integral representation (4.3.30) gives $\dot{V}^N(t;\pi) = v + \phi(S^N(t) - s) = \psi + \phi \dot{S}^N(t)$.

Clark's formula. The integral representation (4.3.30) will again be given the form of Clark's formula, as in Part I, Section 3.2.2. To this end we need to recall how the difference operator D acts in the state space. In view of (4.2.8) and (4.2.9) the process $DV^{N}(\pi)/DS^{N}$ is defined by

$$\frac{DV^{N}(t;\pi)}{DS^{N}(t)} = \frac{DV_{1}^{N}(\pi)}{DS_{1}^{N}}I_{[t_{0},t_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{n=1}^{N-1}\frac{DV_{n+1}^{N}(\pi)}{DS_{n+1}^{N}}I_{(t_{n},t_{n+1}]}(t).$$
(4.3.33)

This is in state

$$\frac{v_{2k\,n+1}^N(\pi) - v_{2k-1\,n+1}^N(\pi)}{s_{2k\,n+1}^N - s_{2k-1\,n+1}^N}$$

provided $S^N(t-)$ has been in state s_{kn}^N . The results similar to Proposition 3.2.1 and Corollary 3.2.5 in Part I are now formulated as follows:

Proposition 4.3.7. Under the self-financing condition (4.3.24) the stock component of the portfolio is given by (4.3.33): for each $t \in [0,T]$

$$\Phi^N(t) = \frac{DV^N(t;\pi)}{DS^N(t)}.$$

Therefore the integral representation (4.3.30) takes the form

$$\dot{V}^{N}(t;\pi) = v + \frac{DV^{N}(\pi)}{DS^{N}} \cdot \dot{S}_{t}^{N}.$$
(4.3.34)

Risk neutral probabilities. In markets excluding arbitrage opportunities the discounted stock price process evolves so that

 $\dot{s}^{N}_{2k-1\,n} < \dot{s}^{N}_{k\,n-1} < \dot{s}^{N}_{2k\,n}$

...

...

for each n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$, as was shown in Part I, Section 3.6. This means that the numerical values of

$$p_{2k\,n}^{N} = \frac{\dot{s}_{k\,n-1}^{N} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n}^{N} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}} \tag{4.3.35}$$

and

$$p_{2k-1\,n}^{N} = \frac{\dot{s}_{2k\,n}^{N} - \dot{s}_{k\,n-1}^{N}}{\dot{s}_{2k\,n}^{N} - \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}} \tag{4.3.36}$$

are positive and satisfy

$$p_{2kn}^N + p_{2k-1n}^N = 1. (4.3.37)$$

In Part I, Section 3.3.1, we have seen that every state s_{kn-1}^N at trading time t_{n-1} is expressed as a convex combination of two alternative states \dot{s}_{2k-1n}^N and \dot{s}_{2kn}^N at the consecutive trading time t_n , i.e.

$$\dot{s}_{k\,n-1}^{N} = p_{2k\,n}^{N} \dot{s}_{2k\,n}^{N} + p_{2k-1\,n}^{N} \dot{s}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}.$$
(4.3.38)

4.3. BINARY MARKET

According to Lemma 3.3.1 in Part I, this is expressed in terms of the discounted net returns as follows:

$$0 = p_{2kn}^N \dot{r}_{2kn}^N + p_{2k-1n}^N \dot{r}_{2k-1n}^N.$$
(4.3.39)

The latter relations tell us that the weights p_{2kn}^N and p_{2k-1n}^N are chosen so as to neutralize the upward displacements in the discounted returns by the downward displacements. This gives rise to the term risk neutral probabilities. Note the following consequence of (4.3.20) and (4.3.39): under the conditions 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 the risk neutral probabilities are proportional to Δt_n . Namely, for each $n = 1, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$

$$p_{2kn}^N \sim \lambda \Delta t_n. \tag{4.3.40}$$

We have already mentioned this at the end of the previous section. We will show next that the relationship (4.3.40) can be made precise.

Lemma 4.3.8. Under the conditions 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 we have for each n = $1, \ldots, N$ that

$$p_{2kn}^{N} = (\lambda + \lambda_{2kn}^{N})\Delta t_{n}, \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^{n-1},$$
(4.3.41)

with remainder terms $\{\lambda_{2kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$, negligible in the sense of Remark 4.3.4.

Proof. It will be shown that with the notations of the conditions 4.3.1 and 4.3.2

$$\lambda_{2k\,n}^{N} = \frac{\varrho_{n}^{N} + \beta_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{r_{2k\,n}^{N} - r_{2k-1\,n}^{N}} - \lambda \frac{\alpha_{2k\,n}^{N} - r_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{r_{2k\,n}^{N} - r_{2k-1\,n}^{N}},\tag{4.3.42}$$

which is indeed negligible under these conditions (cf Remark 4.3.4). In view of the notation (4.3.9) for ρ_n^N and the usual relationship (4.3.14) between the gross and net returns, we can rewrite formula (3.3.8) in Part I in terms of net returns on both assets:

$$p_{2kn}^N = \frac{\rho_n^N - r_{2k-1n}^N}{r_{2kn}^N - r_{2k-1n}^N}.$$
(4.3.43)

Due to (4.3.9), (4.3.15), (4.3.16) and (4.3.19) it follows from the latter equality that

$$\frac{p_{2kn}^N - \lambda \Delta t_n}{\Delta t_n} = \frac{\varrho_n^N + \beta_{2k-1n}^N}{r_{2kn}^N - r_{2k-1n}^N} - \lambda \frac{\alpha_{2kn}^N + (b + \beta_{2k-1n}^N) \Delta t_n}{r_{2kn}^N - r_{2k-1n}^N}.$$

pare this with (4.3.41). It is easily seen that (4.3.42) holds.

Compare this with (4.3.41). It is easily seen that (4.3.42) holds.

In the sequel we will retain the notations (3.3.19) and (3.3.20) of Part I. We thus write

$$P_{kN}^{n} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < n} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}^{N}$$
(4.3.44)

for the transition probabilities and $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$ for the probability distribution with

$$P_{kN} = \prod_{0 \le \nu < N} p_{k_{\nu} N - \nu}^{N}.$$
(4.3.45)

Recurrence relations for value processes. In Part I, Sections 3.3.1 and 3.3.2, the equations (4.3.38) were related to the martingale property of the discounted stock price process with respect to the probability distribution $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$. It has been observed that the integral representation (4.3.30) preserves the martingale property and parallel to (4.3.38) we have that the states (4.3.32) of the value process $V^N(\pi)$ for any self-financing strategy π^N satisfy for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ the relations (3.3.14), see Part I, Proposition 3.3.4. For another point of view on these equations, rewrite them by using $p_{2k-1n}^N = 1 - p_{2kn}^N$ in the following form: for $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$

$$\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi) = -p_{2k\,n}^{N}(\dot{v}_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi)) \tag{4.3.46}$$

or, equivalently,

$$\dot{v}_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi) = p_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\dot{v}_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi)) \tag{4.3.47}$$

with the increments in time on the left hand side and the increments in the state space on the right, cf (3.3.17). Hence, in (4.3.46) and (4.3.47) the risk neutral probabilities take on the rôle of the proportionality coefficients. In virtue of Lemma 4.3.8 we can give to the relations (4.3.46) an approximate form asserted in the next proposition. Later, in Section 4.4, we will trace similarity to the equations (4.4.29) for the limiting Poisson model.

Proposition 4.3.9. Let π^N be a self-financing strategy and $\check{V}^N(\pi)$ its discounted value process. Then for each n = 1, ..., N the set of states $\{\check{v}_{kn}^N(\pi)\}_{k=1,.}$ given by (4.3.32), satisfies the following identities:

$$\frac{\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi)}{t_{n} - t_{n-1}} =$$
(4.3.48)

$$-(\lambda + \lambda_{2k\,n}^N) \quad (\dot{v}_{2k\,n}^N(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^N(\pi)) \tag{4.3.49}$$

with λ and $\{\lambda_{2kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^{n-1}}$ as in (4.3.19) and (4.3.42), respectively. If, moreover, the conditions 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 hold, then

$$\frac{\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi)}{t_{n} - t_{n-1}} \sim -\lambda(\dot{v}_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi)).$$
(4.3.50)

Proof. It is easily verified that the equations (4.3.49) and (4.3.50) take the following undiscounted form:

$$\frac{v_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - v_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi)}{t_{n} - t_{n-1}} - (r + \varrho_{n}^{N})v_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi) = -(\lambda + \lambda_{2k\,n}^{N}) \qquad (v_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - v_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi))$$
(4.3.51)

and

$$\frac{v_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - v_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi)}{t_{n} - t_{n-1}} - rv_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi) \\ \sim - \lambda(v_{2k\,n}^{N}(\pi) - v_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi)).$$
(4.3.52)

4.3. BINARY MARKET

We will prove these undiscounted equations (4.3.51) and (4.3.52). By the undiscounted version of equation (4.3.46)

$$(1+\rho_n^N)v_{k\,n-1}^N(\pi)-v_{2k-1\,n}^N(\pi)=p_{2k\,n}^N(v_{2k\,n}^N(\pi)-v_{2k-1\,n}^N(\pi))$$

which by (4.3.41) yields

$$(1 + \rho_n^N) v_{kn-1}^N(\pi) - v_{2k-1n}^N(\pi) = (v_{2kn}^N(\pi) - v_{2k-1n}^N(\pi))(\lambda + \lambda_{2kn}^N) \Delta t_n.$$

Due to (4.3.9), this is equivalent to

$$v_{kn-1}^{N}(\pi) - v_{2k-1n}^{N}(\pi) + (r + \varrho_{n}^{N})v_{kn-1}^{N}(\pi)\Delta t_{n} = (v_{2kn}^{N}(\pi) - v_{2k-1n}^{N}(\pi))(\lambda + \lambda_{2kn}^{N})\Delta t_{n}$$

which yields (4.3.51). Moreover, (4.3.51) implies (4.3.52), since ρ_n^N and $\{\lambda_{2kn}^N\}_{k=1}$ are negligible remainder terms.

4.3.3 Completeness, hedging strategy and option valuation

Completeness and hedging strategies. Let $W^N(T)$ be a certain wealth to be attained at the terminal date t = T, that is a variable with 2^N possible states $\{\hat{w}_k^N(T)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$. As we know from Part I, Section 3.4, in the binary market any such wealth is attainable by a certain self-financing strategy, called the *hedging strategy* against $W^N(T)$, if only the investment amounts to

$$w_{10} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{w}_k^N(T), \qquad (4.3.53)$$

cf Part I, Formula (3.4.3). This property of the binary market is called the *completeness*. Investor's hedging strategy is described as follows. By using (4.3.44), the states of variables W_{N-n}^N are defined by

$$\dot{w}_{jN-n}^{N} = \sum_{2^{n}(j-1) < k \le 2^{n}j} P_{kN}^{n} \dot{w}_{k}^{N}(T), \quad j = 1, \dots, 2^{N-n}, \quad (4.3.54)$$

with n = 1, ..., N. Then the process $\dot{W}^N = \{\dot{W}_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is formed by

$$\dot{W}^{N}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \dot{W}_{n}^{N} I_{[t_{n}, t_{n+1})}(t).$$
(4.3.55)

Obviously, the process starts from $\hat{W}^N(0) = \hat{w}_{10}^N$, i.e. from (4.3.53). At the terminal date t = T it arrives at the desired wealth $\hat{W}^N(T)$. Following the procedure of Part I, Section 3.4.2, we can find a unique strategy π^N so that the corresponding discounted value process (4.3.31) is identified to the process (4.3.55). This is the hedging strategy against $\hat{W}^N(T)$ we are looking for.

Option valuation. In Part I, Section 3.5, formula (4.3.53) is applied to the following problem of option pricing. Suppose that today, at time t = 0, we are going to sign a contract that gives us the right to buy one share of a stock at a specified price K, called the *exercise price*, and at a specified time T, called the *maturity* or *expiration time*. If the stock price $S^N(T)$ is below the exercise price, i.e. $S^N(T) \leq K$, then the contract is worthless to us. On the other hand, if $S^N(T) > K$, we can exercise our option: we can buy one share of the stock at the fixed price K and then sell it immediately in the market for the price $S^N(T)$. Thus this option, called the *European call option*, yields a profit at maturity T equal to

$$\max\{0, S^N(T) - K\} = (S^N(T) - K)^+.$$
(4.3.56)

The function (4.3.56) of the stock price $S^N(T)$ is called the *payoff function* for the European call option.

A contract with some fixed payoff function (not necessarily of form (4.3.56)) is called a *contingent claim*. The European call option is thus a special contingent claim with payoff (4.3.56). In general, a payoff $\dot{H}^N(T)$ is a function that maps each of 2^N possible trajectories of the discounted stock price to some nonnegative numerical value. In our usual terms, $\dot{H}^N(T)$ is assumed to occupy 2^N possible states, say $\{\dot{h}^N_k(T)\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^N}$. In order to decide how much would we be willing to pay at time t = 0 for

In order to decide how much would we be willing to pay at time t = 0 for a ticket which gives the right to buy at maturity t = T one share of stock with exercise price K, we need to construct the hedging strategy that duplicates the payoff (4.3.56). Recall that the hedging strategy π^N against a contingent claim with a payoff function $\dot{H}^N(T)$ is a unique strategy whose value process $\dot{V}^N(\pi)$ is identical to the process $\{\dot{H}_t^N\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ that is defined by the same considerations as in the previous subsection:

$$\dot{H}^{N}(t) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} \dot{H}_{n}^{N} I_{[t_{n}, t_{n+1})}(t)$$

where \dot{H}_{N-n}^{N} is a variable with the states

$$\sum_{2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j} P^n_{kN} \dot{w}^N_k(T), \ j = 1, \dots, 2^{N-n},$$

cf (4.3.54) and (4.3.55). This strategy indeed duplicates the payoff. It requires the initial wealth that yields the fair price $C^N = C(H^N)$ of the contingent claim with the payoff function $H^N(T)$, that amounts to

$$C(\dot{H}^N) = \sum_{k=1}^{2^N} P_{kN} \dot{h}_j^N(T)$$

The fair price of the European call option (4.3.56), in particular, amounts to

$$C_{\cdot}^{N} = \sum_{k=1}^{2^{N}} P_{kN} (\dot{s}_{k}^{N}(T) - \dot{K})^{+}.$$
(4.3.57)

4.4 Poisson market

4.4.1 Asset pricing

Bond and stock. In this section we consider the limiting model for a securities market that stems from the approximate relations of Section 4.3.1. In view of (4.3.11) and (4.3.12), the model for the bond is defined by the linear return process $\mathcal{R}^{\circ} = \{\mathcal{R}^{\circ}_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with

$$\mathcal{R}_t^\circ = rt \tag{4.4.1}$$

and the exponential price process $B^{\circ} = \{B_t^{\circ}\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with

$$B_t^{\circ} = e^{rt}, \tag{4.4.2}$$

where r > 0 is a riskless interest rate on the bond.

The stock is again a risky asset: its return process $R^{\circ} = \{R_t^{\circ}\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ may jump unexpectedly at certain instants. Let m be a number of jumps, a nonnegative integer that equals to 0 if only no jump occurs. Otherwise, if m > 0 jumps occur, we denote by T_1, \ldots, T_m the consecutive instants of their occurrence. All the jumps are assumed to be of an equal size, say a > 0. For convenience, we also introduce $T_0 = 0$ and $T_{m+1} \ge T$. Clearly, it is assumed that $T_k < T_{k+1}$ for all $k = 0, 1, \ldots, m$. Thus the net returns on the stock are non-zero only at instants T_1, \ldots, T_m and

$$\Delta R^{\circ}(T_k) = a > 0, \quad k = 1, \dots, m.$$

The cumulative return process \mathbb{R}° will be defined with the help of the so-called *counting process* $\mathcal{N} = {\mathcal{N}_t}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with $\mathcal{N}(t)$ that counts the number of jumps observed up to time $t \in [0,T]$. By assumption $\mathcal{N}(0) = 0$. Further $\mathcal{N}(t) = 0$ if no jump occurs up to time t and $\mathcal{N}(t) = k$ if $T_k \leq t$ for $k \in {1, \ldots, m}$. In particular $\mathcal{N}(T) = m$. We define next the limiting return process \mathbb{R}° on the stock in accordance with the right-hand side of (4.3.17): the cumulative effect on the upward displacement yields $a\mathcal{N}(t)$ and that of the downward displacement yields -bt. This leads to the model

$$R^{\circ}(t) = a\mathcal{N}(t) - bt. \tag{4.4.3}$$

Consequently, the price process on the stock $S^{\circ} = \{S_t^{\circ}\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is now defined by

$$S^{\circ}(t) = s\mathcal{E}(R^{\circ})_{t}$$

$$= s(1+a)^{\mathcal{N}(t)}e^{-bt}$$
(4.4.4)

(cf Section 4.2.1) where s > 0 is a fixed current price on the stock $S^{\circ}(0) = s$.

Due to (4.4.2) and (4.4.4), the discounted stock price process is defined by

$$\dot{S}^{\circ}(t) \stackrel{:}{=} \frac{S^{\circ}(t)}{B^{\circ}(t)} = s(1+a)^{\mathcal{N}(t)}e^{-a\lambda t}$$
(4.4.5)

and the corresponding return process $\dot{R}^{\circ}\doteq \{\dot{R}^{\circ}_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ by

$$\dot{R}^{\circ}(t) \doteq a(\mathcal{N}(t) - \lambda t), \tag{4.4.6}$$

cf (4.3.18). The relation $\dot{S}^{\circ} = s\mathcal{E}(\dot{R}^{\circ})$ is obtained in Section 4.2.1.

Differential equations for states of the stock price process. The price process on the stock may be presented alternatively in terms of its state $s_k^{\circ}(t)$ within each interval $[T_k, T_{k+1}), k = 0, 1, \ldots, m$, that is

$$s_k^{\circ}(t) = s(1+a)^k e^{-bt} \tag{4.4.7}$$

by (4.4.4) (note that in the present case no distinction is needed between states of the stock price and their numerical values, due to one to one correspondence). We then have at each $t \in [0, T]$ that

$$S^{\circ}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} s_{k}^{\circ}(t) I_{[T_{k}, T_{k+1})}(t).$$

Likewise,

$$\dot{S}^{\circ}(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \dot{s}^{\circ}_{k}(t) I_{[T_{k}, T_{k+1})}(t)$$
(4.4.8)

with the states

$$\dot{s}_{k}^{\circ}(t) = s(1+a)^{k} e^{-a\lambda t} \tag{4.4.9}$$

within the interval $[T_k, T_{k+1}), k = 0, 1, \dots, m$. Similarly to (4.3.5), we have

$$S^{\circ}(t-) = s_{0}^{\circ}(t)I_{[0,T_{1}]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} s_{k}^{\circ}(t)I_{(T_{k},T_{k+1}]}(t).$$
(4.4.10)

Suppose that $S^{\circ}(t-)$ is in state $s_k^{\circ}(t)$. Then at time t the stock price either stays in state $s_k^{\circ}(t)$ or jump to state $s_{k+1}^{\circ}(t)$. This observation led in the last subsection of Section 4.2.1 to the following definition of the difference operator $DS^{\circ}(t)$ in the state space of the present market: if $S^{\circ}(t-)$ is in state $s_k^{\circ}(t)$, then $DS^{\circ}(t)$ is in the state

$$D_{k+1}(S_t^{\circ}) = s_{k+1}^{\circ}(t) - s_k^{\circ}(t).$$
(4.4.11)

Hence we have

Proposition 4.4.1. The states (4.4.7) and (4.4.9) of the stock price process and its discounted version satisfy the following differential equations:

$$\frac{ds_k^{\circ}(t)}{dt} - rs_k^{\circ}(t) = -\lambda D_{k+1}(S_t^{\circ}), \ t \in (T_k, T_{k+1}],$$
(4.4.12)

and

$$\frac{d\dot{s}_k^{\circ}(t)}{dt} = -\lambda D_{k+1}(\dot{S}_t^{\circ}), \ t \in (T_k, T_{k+1}].$$
(4.4.13)

4.4. POISSON MARKET

Proof. By (4.4.7) it follows from (4.4.11) that

$$D_k(S_t^\circ) = as(1+a)^{k-1}e^{-bt} = as_{k-1}^\circ(t).$$

Therefore, by differentiating both sides of (4.4.7) we get

$$\frac{ds_k^{\circ}(t)}{dt} - rs_k^{\circ}(t) = -(r+b)s_k^{\circ}(t) = -\lambda as_k^{\circ}(t) = -\lambda D_{k+1}(S_t^{\circ}),$$

which yields (4.4.12). To verify that equation (4.4.13) follows from (4.4.12), take into consideration that by (4.2.13) and (4.4.2)

$$DS^{\circ}(t) = e^{-rt} DS(t)$$
(4.4.14)

and

$$\frac{d\dot{s}_k^{\circ}(t)}{dt} = e^{-rt} \left(\frac{ds_k^{\circ}(t)}{dt} - rs_k^{\circ}(t) \right).$$
(4.4.15)

The proof is complete.

Compare (4.4.13) with (4.2.16) to see from the assertion of Proposition 4.2.3 that the states (4.4.9) of the discounted stock price process \hat{S}° satisfy the relations

$$\dot{s}_{k}^{\circ}(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_{j}(\lambda(T-t))\dot{s}_{k+j}^{\circ}(T).$$
(4.4.16)

In particular

$$s = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T) \dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T). \tag{4.4.17}$$

This can also be verified directly, since

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda(T-t))^j}{j!} e^{-\lambda(T-t)} s(1+a)^{k+j} e^{-a\lambda T} = s(1+a)^k e^{-a\lambda t}.$$

Cf (4.4.16) and (4.4.17) with (3.3.26) and (3.3.27) in Part I.

4.4.2 Self-financing strategies

Portfolio. Consider an investor who invests an amount $v \ge 0$ in the present market and then follows a trading strategy $\pi = (\Psi, \Phi)$ with the portfolio components $\Psi = {\{\Psi_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}}$ and $\Phi = {\{\Phi_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}}$ which yield the value process $V^{\circ}(\pi) = \Psi B^{\circ} + \Phi S^{\circ}$ defined at $t \in [0,T]$ by

$$V^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \Psi(t)B^{\circ}(t) + \Phi(t)S^{\circ}(t).$$
(4.4.18)

Clearly, the initial endowment amounts to

$$v \doteq V^{\circ}(0;\pi) = \Psi(0)B^{\circ}(0) + \Phi(0)S^{\circ}(0).$$

Discounting (4.4.18), we get

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \Psi(t) + \Phi(t)\dot{S}^{\circ}(t).$$
(4.4.19)

Since between two consecutive jumps the stock price process does evolve smoothly the investor selects both components as piecewise continuous functions of type

$$\Psi(t) = \psi_1(t)I_{[0,T_1]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m \psi_{k+1}(t)I_{(T_k,T_{k+1}]}(t)$$
(4.4.20)

and

$$\Phi(t) = \phi_1(t)I_{[0,T_1]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m \phi_{k+1}(t)I_{(T_k,T_{k+1}]}(t), \qquad (4.4.21)$$

where ψ_k and ϕ_k are continuously differentiable functions with $\Psi(0) = \psi_1(0)$ and $\Phi(0) = \phi_1(0)$. Note that these processes are predictable, i.e. of the same type as S_- , cf (4.4.10). It is important to notice that the process $\dot{V}^{\circ}(\pi)$ for a self-financing strategy π is of the same type as the stock price process, since at each $t \in [0, T]$ it may be represented similarly to (4.4.8) as follows:

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} \dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(t;\pi) I_{[T_{k},T_{k+1})}(t).$$

In view of definitions in Section 4.3.1, the states $\{\dot{v}_k^\circ(t;\pi)\}_{k=0,1,\dots,m}$ at $t \in [T_k,T_{k+1})$ satisfy

$$\dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(t,\pi) - \dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(T_{k};\pi) = \int_{T_{k}}^{t} \phi_{k+1}(u) d\dot{s}_{k}^{\circ}(u)$$
(4.4.22)

with $\dot{v}_0^{\circ}(T_0;\pi) = v$ and

$$\dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(T_{k};\pi) = v + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \left\{ \int_{T_{j-1}}^{T_{j}} \phi_{j}(u) d\dot{s}_{j-1}^{\circ}(u) + \phi_{j}(T_{j}) D_{j}(\dot{S}_{T_{j}}^{\circ}) \right\}.$$

Recall that $D_j(\dot{S}^{\circ}_{T_j}) = \dot{s}^{\circ}_j(T_j) - \dot{s}^{\circ}_{j-1}(T_j)$, cf (4.4.11). Arguing as before, we introduce the predictable process $DV^{\circ}(\pi)/DS^{\circ}$ defined at $t \in [0,T]$ by

$$\frac{DV^{\circ}(t;\pi)}{DS^{\circ}(t)} = \frac{D_1(V_t^{\circ}(\pi))}{D_1(S_t^{\circ})} I_{[0,T_1]}(t) + \sum_{k=1}^m \frac{D_{k+1}(V_t^{\circ}(\pi))}{D_{k+1}(S_t^{\circ})} I_{(T_k,T_{k+1}]}(t),$$

cf (4.2.11) and (4.2.12). Due to the predictability of the portfolio components, we can apply formula (4.2.13) to both (4.4.18) and (4.4.19) to get

$$DV^{\circ}(\pi) = \Phi DS^{\circ}$$
 and $D\dot{V}^{\circ}(\pi) = \Phi D\dot{S}^{\circ}$. (4.4.23)

This means, in particular, that

$$D_k(V_t^{\circ}(\pi)) = \phi_k(t) D_k(S_t^{\circ}). \tag{4.4.24}$$

4.4. POISSON MARKET

Self-financing. According to the definition in Section 4.3.2, a trading strategy $\pi = (\Psi, \Phi)$ is self-financing if for each $t \in (0, T]$

$$B_{-}^{\circ} \cdot \Psi_{t} + S_{-}^{\circ} \cdot \Phi_{t} = 0 \tag{4.4.25}$$

In the present case Propositions 4.3.5 and 4.3.7 may be reformulated as follows:

Proposition 4.4.2. A trading strategy π is self-financing if and only if its discounted value process $\dot{V}^{\circ}(\pi) = \{\dot{V}_{t}^{\circ}(\pi)\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ admits the following integral representation: at each $t \in [0,T]$

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = v + \Phi \cdot \dot{S}^{\circ}_t.$$
 (4.4.26)

In view of (4.4.23), this can be given the form of Clark's formula

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = v + \frac{DV^{\circ}(\pi)}{DS^{\circ}} \cdot \dot{S}^{\circ}_{t}.$$
(4.4.27)

It will be proved in the next proposition that the value process for a selffinancing strategy satisfies differential equations (4.4.28), similar to (4.4.12). Note that the discounted versions of these equations (4.4.13) and (4.4.29) play in the present market the same rôle as the equations (4.3.38) and (4.3.46) in the binary market.

Proposition 4.4.3. In a Poisson market a trading strategy π is self-financing if and only if the states of the value process and its discounted version satisfy the following differential equations: at $t \in (T_k, T_{k+1}]$

$$\frac{dv_k^{\circ}(t;\pi)}{dt} - rv_k^{\circ}(t) = -\lambda D_{k+1}(V_t^{\circ}(\pi))$$
(4.4.28)

and

$$\frac{d\hat{v}_{k}^{\circ}(t;\pi)}{dt} = -\lambda D_{k+1}(\dot{V}_{t}^{\circ}(\pi)).$$
(4.4.29)

Proof. (i) Under the self-financing condition (4.4.25) we have (4.4.22) that implies

$$rac{d ec v_k^\circ(t;\pi)}{dt} = \phi_{k+1}(t) rac{d ec s_k^\circ(t)}{dt}.$$

So, (4.4.29) follows from (4.4.13) and (4.4.24). The equivalence of (4.4.28) and (4.4.29) is straightforward, since the relations (4.4.14) and (4.4.15) easily extend to the states of the value processes.

(ii) Conversely, assume (4.4.29) with $t \in [T_k, T_{k+1})$. This and (4.4.23) yield

$$\frac{d\dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(t;\pi)}{dt} = -\lambda \frac{D_{k+1}(V_{t}^{\circ}(\pi))}{D_{k+1}(\dot{S}_{t}^{\circ})} D_{k+1}(\dot{S}_{t}^{\circ})$$
$$= -\lambda \phi_{k+1}(t) D_{k+1}(\dot{S}_{t}^{\circ}) = \phi_{k+1}(t) \frac{d\dot{s}_{k}^{\circ}(t)}{dt}.$$

×

For the latter identity, see (4.4.13). Integrate the result from T_k up to $t \in [T_k, T_{k+1})$ to get (4.4.22) which means the self-financing. The proof is complete.

Like in the case of the stock price process, compare (4.4.29) and (4.2.16) to see by the assertion of Proposition 4.4.3 that the states of the discounted value process $\dot{V}^{\circ}(\pi)$ satisfy the relations

$$\dot{v}_{k}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_{j}(\lambda(T-t))\dot{v}_{k+j}^{\circ}(T;\pi).$$
(4.4.30)

In particular

$$v = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T) \dot{v}_j^{\circ}(T; \pi).$$

$$(4.4.31)$$

4.4.3 Completeness, hedging strategy and option valuation

Completeness and hedging strategies. The differential-difference equations (4.4.29) and their solutions (4.4.30) and (4.4.31) play here the same rôle as the equations (3.3.14) and their solutions (3.3.30) and (3.3.31) in a binary market of Part I. They yield, in particular, the completeness of a Poisson market to be shown next. The basic condition for this is that in the market in question only the number of jumps of the net returns on the stock is counted up to the terminal date T, and no distinction is made between different trajectories with equal number of jumps.

Let $\hat{W}(T)$ be a discounted wealth desired by an investor at the terminal date T. In accordance to the conditions in the Poisson market, $\hat{W}(T)$ depends only on the number of jumps occurred up to the terminal date T. Moreover, it is chosen so that if $\hat{S}^{\circ}(T)$ occurs in state $\hat{s}_{k}^{\circ}(T)$ with some nonnegative integer k, then the corresponding state of $\hat{W}(T)$ is $\hat{w}_{k}(T)$. The definitions in Section 4.3.3 of the completeness and the hedging strategy extend straightforwardly to the present situation. Let us, however, present anew the exact formulation.

Definition 4.4.4. A Poisson market is complete if any desired wealth $\hat{W}(T)$ with the set of possible states $\{\hat{w}_k(T)\}_{k=0,1,\ldots}$ is attainable with a certain initial endowment: there is a self-financing strategy π whose value process at the terminal date T attains the identity $\hat{V}(T;\pi) = \hat{W}(T)$. The necessary initial endowment is then $v = V(0;\pi)$. This particular strategy is called the hedging strategy against $\hat{W}(T)$.

Similarly to Proposition 3.4.3 in Part I, we have

Proposition 4.4.5. A Poisson market is complete. The hedging strategy π against a desired wealth W(T) of the above type is uniquely defined by the portfolio components (4.4.20) and (4.4.21) with

$$\psi_k(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t)) \frac{(1+a)\dot{w}_{j+k}(T) - \dot{w}_{j+k+1}(T)}{a}$$
(4.4.32)

4.4. POISSON MARKET

and

$$\phi_k(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t)) \frac{\dot{w}_{j+k+1}(T) - \dot{w}_{j+k}(T)}{a\dot{s}_k^\circ(t)}, \qquad (4.4.33)$$

where $\{\hat{w}_k(T)\}_{k=0,1,\ldots}$ are the states of the discounted wealth $\hat{W}(T)$. The initial endowment needed amounts to

$$v = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T) \dot{w}_j(T).$$
 (4.4.34)

Proof. Let $t \in [T_k, T_{k+1})$. By definition (4.4.19) the discounted value process for the present strategy π is in state

 $\dot{v}_k^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \psi_k(t) + \phi_k(t) \dot{s}_k^{\circ}(t)$

which by (4.4.32) and (4.4.33) coincides with

$$\dot{w}_k(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t))\dot{w}_{k+j}(T).$$
(4.4.35)

By Proposition 4.2.3, (4.4.35) solves the differential equation (4.2.16) subject to the boundary condition (4.2.17) with $\hat{w}_k(T)$ instead of $\hat{h}_k(T)$. Then by Proposition 4.4.3 the present strategy is self-financing. Moreover, at the terminal date T its value process attains the desired wealth W(T). Thus π is the hedging strategy against W(T). As $\{\hat{w}_k(T)\}_{k=0,1,\ldots}$ in (4.4.35) are arbitrary, the Poisson market is complete. Finally, (4.4.34) is an easy consequence of (4.4.35).

Option valuation. Let us continue to assume that in the Poisson market under consideration only the total number of jumps of the net returns on the stock is taken into account, and all the financial derivatives traded at the terminal date T depend only on the terminal stock price. A particular discounted contingent claim $\hat{H}(T)$ is then supposed to be a variable with the set of possible states $\{h_j(T)\}_{j=0,1,...}$, fixed by means of a certain contract function of a single argument H as follows:

$$\dot{H}(T) = H(\dot{S}^{\circ}(T))$$

and

$$\dot{h}_j(T) = H(\dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T)), \ j = 0, 1, \dots$$

To price this financial derivative, we can apply Proposition 4.4.5. According to (4.4.34), this yields the fair price of the contingent claim $\dot{H}(T)$:

$$C(\dot{H}) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T)\dot{h}_j(T)$$
(4.4.36)

In the special case of the European call option

$$\check{h}_j(T) = (\check{s}_j^\circ(T) - \check{K})^+$$
(4.4.37)

(with a certain exercise price K, cf (4.3.56)), we have

Proposition 4.4.6. For a nonnegative integer j_0 denote

$$F(j_0;\lambda) = \sum_{j>j_0} p_j(\lambda), \qquad (4.4.38)$$

cf (4.2.14). Then the fair price C of the European call option with the payoff function (4.4.37) may be presented as follows:

$$C = sF\left(\lfloor \log(\frac{K}{s} + bT) / \log(1 + a) \rfloor; (1 + a)\lambda T\right) + e^{-rT}KF\left(\lfloor \log(\frac{K}{s} + bT) / \log(1 + a) \rfloor; \lambda T\right)$$
(4.4.39)

Proof. By (4.4.36) and (4.4.37)

$$C = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j (\lambda T) (\dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T) - \dot{K})^+$$
(4.4.40)

where $\dot{K} = e^{-rT}K$, as usual. Therefore, by (4.2.14) and (4.4.9)

$$C = e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda T)^j}{j!} (s(1+a)^j e^{-a\lambda T} - \dot{K})^+.$$
(4.4.41)

Obviously, the terms with

$$j \le j_0 = \lfloor \log(\frac{K}{s} + bT) / \log(1 + a) \rfloor$$

equal zero so that (4.4.41) reduces to

$$C = e^{-\lambda T} \sum_{j>j_0} \frac{(\lambda T)^j}{j!} (s(1+a)^j e^{-a\lambda T} - \dot{K})$$

which yields (4.4.39) by definition (4.4.38).

Formula (4.4.40) is often called the Cox–Ross option pricing formula (see e.g. [12] or [39], Section 6.2; cf also [13] and [14]). Its probabilistic interpretation is as follows: the right hand side is the expectation with respect to the Poisson distribution $\mathcal{P}_{\lambda T}$ of a random variable taking on the value $(s_j^{\circ}(T) - K)^+$ with probability $p_j(\lambda T), j = 0, 1, \ldots$ In its specific form (4.4.39), this formula is comparable with the well-known Black-Scholes formula for the geometric Brownian motion model, see [6], [39], Formula (1.5), or [48], Section 5.8.

90

 \Box

4.5 On the Poisson approximation

4.5.1 Approximation of the assets

In the present section the link is sought between the binary model of Section 4.3 and the Poisson model of Section 4.4. By using certain heuristic arguments we show that under the conditions of Section 4.3.1 the Poisson model can serve as an approximation to the binary model. This is already visible by the simple comparison of equations (4.3.50) and (4.4.29) (or (4.3.52) and (4.4.28)), for the left hand side of (4.3.50) may be viewed as a prelimiting version (in the form of finite differences) of the time derivative in (4.4.29).

We let the number of trading periods N to increase unboundedly and the length of each trading period $\Delta t_n = t_n - t_{n-1}$ to tend to zero for $n = 1, \ldots, N$. For simplicity, we focus our attention to the special case when the new prices are announced regularly so that the trading times are equidistant, given by $t_n = nT/N$ with $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$, and the stretch of each trading period is $\Delta t_n = T/N$ with $n = 1, \ldots, N$. For, asymptotically, this makes no difference (in fact one can proceed without this specification, however at the expense of some details which we want to avoid here). At the same time, the formulations are somewhat simplified. Instead of (4.3.1) and (4.3.2), for instance, we may write

$$B^N(t) = B^N_{\lfloor tN/T
floor}$$
 and $S^N(t) = S^N_{\lfloor tN/T
floor}.$

As usual, |x| is the integer part of x, i.e. the largest integer not exceeding x.

Concerning the bond, the situation is simple, since Condition 4.3.1 means that at each fixed $t \in [0, T]$

$$B^N(t) \sim B^\circ(t),$$

as we have already seen, cf (4.3.12) and (4.4.2).

As for a risky asset, the stock, the desired statement that at each fixed $t \in [0, T]$

$$S^N(t) \sim S^\circ(t) \tag{4.5.1}$$

concerns the trajectories of the processes on the both sides. The idea behind this approximation is quite simple, as we will see below. Its exact formulation, however, would require probabilistic considerations that lay beyond the scope of the present paper.

At fixed $t \in [0, T]$

$$S^{N}(t) = s \prod_{n=0}^{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor} (1 + \Delta R_{n}^{N})$$

$$(4.5.2)$$

(cf (4.3.13)) may occupy one of the $2^{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor}$ states, i.e. up to time t the stock price may evolve along one of $2^{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor}$ trajectories. The states of the net returns ΔR_n^N in (4.5.2), given by (4.3.14), are under condition 3.1.2 approximated by

(4.3.17), with the right hand side independent of the index k. Therefore those trajectories of the stock price development up to time $t \in [0,T]$ that jump upwards exactly j times and downwards remaining $\lfloor tN/T \rfloor - j$ times, are all approximated by the same expression

$$s(1+a)^{j} \left(1 - \frac{bT}{N}\right)^{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor - j}.$$
(4.5.3)

This is obtained by substituting in the product on the right hand side of (4.5.2) the net returns ΔR_n^N by their approximate states according to (4.3.17), i.e. j times by a and $\lfloor tN/T \rfloor - j$ times by -bT/N. The latter expression tends to $s_j^{\circ}(t)$ of form (4.4.7), since for fixed $j \ge 0$ and $t \in [0, T]$

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{bT}{N} \right)^{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor - j} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{bT}{N} \right)^{\frac{tN}{T}} = e^{-bt}.$$

As $N \to \infty$ the index j in (4.5.3) tends to take on any nonnegative integer value, so that the approximate states are indeed $\{s_j^{\circ}(t)\}_{j=0,1,...}$. These are heuristic arguments behind the statement (4.5.1).

4.5.2 Approximate option pricing

According to lemma 4.3.8, for each n = 1, ..., N the risk neutral probabilities $\{p_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,...,2^n}$ are approximated independently of the indices k and n by

$$p_{2kn}^N \sim \frac{\lambda T}{N}$$

$$p_{2k-1n}^N \sim 1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}.$$
(4.5.4)

Indeed, we have (4.3.40) with Δt_n substituted in (4.3.40) by T/N. This allows us to the approximate the probability distribution $\{P_{kN}\}_{k=1,\dots,2^N}$ defined by (4.3.45). Recall for this purpose the partition introduced in Chapter 2, Example 2.3.1, of the set of all possible terminal states $\{s_{kN}\}_{k=1,\dots,2^N}$ into N + 1disjoint subsets $\Pi_0, \Pi_1, \dots, \Pi_N$, so that if a state belongs to Π_j , then the corresponding trajectory evolves with exactly j upward and N - j downward displacements. The number of all such trajectories equals to $\binom{N}{j}$. In virtue of (4.3.45) and (4.5.4), in all these cases, i.e. in all cases when $s_{kN} \in \Pi_j$, we have the same approximation

$$P_{kN}^N \sim \left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^j \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{N-j}.$$
(4.5.5)

We want to apply (4.5.5) to the option pricing formula (4.3.57). By taking into consideration the approximation of Section 4.4.1 to the states of the stock price, we obtain

$$C^N \sim \sum_{j=0}^N \binom{N}{j} \left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^j \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{N-j} (\dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T) - \dot{K})^+.$$
(4.5.6)

The expression on the right hand side may be simplified, since for each fixed integer $j \geq 0$

$$\binom{N}{j} \left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{j} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{N-j}$$
$$= \frac{(\lambda T)^{j}}{j!} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{N-j} \left(1 - \frac{1}{N}\right) \cdots \left(1 - \frac{j-1}{N}\right)$$

tends to $\frac{(\lambda T)^j}{j!}e^{-\lambda T}$ as $N \to \infty$. The limit is $p_j(\lambda T)$, cf (4.2.14). Thus (4.5.6) yields

$$C^N \sim \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda T) (\dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T) - \dot{K})^+,$$

cf (4.4.40).

4.5.3 Approximate hedging strategy

In this section the heuristic arguments of the previous Sections 4.4.1 and 4.4.2 are applied to the hedging strategy against the European call option. The construction of this strategy is based on the formula (4.3.54) with the discounted states

$$\hat{w}_k^N(T) = (\dot{s}_k^N(T) - \dot{K})^+, \ 2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j,$$
(4.5.7)

and the transition probabilities

$$P_{kN}^n, \ 2^n(j-1) < k \le 2^n j.$$
 (4.5.8)

We already know from Section 4.4.1 how to approximate the states (4.5.7). The set of the transition probabilities (4.5.8) has to be approximated as well, for all $j \in \{1, \ldots, 2^{N-n}\}$. By arguments similar to that of the previous section, the approximation is free of the index k. Indeed, all entries in the subset of (4.5.8) corresponding to the subset of the trajectories with exactly j upward and n-j downward displacements, $j \in \{0, 1, \ldots, n\}$, are approximated by the same number

$$\left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^j \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{n-j},\,$$

due to (4.3.44) and (4.5.4). For each $j \in \{0, 1, \ldots, n\}$ this subset consists of $\binom{n}{j}$ entries. Consequently, the process W^N of Section 4.3.3 occupies at time $t \in [0, T]$ one of the states $\dot{w}_{k\tau}^N$ with $\tau \doteq \lfloor tN/T \rfloor$ and with some $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{\tau}$. Each of these states is approximated as follows:

$$\dot{w}_{k\tau}^N \sim \sum_{j=0}^{N-\tau} \binom{N-\tau}{j} \left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^j \left(1-\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{N-\tau-j} \dot{w}_{k+j}^N(T)$$
(4.5.9)

where $\hat{w}_j^N(T)$ is given by (4.5.7). The expression on the right hand side may be simplified by the following considerations. Firstly, by the results of section 5.1 and by (4.5.7)

$$\dot{w}_j^N(T) \sim \dot{w}_j(T) \tag{4.5.10}$$

with

$$\dot{w}_j(T) = (\dot{s}_j^{\circ}(T) - \dot{K})^+.$$

Secondly, for each integer $j \ge 0$ and $t \in [0, T]$

$$\binom{N-\tau}{j} \left(\frac{\lambda T}{N}\right)^{j} = \frac{(\lambda T)^{j}}{j!} \left(1 - \frac{\tau}{N}\right) \cdots \left(1 - \frac{\tau-j}{N}\right)$$
$$\rightarrow \frac{\{\lambda (T-t)\}^{j}}{j!} \tag{4.5.11}$$

as $N \to \infty$, with the same integer $\tau \doteq |tN/T|$. Finally,

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N} \right)^{N - \tau - j} = \lim_{N \to \infty} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda T}{N} \right)^{N \left(1 - \frac{t}{T} \right)}$$
$$= e^{-\lambda (T - t)}. \tag{4.5.12}$$

In view of (4.2.14), the equations (4.5.9)-(4.5.12) result in

$$\dot{w}_{k\tau}^N \sim \dot{w}_k(t) \tag{4.5.13}$$

where

$$\hat{w}_k(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} p_j(\lambda(T-t))\hat{w}_{k+j}(T)$$

(cf (4.4.35)). Thus we have derived the relation (4.5.13) between the states of the processes \hat{W}^N and \hat{W} which yield the value processes for the hedging strategies against the European call option in the prelimiting binary market of Section 4.3 and the Poisson market of Section 4.4, respectively.

Chapter 5

Gaussian Approximation

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Outline of this chapter

In this chapter we consider the situation in which a binary securities market allows for the Gaussian approximation to be carried out in Section 5.4.3. For the necessary material on binary markets we refer to Part I and the previous Chapter 4, Section 3.

Throughout the present chapter the basic Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 are assumed, see the next section. They restrict the limiting behaviour of the asset prices. Condition 4.3.1 on the bond is inherited from Chapter 4, while Condition 5.1.1 on the stock differs completely from Condition 4.3.2 in Chapter 4. It is in fact the adaptation of the conditions well-known in the probability theory, under which random walk admits diffusion approximation (see e.g. [11], [34] and various papers in [70]). But since the reader is not supposed to be familiar with advanced methods of the probability theory, the presentation is kept at the same low technical level as in the previous chapters, with the help of certain unsophisticated algebraic considerations. The emphasis then will be on phenomenological understanding the cash flow mechanism in the market under consideration, that is shown to reveal strong similarity to physical Brownian motion (more generally, to diffusion with drift) or to the molecular mechanism of heat flow, cf Sections 5.2 and 5.3. For more details on the economical laws governing the market, we refer to the seminal paper [6] by Black and Scholes; cf also Wilmott. The results obtained in this manner in the Sections 5.4.3 and 5.5, are of heuristic nature (comparable to e.g. [13], [40] and [75]), for the full rigour would require higher technical level of the general theory of stochastic processes, cf [15], [17], [23], [28], [29], and [75] – [77]. For further reading we would recommend a selective list of papers [46], [50] and [51], which are related to various extend to the present subject but leading the reader far afield. The point of view taken in the present chapter is somewhat different: an attempt is made to facilitate reading without an advanced probabilistic prerequisite.

For instance, Section 5.2 introduces the reader to Brownian motion and its original mathematical model by Wiener. The relation to diffusion and thermal conductance is discussed in Section 5.3. Usage of heat equations for the description of the cash flow dynamics in Section 5.5 is preceded by Proposition 5.4.3 that asserts an approximate heat equation for value processes in binary markets (somewhat in the spirit of Kac's paper on random walk in [70]). Moving towards the continuous-time model, in Section 5.4.3 the approximation is discussed to the option pricing formula for the European call option. The final result is the celebrated Black-Scholes formula (5.5.21), cf [6]. The seminal paper [39] inspired some authors to integrate this formula in the mathematical textbooks on martingales and stochastic calculus, cf e.g. [48], Section 5.8, [60], Chapter 12, or [73], Section 15.2. Of course, it constitutes the backbone of all recent textbooks on mathematical finance. In Section 5.5 the Black-Scholes model is described in which the stock price process is assumed to be a geometrical Brownian motion. The theory is developed along the same lines as in the previous parts: the properties of the possible states of the discounted stock prices asserted in Proposition 5.5.1 are shared by every discounted value process for a self-financing strategy (see Proposition 5.5.3) and all these stem from the fact that the Gaussian transition probability density u in (5.5.6) and (5.5.12) satisfies the heat equation (5.3.2). In Chapter 4 we have had the similar situation: the Poisson distribution has been shown to possess the property asserted in Lemma 4.2.2 and therefore we have had (4.4.13) and (4.4.29). The counterpart in Part I of these are (3.3.4) and (3.3.14), respectively. These are basically the arguments for the completeness of our markets; cf Chapter 3, Proposition 3.4.3, Chapter 4, Proposition 4.4.5, and the present chapter, Proposition 5.5.6. In these propositions we construct the hedging strategies against any wealth desired at the terminal date T. Finally, pricing of contingent claims is accomplished by the procedure described at the end of Section 5.4.

5.1.2 Basic conditions

In this section the assumptions will be made to guarantee desired approximations. The basic setup is same as in Chapter 4, Section 3. Condition 4.3.1 on the bond prices is retained unaltered, but the condition on the stock prices essentially differ from previous Condition 4.3.2. New prices on both assets are again announced at certain fixed trading times, say $t_0 < t_1 < \cdots < t_N$ where $t_0 = 0$ is the current date and $t_N = T$ the terminal date. Moreover, the simplification introduced in Section 4.5 is also retained and new prices are supposed to be announced regularly so that trading times are equidistant, given by $t_n = nT/N$ for $n = 0, 1, \ldots, N$, and the stretch of the trading periods $\Delta t_n = t_n - t_{n-1}$ for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ are all given by $\Delta t_n = T/N$ (in fact one can proceed without this specification, however at the expense of some details which we want to avoid). The formulations are indeed somewhat simplified. For instance, the corresponding price processes $B^N = \{B_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ and $S^N = \{S_t^N\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ are defined in the entire time interval [0,T] by $B^N(t) = B_{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor}^N$ and $S^N(t) = S_{\lfloor tN/T \rfloor}^N$, where $\lfloor x \rfloor$ denotes the largest integer not exceeding x.

5.1. INTRODUCTION

Put $B^N(0) = 1$ and $S^N(0) = s$ for simplicity, where s is a certain positive number. The discounted stock price process is denoted as in the previous chapters by $\dot{S}^N = \{\dot{S}^N_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with $\dot{S}^N(t) = S^N(t)/B^N(t)$.

Like in the previous chapter, it is supposed throughout that the number N of the trading times is very large, and the approximation is sought to the option pricing formulas of Chapter 3. Letting $N \to \infty$ we will impose upon the grid $\{t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$ to become finer and finer, since the mesh width is T/N. Moreover, the asset prices ought to be made dependent on the index N in a certain special manner. Regarding the bond prices, see Conditions 4.3.1 in Section 4.3.1. The conditions on the behaviour of the returns on stock $\Delta R^N(t_n) = R^N(t_n) - R^N(t_{n-1})$ at trading times $\{t_n\}_{n=1,\ldots,N}$ are formulated as in Chapter 4 in terms of their states

$$r_{kn}^N \doteq \frac{s_{kn}^N}{s_{k_1 n-1}^N} - 1, \ k = 1, \dots, 2^n,$$
 (5.1.1)

where $k_1 = \lceil \frac{k}{2} \rceil$ as usual. But the present conditions are completely different.

Condition 5.1.1. At the trading time t_n with some $n \in \{1, ..., N\}$ the return on the stock $\Delta R^N(t_n)$ is in one of the 2^n states

$$r_{kn}^{N} = \begin{cases} \sigma\sqrt{\Delta t_{n}} + (a + \eta_{kn}^{N})\Delta t_{n} & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \\ -\sigma\sqrt{\Delta t_{n}} - (b + \eta_{kn}^{N})\Delta t_{n} & \text{if } k \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$
(5.1.2)

where $\sigma > 0$, a and b are some constants, while $\{\eta_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are negligible remainder terms as $N \to \infty$.

The negligibility of these remainder terms is understood as in Chapter 4, Remark 4.3.4. Using the same sign \sim as in Section 4.3.1 we may express (5.1.2) in the following form

$$r_{kn}^{N} \sim \begin{cases} \sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} + a \Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \\ -\sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} - b \Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.1.3)

If Condition 4.3.1 holds as well, then the states $\{\hat{r}_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ of the discounted net return $\Delta \hat{R}^N(t_n)$ with $n \in \{1,\ldots,N\}$ are approximated as follows. Due to (4.3.10) it follows from the relation (2.3.16) in Part I, Chapter 2, that the net returns on the stock $\Delta \hat{R}^N(t_n)$ are approximated by the excess returns $\Delta (R^N - \mathcal{R}^N)_n$. Apply (4.3.10) and (5.1.3) to the latter returns. We get

$$\dot{r}_{kn}^{N} \sim \begin{cases} \sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} + (a-r)\Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is even} \\ -\sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} - (b+r)\Delta t_n & \text{if } k \text{ is odd.} \end{cases}$$
(5.1.4)

By obvious reasons, the parameter $\sigma > 0$ determining the amplitude of the leading terms in these formulas is often called *volatility* (as well as *diffusion* coefficient or thermal diffusivity, depending on the context).

To anticipate the idea behind the forthcoming approximations in Section 5.4.3, note the following. Like in the previous chapters, let the even state indices correspond to the upward displacements, and the odd indices to the downward displacements. If now the same weight $\frac{1}{2}$ are assigned to both of these displacements, then in virtue of (5.1.4) the average return is approximated by

$$\frac{1}{2}(\hat{r}_{2k\,n}^{N} + \hat{r}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}) \sim \mu \Delta t_{n} \tag{5.1.5}$$

with a constant

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2}(a-b) - r \tag{5.1.6}$$

called the *drift coefficient*, since the drift μt in (5.5.3) and thereafter is in fact the accumulation of instant drifts on the right hand side of (5.1.5). Let us now average differently to get rid of the drift. Namely, let us correct the weights for upward and downward displacements to be

$$\frac{1}{2}(1-\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n}) \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{1}{2}(1+\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n}), \tag{5.1.7}$$

respectively. This results in the zero mean on the right hand side: the average return is approximated as follows.

Lemma 5.1.2. Under the conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 the weights (5.1.7) neutralize the upward displacements of the discounted net return on the stock against downward displacements in the sense that

$$\frac{1}{2}(1-\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n})\dot{r}^N_{2k\,n} + \frac{1}{2}(1+\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n})\dot{r}^N_{2k-1\,n} \sim 0.$$
(5.1.8)

Proof. Under the required conditions we have (5.1.4) and hence (5.1.5) and (5.1.6). These give

$$\frac{1}{2}(1-\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n})\dot{r}_{2k\,n}^N + \frac{1}{2}(1+\frac{\mu}{\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_n})\dot{r}_{2k-1\,n}^N$$
$$\sim \quad \mu\Delta t_n - \frac{\mu}{2\sigma}\Delta t_n(2\sigma + (a+b)\sqrt{\Delta t_n}) = -\frac{a+b}{2}\frac{\mu}{\sigma}(\Delta t_n)^{3/2}.$$

The right hand side of this relation is of a lower magnitude then that of (5.1.5). Hence, this relation is equivalent to (5.1.8).

In Section 5.4.1 the weights just used occur again in Formula (5.4.6), to serve as the approximation to the so-called risk neutral probabilities. The usage of the last term is in clear connection with the fact expressed by (5.1.8) that the drift is eliminated by suitable averaging. Compare Lemma 5.1.2 with its counterpart, Lemma 4.3.3 in Chapter 4. The difference is apparent. In contrast to (4.3.20), in (5.1.8) the weights are almost equally shared between the upward and downward displacements. Next, let us look at the terms proportional to $\sqrt{\Delta t_n}$ that are all the same in (5.1.2), (5.1.3) and (5.1.4). The sequence of the corresponding upward and downward displacements (as the index n runs trough $\{0, 1, \ldots, N\}$) are symmetrical and form the so-called symmetrical random walk, cf the special subsection in Part I, Section 2.2.2. This is a mathematical model of the hypothetical situation in which a minute particle,

immersed in a liquid, suffers many collisions with the molecules of the medium. These molecules, being in the thermal motion, impart energy and momentum to the particle, so that it undergoes very irregular and erratic motion. If we imagine the collisions regularly spread in time with intervals equal $\Delta t_n = T/N$ that results in either upward or downward displacements of equal chance with small steps of size $\sigma\sqrt{\Delta t_n}$, then we end up in the situation under consideration. Since the number of molecules N is very large, it is convenient to let $N \to \infty$ and to look for suitable approximations. One of the central results of the probability theory tells us that since the displacements are of considerably larger order of magnitude $\sim \sqrt{\Delta t_n}$ then the width Δt_n of the time interval, the degeneracies are excluded and the limiting process turns out to be mathematical Brownian motion. This process, denoted in the present paper by \mathcal{W} , will occur in the definitions (5.5.2) and (5.5.3), presenting the risky component in securities market models with continuous-time trading. Section 5.2 devoted to Wiener's original construction of Brownian motion (or Wiener process, as it is often called) and to various properties of its trajectories, although it may be not so easy to imagine their appearance. But if we try to imagine a very long realization of our symmetrical random walk plotted on a graph with regular small time intervals and with displacements per time interval proportional to the square root of its length, then we are led to expect that the trajectory of the limiting process, although continuous, has an infinite number of small spikes in any finite interval and is therefore non-differentiable. This is indeed the case, see Section 5.2.4 for further comments.

5.1.3 Gaussian distribution

In the present chapter an important rôle is played by the so-called $probability\ integral$

$$G(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} g(y) dy \tag{5.1.9}$$

with the density

$$\frac{dG(x)}{dx} \doteq g(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} e^{-\frac{x^2}{2}}.$$
(5.1.10)

Due to the property

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y)dy = 1 \tag{5.1.11}$$

this is the probability distribution, called the standard *Gaussian* or *normal* distribution. Generally, the Gaussian distribution $G(\cdot; \mu, \sigma^2)$ with two parameters $\mu \in (-\infty, \infty)$ and $\sigma^2 \in (0, \infty)$ called the *expectation* and *variance* respectively, is defined by $G(x; \mu, \sigma^2) = G(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma})$, with the density

$$\frac{dG(x;\mu,\sigma^2)}{dx} \doteq g(x;\mu,\sigma^2) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-\frac{(x-\mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}}.$$

This density will frequently occur in our considerations trough the function $u(\cdot, \cdot)$ of space coordinate $x \in (-\infty, \infty)$ and time $t \in (0, \infty)$, defined by

$$u(x,t) \doteq g(x;x_0 + \mu t, \sigma^2 t), \tag{5.1.12}$$

where μ and σ^2 are certain parameters, while x_0 is a certain initial site so that

$$\lim_{t \downarrow 0} u(x,t) = u(x,0) = \delta(x-x_0).$$
(5.1.13)

Here δ is Dirac's delta function with the following reproducing property: for any bounded continuous function f

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \delta(x - x_0) f(x) dx = f(x_0).$$
(5.1.14)

It is indeed not hard to see that for a such f

$$\lim_{t\downarrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x,t) f(x) dx = f(x_0).$$

To this end let $t \downarrow 0$ in the integral

$$\begin{aligned} &\frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi t\sigma}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \qquad e^{-\frac{(x-x_0-\mu t)^2}{2t\sigma^2}} f(x) dx \\ &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \quad e^{-\frac{y^2}{2}} f(x_0 + \mu t + y\sigma\sqrt{t}) dy, \end{aligned}$$

where the substitution $\frac{x-x_0-\mu t}{\sigma\sqrt{t}} = y$ is made. Since the limit can be taken under the integration sign, from (5.1.10) and (5.1.11) we get the convergence to the desired $f(x_0)$.

For brevity, we will use the following notations for partial derivatives:

$$u_t = \frac{\partial u}{\partial t}, \quad u_x = \frac{\partial u}{\partial x} \quad \text{and} \quad u_{xx} = \frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial x^2}.$$
 (5.1.15)
5.2 Brownian motion

5.2.1 Wiener's construction

In this section we will discuss Wiener's measure-theoretical analysis of the physical Brownian motion that had been discovered at about century earlier by Brown in 1820's, who made microscopic observations on the minute particles contained in the pollen of plants suspended in a liquid. He observed the highly irregular motion of these particles and made first attempts to interpret this strange phenomenon. However, the true cause of the motion became known much later. It was understood that highly irregular and erratic displacements arise from thermal motion of the molecules of the liquid in which the particles are immersed, as the result of extremely large number of collusions with these molecules. One of the first attempts to establish the mathematical framework for Brownian motion was undertaken at around the year 1900 by Bachelier, whose goal in his thesis on "theory of speculation" was to develop methods for option valuation (see [39], p 217, for a short description of these ideas). Few years later Einstein proposed the mathematical theory which we will touch upon in Section 5.3.1. Meanwhile, in this Section 5.2 we focus on Wiener's ideas as presented in his later books [71] and [72]. First, we will describe a set of trajectories along which the mathematical Brownian motion is allowed to evolve (called below Brownian paths, for brevity). Then we indicate various properties of this set of functions with which one is able to establish a sophisticated integration theory. We will start with setting up a mapping between certain sets of functions called quasi-intervals, and certain subintervals of the unit interval $0 \leq \alpha \leq 1$. This will be done in such a manner that the obtained functions $x(\cdot, \cdot)$, measurable in both arguments (t, α) , will be continuous in time t for almost every α . These will be trajectories of our Brownian motion.

5.2.2 Quasi-intervals

Let C_0 be a class of all real valued functions of time which start from the origin, i.e. if $f \in C_0$, then f(0) = 0. We are now going to define particular subsets of C_0 , called *quasi-intervals* by the reason to become clear soon. Let n be any positive integer, and let $\mathbf{t}_n = \{t_j\}_{j=1,...,n}$ be a set of n instants so that $0 < t_1 < \ldots < t_n \leq T$. These are n points on the t-axis. Through each of these points we pass the line perpendicular to the t-axis. On each such line, say j^{th} one, $j = 1, \ldots, n$, we choose an interval ι_j of the real axis. A quasi-interval $I_n(\mathbf{t}_n; \iota_1, \ldots, \iota_n)$ consists of all real-valued functions $f \in C_0$ whose values at t_j are confined to ι_j , i.e. $f(t_j) \in \iota_j$, $j = 1, \ldots, n$. For example, take n = 2 and $\mathbf{t}_2 = \{\frac{1}{2}T, T\}$ and consider the following four quasi-intervals:

$$I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \iota_{\ell_1}, \iota_{\ell_2}), \ \ell_1, \ell_2 = 1, 2, \tag{5.2.1}$$

with

$$\iota_1 = [-\infty, 0], \ \iota_2 = (0, \infty]. \tag{5.2.2}$$

Obviously, these four quasi-intervals partitioning the entire class C_0 , since each particular pair is disjoint (no function can belong to two different quasiintervals) and at the same time their union coincides with C_0 (each function necessarily belongs to one of these quasi-intervals). For instance, $I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \iota_1, \iota_1)$ consists of functions from C_0 whose values at $t = \frac{1}{2}T$ and t = T are non-positive, i.e. if $f \in I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \iota_1, \iota_1)$, then $f(\frac{1}{2}T) \leq 0$ and $f(T) \leq 0$. In this section we will be only interested in such sets of quasi-intervals, partitioning C_0 . Moreover, starting from the above partition, we will construct a sequence of finer and finer partitions of a special type. At the first stage just described the subindex n was equal 2. At the next stage it will be equal 2^2 , then 2^3 and so forth. The number of quasi-intervals involved at each stage will increase rapidly: starting from 4, at the n^{th} stage it will become $(2^n)^{2^n}$. But let us first describe the second stage. Take n = 4 and $\mathbf{t}_4 = \{\frac{1}{4}T, \frac{1}{2}T, \frac{3}{4}T, T\}$. This \mathbf{t}_4 contains the previous \mathbf{t}_2 , of course. Put

$$egin{aligned} & \iota_1 = \left[-\infty, an\left(-rac{\pi}{4}
ight)
ight], & \iota_2 = \left(an\left(-rac{\pi}{4}
ight), 0
ight], \ & \iota_3 = \left(0, anrac{\pi}{4}
ight], & \iota_4 = \left(anrac{\pi}{4}, \infty
ight]. \end{aligned}$$

This refines the previous segmentation (5.2.2) of a real line (drawn perpendicularly to the *t*-axis). Recall that $\tan x$ is a monotonically increasing function of $x \in \left[-\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{\pi}{2}\right]$, with $\tan 0 = 0$ and $\tan\left(\pm\frac{\pi}{2}\right) = \pm\infty$. Note that this concrete choice is immaterial, since any other monotonically increasing real-valued function will do as well. Define now a partition of C_0 by the 4⁴ quasi-intervals

$$I_4(\mathbf{t}_4; \iota_{\ell_1}, \dots, \iota_{\ell_4}), \ \ell_1, \dots, \ell_4 = 1, \dots, 4.$$
(5.2.3)

Clearly, this is a partition finer then the previous one since, for instance,

$$\bigcup_{\ell_1,\ell_3=1,\ldots,4} \bigcup_{\ell_2,\ell_4=1,2} I_4(\mathbf{t}_4;\iota_{\ell_1},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_4}) = I_2(\mathbf{t}_2;\iota_1,\iota_1),$$

and each quasi-interval of the previous stage is obtained by the union of a certain number of quasi-intervals of the next stage.

Carrying on in this manner, at the n^{th} stage we fix the set of 2^n dyadic instants $\mathbf{t}_{2^n} = \left\{\frac{j}{2^n}T\right\}_{j=1,\ldots,2^n}$ and partition \mathcal{C}_0 by the following quasi-intervals:

$$I_{2^n}(\mathbf{t}_{2^n};\iota_{\ell_1},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^n}}), \ \ell_1,\ldots,\ell_{2^n}=1,\ldots,2^n,$$

where

$$\iota_1 = \left[-\infty, \tan \frac{(1-2^{n-1})\pi}{2^n} \right],\,$$

and

$$\iota_{\ell} = \left(\tan \frac{(\ell - 1 - 2^{n-1})\pi}{2^n}, \tan \frac{(\ell - 2^{n-1})\pi}{2^n} \right], \ \ell = 2, 3, \dots, 2^n.$$

For example, $I_{2^n}(\mathbf{t}_{2^n}; \iota_1, \ldots, \iota_1)$ consists of all real-valued functions $f \in C_0$ whose values at the 2^n dyadic instants $t = \frac{1}{2^n}T, \frac{2}{2^n}T, \ldots, T$ are restricted by

5.2. BROWNIAN MOTION

the following inequalities:

$$f\left(\frac{j}{2}T\right) \le \tan\frac{(1-2^{n-1})\pi}{2^n}, \ \ j=1,\dots,2^n.$$

5.2.3 Equicontinuity

Of course, we have in the previous section purposely chosen for the exponential increase of dyadic instants of successive partitioning, in order to guarantee the convergence of certain procedures which will be set up below.

For each n = 1, 2, ... we have constructed $(2^n)^{2^n}$ quasi-intervals partitioning the entire class C_0 , since they do not intersect and their union coincide with C_0 . Following Wiener (cf [72]), we associate with each such quasi-interval, say $I_{2^n}(\mathbf{t}_{2^n}; \iota_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \iota_{\ell_{2^n}})$, a positive number $p\{I_{2^n}(\mathbf{t}_{2^n}; \iota_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \iota_{\ell_{2^n}})\}$ equal to

$$\int_{\iota_{\ell_1}} \cdots \int_{\iota_{\ell_{2^n}}} \prod_{j=1}^{2^n} u\left(y_j - y_{j-1}, t_j - t_{j-1}\right) dy_1 \cdots dy_{2^n},\tag{5.2.4}$$

where u is related to the Gaussian density g through (5.1.12) with $x_0 = \mu = 0$. For convenience we put $t_0 = y_0 = 0$. Using property (5.1.11) we obtain for each positive integer n that

$$\sum_{\ell_1\cdots\ell_{2^n}=1}^{2^n} p\left\{ I_{2^n}\left(\mathbf{t}_{2^n};\iota_{\ell_1},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^n}}\right) \right\} = 1.$$
(5.2.5)

Therefore the number defined by (5.2.4) is called the *probability* associated with the quasi-interval $I_{2^n}(\mathbf{t}_{2^n}; \iota_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \iota_{\ell_{2^n}})$.

As is mentioned in Section 5.2.2, each quasi-interval of the n^{th} stage may be represented by the union of certain number of quasi-intervals of the next $n + 1^{\text{th}}$ stage. Suppose

$$I_{2^{n}}(\mathbf{t}_{2^{n}};\iota_{\ell_{1}},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^{n}}})=\bigcup I_{2^{n+1}}(\mathbf{t}_{2^{n+1}};\iota_{\ell_{1}},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^{n+1}}}).$$

Then it is easily verified that

$$p\left\{I_{2^{n}}\left(\mathbf{t}_{2^{n}};\iota_{\ell_{1}},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^{n}}}\right)\right\} = \sum p\left\{I_{2^{n+1}}\left(\mathbf{t}_{2^{n+1}};\iota_{\ell_{1}},\ldots,\iota_{\ell_{2^{n+1}}}\right)\right\},$$
(5.2.6)

where the summation extends over the same set of indices as in the preceding union.

This procedure of ascribing probabilities to quasi-intervals may be nicely characterized by the following mapping. At the first stage map the quasiintervals (5.2.1) to the unit interval by starting at the origin and laying out on the α -axis 4 adjoining segments whose lengths are $p\{I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \ell_1, \ell_1)\}, p\{I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \ell_1, \ell$ $p\{I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \ell_2, \ell_1)\}\)$ and $p\{I_2(\mathbf{t}_2; \ell_2, \ell_2)\}\)$, respectively. At the second stage map the quasi-intervals (5.2.3) to the unit interval by continuing to translate the probabilities into lengths and by arranging the necessary segments in such a way that if a given quasi-interval $I_4(\mathbf{t}_4; \iota_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \iota_{\ell_4})$ is a portion of a certain quasi-interval of the first stage, then the corresponding segments stand in the same relation. It should be clear now that if this procedure is kept up indefinitely, the lengths of the image intervals on $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ will tend to zero.

In fact, no specification (5.2.4) is needed to satisfy the properties (5.2.5) and (5.2.6), but the following property, called *equicontinuity*, is based upon this special form of the associated probabilities (Gaussian form as specified in Section 5.1.3). Let us formulate this in the separate theorem. For $h \in (0, \infty)$ and $\lambda \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ denote by $C_0(h, \lambda)$ the subset of C_0 consisting of functions $f \in C_0$ such that for all dyadic instants t_1 and t_2

$$|f(t_1) - f(t_2)| \le h|t_1 - t_2|^{\lambda}.$$
(5.2.7)

Note that if h < h', then $C_0(h, \lambda) \subset C_0(h', \lambda)$. Denote by $C_0(h, \lambda)^c$ the complement set to C_0 .

Proposition 5.2.1. For $h \in (0, \infty)$ and $\lambda \in [0, \frac{1}{2})$ the subset $C_0(h, \lambda)^c$ of C_0 can be enclosed in the union of quasi-intervals whose probability (the sum of the probabilities of the involved quasi-intervals) is less then certain number p(h) which tends to vanish, i.e. $p(h) \to 0$ as $h \to \infty$.

For the present we assume this result, since the proof is too lengthy to be reproduced here, though not difficult technically, see e.g. WIENER et. al. [72], Section 2.3. For a general context on equicontinuity sets of functions and related results, including Ascoli's theorem which we are going to apply below, see DIEUDONNÉ [20], Section 7.5. In order to use these general arguments we note first that Proposition 5.2.1 allows us to associate with any $\varepsilon > 0$ a positive number $h_0 = h_0(\varepsilon)$ and to confine our considerations to h's such that $p(h) < \varepsilon$ for $h > h_0$. We then delete a denumerable set of quasi-intervals of total probability $< \varepsilon$ so as to obtain the remainder in \mathcal{C}_0 that consists of functions satisfying (5.2.7) for all dyadic couples of instants from [0, T]. But we seek more - we want a set of functions satisfying (5.2.7) at all couples of instants from [0, T], not necessarily dyadic. Therefore we have to modify the set obtained above (of functions f satisfying (5.2.7) at all dyadic couples of instants), associating with each element f a unique continuous function F by identity F(t) = f(t) at a dyadic t and $F(t) = \lim_{t_n \to t} f(t_n)$ where $\{t_n\}_{n=1,2,\ldots}$ is a sequence of dyadic instants converging to t. This modification yields the set of continuous functions F with property (5.2.7) at each $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$. This is an equicontinuous class of uniformly bounded (by the above h) functions and in virtue of Ascoli's theorem mentioned above every sequence within this class has a uniformly convergent subsequence. The limit is itself continuous, with the equicontinuity property (5.2.7) at each $t_1, t_2 \in [0, T]$.

In view of the above construction and of Proposition 5.2.1, we are led to shrink the interval $0 \le \alpha \le 1$ by removal of a set of points of a negligible total length, so that every point α that remains has threefold characterization:

a) by a sequence of intervals closing down on it,

b) by the sequence of corresponding quasi-intervals and

c) by a uniquely determined function F common to this sequence of quasiintervals, equicontinuous in the above sense.

We denote this function be $w(\cdot, \alpha)$. For variable α these are the trajectories of our Brownian motion.

5.2.4 Quadratic variation

The Brownian paths, although almost all continuous, turn out to be very irregular in nature. It can be shown, for instance, that for almost all α and each fixed instant t

$$\limsup_{\Delta t \to 0} \frac{w(t + \Delta t, \alpha) - w(t, \alpha)}{\Delta t} = \infty$$

In other words, at each instant t the Brownian paths have infinite upper derivatives. Some explanation of this phenomenon is provided by the fact that in the prelimiting situation our symmetric random walk was allowed to make steps of considerably larger order of magnitude then the length of time intervals (see the discussion at the end of Section 5.1.2).

The next uncommon fact about the irregular character of the Brownian paths is that they almost all have infinite length. This follows from the following general remark concerning any continuous function f of time $t \in [0, T]$: for any grid $\{t_0, t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} [\Delta f(t_j)]^2 \leq \max_{j \in \{1, \dots, N\}} |\Delta f(t_j)| \sum_{j=1}^{N} |\Delta f(t_j)|$$

with $\Delta f(t_j) = f(t_j) - f(t_{j-1})$. Hence, if the continuous function is of bounded variation (in the sense that the sum on the right is bounded independently of the choice of the grid or, geometrically, that the graph has infinite length) the sum on the left vanishes as the mesh width tends to zero. The following proposition asserts that this sum tends to zero for almost no Brownian path, hence almost no path has bounded variation.

Proposition 5.2.2. For any time interval [0,t], let $\{t_0,t_1,\ldots,t_N\}$ be the dyadic grid of equidistant instants $t_j = \frac{j}{N}t$ with $N = 2^n$. Then for almost all α the sum of squares of the increments converges as $n \to \infty$:

$$\sum_{j=1}^{N} [\Delta w(t_j, \alpha)]^2 \to \sigma^2 t.$$
(5.2.8)

The proof of this important result lays beyond the scope of the present paper (though probabilistic proofs are not very complicated, see e.g. [21], Section 8.2, or [42], Section 2.2). Instead, let us provide some intuitive explanation by turning back to the prelimiting situation of the symmetric random walk: within each time interval the square of the step size equals to the length of this interval multiplied by σ^2 . Hence, the sum of squares yields the length t of the whole interval [0, t] multiplied by the same σ^2 . Note that the right hand side in (5.2.8) is the same for almost all α . The limiting function $\sigma^2 t$ is special: within a wide class of stochastic processes (martingales with continuous sample paths, see [67], proposition 7.3) with convergent sums of type (5.2.8), only Brownian motion possesses this limit. Generally, such a limit, obtained from the increments of a certain underlying process X, depends on α and therefore constitutes a stochastic process with non-decreasing sample paths of bounded variation. It is usually denoted by $\langle X \rangle$ and called the quadratic variation process for X. If, for instance, X is a stochastic process of bounded variation, then $\langle X \rangle_t \equiv 0$. As we have already seen $\langle W \rangle_t = \sigma^2 t$. Regarding quadratic variation processes, this is all we need for the present, see [67] for further references. In addition we only observe, anticipating Section 5.5, that also $\langle \hat{R}^\circ \rangle_t = \sigma^2 t$ for the discounted return process $\hat{R}^\circ = \{\hat{R}^\circ_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$, since the presence of the drift μt in (5.5.3) is immaterial.

5.2.5 Itô's integral

Since almost no Brownian path is of bounded variation, the integral with respect to \mathcal{W} cannot be defined in any conventional way, unless an integrand itself is of bounded variation, as in the latter case it can be defined in the usual Riemann-Stieltjes sense, see e.g. [37], p 55, or [56], pp 14–15. Indeed, if the integrand Φ has sample paths $\phi(\cdot, \alpha)$ of bounded variation for almost all α , then one can overcome difficulties on defining $\int_0^t \Phi_{\theta} d\mathcal{W}_{\theta}$ by means of the integrating by parts formula which yields

$$\int_0^t \phi(\theta, \alpha) dw(\theta, \alpha) = \phi(t, \alpha) w(t, \alpha) - \int_0^t w(\theta, \alpha) d\phi(\theta, \alpha).$$
(5.2.9)

This device is efficient for our purposes in Section 5.5, since the integrands are interpreted there as investor's portfolios during a finite trading period that by nature cannot have sample paths of infinite length.

However in theory we need more, for instance, the integral of form $\int_0^t W_{\theta} dW$ which cannot be defined in the above sense. An attempt to evaluate this integral explicitly would not lead to usual answer $\frac{1}{2}W_t^2$ (as would be the case, if W were of bounded variation). Instead, we get

$$2\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{W}_{\theta} d\mathcal{W}_{\theta} = \mathcal{W}_{t}^{2} - \langle \mathcal{W} \rangle_{t}$$
(5.2.10)

with $\langle \mathcal{W} \rangle_t = \sigma^2 t$ the quadratic variation of \mathcal{W} , see the previous section. In order to understand how the additional term (referred sometimes to as Itô's correction term) enters into consideration, look at the following Riemann-Stieltjes sum for this integral: with the notations of Proposition 5.2.2

$$2\sum_{j=1}^{N} w(t_{j-1}, \alpha) \Delta w(t_j, \alpha) = w^2(t, \alpha) - \sum_{j=1}^{N} [\Delta w(t_j, \alpha)]^2.$$

The identity is obtained by elementary algebra, cf [37], p 60, [42], p 157. Let now $N \to \infty$. According to Itô's integration theory, the left hand side tends

5.2. BROWNIAN MOTION

to $2\int_0^t w(\theta, \alpha) dw(\theta, \alpha)$, while the second term on the right tends to $\sigma^2 t$ by Proposition 5.2.2.

Surely, it is just impossible to enter here in details of stochastic calculus. For a good introduction we have already referred to [67] where further references can be found. For the same purposes one can also use [56], Section 1.1.3, [37], Chapter 4, [42], Section 4.5 (or [63] for more advanced theory). In the sequel we only intend to give some insight in formulas needed in Section 5.5. Firstly, we observe that the work on integration begins with a class of elementary integrands so that there is no confusion about how to integrate them. These are so-called simple processes whose sample paths are piecewise constant functions with discontinuities at certain fixed instants. They depend at each $t \in [0, T]$ only on the past of Brownian motion. See [67], formula (5.2). Then the integral with respect to \mathcal{W} over any interval [0, t] is defined in an obvious manner as the corresponding Riemann-Stieltjes sum: if Φ is an integrand whose sample path is observed to jump at instant t_j with $\phi_j(\alpha), j = 0, 1, \ldots, n$, then $\int_0^t \Phi_{\theta} d\mathcal{W}_{\theta}$ is defined by

$$\int_0^t \phi(\theta, \alpha) dw(\theta, \alpha) = \sum_{j=0}^n \phi_j(\alpha) [w(t_{j+1} \wedge t, \alpha) - w(t_j \wedge t, \alpha)],$$

cf [67], formula (5.3); for properties of this integral, see [67], proposition 5.2. We have, for instance, that the quadratic variation of the continuous process $X_t = \int_0^t \Phi_{\theta} dW_{\theta}$ is

$$\langle X \rangle_t = \int_0^t \Phi_\theta^2 d\langle \mathcal{W} \rangle_\theta = \sigma^2 \int_0^t \Phi_\theta^2 d\theta.$$
 (5.2.11)

Next, the definition is extended to a class of integrands approachable in a certain sense by sequences of simple processes. The integral of an integrand from this class is defined as the limit of the corresponding integrals of simple processes (the limit has to be independent of a particular choice of the approximating sequence). This is quite a delicate task. What makes theory operational is that one can take care about integration rules known from ordinary calculus. For instance, the chain rule says that if X is as above and Ψ is a suitable integrand, then

$$\int_0^t \Psi_\theta dX_\theta = \int_0^t \Psi_\theta \Phi_\theta d\mathcal{W}_\theta.$$
(5.2.12)

Next another important rule – Itô's formula (called sometimes the change of variables rule). Let u be a certain sufficiently smooth function of its arguments x and t, a space coordinate and time respectively, at least continuously differentiable in time and twice differentiable in space. Then with X possessing property (5.2.11) and with the notations (5.1.15) we have

$$u(X_t, t) = u(X_0, 0) + \int_0^t u_x(X_\theta, \theta) dX_\theta + \int_0^t u_t(X_\theta, \theta) d\theta + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \int_0^t u_{xx}(X_\theta, \theta) d\langle X \rangle_\theta.$$
(5.2.13)

The proof is based on the fact that the quadratic variation $\langle X \rangle$ is non-zero, given by (5.2.11). Hence, when the function $u(\cdot, \cdot)$ is developed in Taylor's expansion, there is a (unconventional) contribution from the second term that yields Itô's correction term. This is a fundamental formula of stochastic calculus and its proof can be found in the textbooks we refer to, cf e.g. [48], Section 3.3. This section is closed by two applications.

(i) Put $u(x,t) = x^2$. From (5.2.13) we obtain an extension of (5.2.10) to X. (ii) Put $u(x,t) = e^{x+\mu t}$ with some constant μ and apply (5.2.13) to $X = \mathcal{W} - \frac{1}{2} \langle \mathcal{W} \rangle$, as is done in [67], p 371. We obtain that $Z_t = e^{\mathcal{W}_t + \mu t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 t}$ satisfies the following linear integral equation $Z_t = 1 + \int_0^t Z_{\theta} d\mathcal{W}_{\theta}$. The solution Z is known as Doléans-Dade (or stochastic) exponential and is denoted by $Z = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{W})$. Clearly, if \mathcal{W} in this integral equation were an ordinary function of bounded variation, say F, then we would simply have the ordinary exponential $Z = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{W}) = e^F$.

5.3 Heat equations

5.3.1 Fokker-Planck equation

In this section we follow HIDA [42] in his short account of Einstein's ideas concerning Brownian motion. We need to consider only the projection of the motion onto a line. The density of pollen grains per unit length at an instant twill be denoted by $u(\cdot, t)$. This is a function of a space coordinate $x \in (-\infty, \infty)$. Suppose that the movement occurs uniformly in both time and space, so that the proportion of the pollen grains moved from x to x + y in a time interval $(t, t + \Delta t)$ of length Δt may be written $p(y, \Delta t)$, as this is independent of x and t. For this time interval we thus obtain the superposition

$$u(x,t+\Delta t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x-y,t)p(y,\Delta t)dy$$
(5.3.1)

(valid under suitable smoothness conditions on the functions u and p, none of our present concern). Further, the function p is supposed to be a probability density possessing property (5.1.11), with the first two moments proportional to Δt :

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} y^{i} p(y, \Delta t) dy = \begin{cases} \mu \Delta t & \text{if } i = 1\\ \sigma^{2} \Delta t & \text{if } i = 2 \end{cases}$$

where the proportionality parameters $\mu \in (-\infty, \infty)$ an $\dot{}^{2} \in (0, \infty)$ are called the *drift* and *diffusion* coefficients, respectively, by the cason to become clear soon. Then the Taylor expansion of (5.3.1) for small increments Δt

$$u(x,t) + \Delta t \ u_t(x,t) + \cdots$$

=
$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \{u(x,t) - yu_x(x,t) + \frac{1}{2}y^2 u_{xx}(x,t) - \cdots \} p(y,\Delta t) dy$$

(recall notations (5.1.15) for corresponding partial derivatives) reduces to the following second order partial differential equation

$$u_t = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 u_{xx} - \mu u_x. \tag{5.3.2}$$

This is the well-known Fokker-Planck equation for diffusion with drift (see e.g. [34], Section 14.6 or [11], Section 5.6). Suppose that initially the grain is at certain site x_0 say, which yields the initial condition (5.1.13). Then integrating (5.3.2), we obtain

Proposition 5.3.1. The solution of the Fokker-Planck equation (5.3.2) subject to the initial condition (5.1.13) is given by (5.1.12).

Proof. To verify that u given by (5.1.12) satisfies (5.3.2), make use of g'(x) = -xg(x) and calculate directly from (5.1.12) the corresponding partial derivatives (5.1.15). As was already seen in Section 5.1.3 the initial condition (5.1.13) is satisfied as well. The proof is complete.

According to the theory of stochastic processes in the particular case of $x_0 = 0$, $\mu = 0$ and $\sigma = 1$ the *u* thus obtained turns out to be the transition probability function for standard Brownian motion (viewed as a Markov process, see e.g. [42], Section 2.4). In general this is the transition probability function for *diffusion* that consists of two terms, a deterministic term plus a stochastic term. The latter term is Brownian motion (which starts from an arbitrary site x_0 , not necessarily the origin) scaled by σ , a constant associated with the medium. The deterministic term occurs only in presence of external field of source (e.g. gravity) which causes the drift μt .

In the next section we will discuss the strong similarity between diffusion and the molecular mechanism of thermal conductance. Of course, in contrast to diffusion there are no actual migration particles bearing heat, so that in this case relevant partial differential equations of type (5.3.2) have to be derived by phenomenological considerations.

5.3.2 Thermal conductance

In physics equation (5.3.2) emerge again in the following problem of thermal conductance. Let u be a certain sufficiently smooth function of its arguments x and t, a space coordinate and time respectively, at least continuously differentiable in time and twice differentiable in space. Consider the partial differential equation (5.3.2) with $\mu = 0$. In the present context, this is called the *heat equation*, because it describes the temperature distribution of a certain homogeneous isotropic body, in the absence of any heat sources within the body (it is enough for our purposes to restrict the consideration to special case of 'scalar body', a rod; see e.g. [9], [36], [48] or [69]). Otherwise, if a certain heat source causes temperature change proportional to time, with a proportionality parameter μ , then the heat equation is (5.3.2). In the present context the parameter σ^2 is called *thermal diffusivity* (as was pointed out by Einstein, $\sigma^2 = \frac{RT}{Nf}$ where N is universal constant depending on suspending material, T the absolute temperature, N the Avogadro number and f the coefficient of friction, see e.g. [72], Section 2.1).

Furthermore, in cases where the heat flow consists of both conduction and radiation, the heat equation has to be altered to include the effects of radiation. For instance, consider the temperature distribution in a rod which has a longitudinal heat flow due to conduction, as well as heat radiation from the surface. By Newton's law of surface heat transfer the rate of cooling per unit length of bar can be estimated by $r\bar{u}(\cdot, \cdot)$ where r is a positive constant and \bar{u} a function of x and t expressing the excess of temperature of the bar over its surroundings. The heat equation then becomes

$$\bar{u}_t + r\bar{u} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \bar{u}_{xx} - \mu \bar{u}_x.$$
(5.3.3)

But the latter equation is easily reduced to the previous (5.3.2) by a change of variable

$$\bar{u}(x,t) = e^{-rt}u(x,t)$$
 (5.3.4)

5.3. HEAT EQUATIONS

with u satisfying (5.3.2). Thus, by integrating (5.3.2) and substituting the result into (5.3.4) we get the solution to (5.3.3). If, for instance, we look for a particular solution of (5.3.3) which yields the temperature distribution within the body due to a unit source of heat that at the initial date t = 0 is totally concentrated at a site x_0 , then according to Proposition 5.3.1 the solution to (5.3.3) is given by

$$\bar{u}(x,t) = e^{-rt}g(x;x_0 + \mu t, \sigma^2 t).$$
(5.3.5)

Consider now the situation in which the distribution of temperature throughout the body at the initial date t = 0 is not concentrated at a certain site x_0 as before, but presented by a sufficiently smooth function f. Then the problem of thermal conductance consists of integrating the heat equation (5.3.3) subject to the initial condition

$$\bar{u}(x,0) = f(x).$$
 (5.3.6)

Proposition 5.3.2. The solution of the heat equation (5.3.3) subject to the initial Condition (5.3.6) is given by

$$\hat{v}(x,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{u}(y-x,t)f(y)dy$$
(5.3.7)

with \bar{u} of form (5.3.5) where $x_0 = 0$.

Proof. As was already noted, one can set r = 0 without loss of generality. Then it is easily seen that (5.3.7) satisfies (5.3.2) since the required partial differentiation can be carried out under the integral sign. To complete the proof, evaluate (5.3.7) at t = 0 by taking into consideration (5.1.12) and the property (5.1.14) of the limit (5.1.13).

As was mentioned in Section 5.1.1, the option valuation problem of Section 5.5.3 reveals strong similarity to the problem of heat conduction where at a certain instant T (call it *maturity*, as usual) the distribution of temperature throughout the body is given and it is required to restore the previous process.

Suppose first that at maturity t = T the temperature distribution is totally concentrated at a certain site x_0 . Then the problem consists in solving equation

$$-\bar{u}_t + r\bar{u} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \bar{u}_{xx} - \mu \bar{u}_x \tag{5.3.8}$$

subject to the boundary condition $\bar{u}(x,T) = \delta(x-x_0)$. By the same arguments as above, we get the solution (5.3.5) but now with time to maturity $\tau = T - t$ on the right hand side instead of t.

Finally, let the temperature distribution at maturity t = T be presented by a certain sufficiently smooth function f, so that the boundary condition becomes

$$\bar{u}(x,T) = f(x).$$
 (5.3.9)

Then Proposition 5.3.2 yields

Corollary 5.3.3. The solution of the heat equation (5.3.8) subject to the boundary condition (5.3.9) is given by

$$\hat{u}(x,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{u}(x-y;\tau)f(y)dy$$
(5.3.10)

with time to maturity $\tau = T - t$ and with \bar{u} of form (5.3.5) where $x_0 = 0$.

5.3.3 Modified heat equation

The problem considered at the end of the previous section is a special case of the general *Cauchy problem*, the solution of which is known as the *Feynman-Kac* formula, see e.g. [48], Section 5.7. In this section another special case will be treated, the solution of which yields in Section 5.5 the celebrated *Black-Scholes* formula (5.5.21) for option valuation, cf [6].

Let h be a function of a positive space coordinate $x \in (0, \infty)$ and time $t \in (0, \infty)$. Consider the following partial differential equation: for these x and t

$$-h_t + rh = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 x^2 h_{xx} - \mu x h_x.$$
(5.3.11)

First look for the particular solution of this equation subject to the boundary condition that for sufficiently smooth functions f of a positive argument we have at any positive site x_0

$$\lim_{t\uparrow T} \int_0^\infty h(\frac{x}{x_0}, t) f(x) \frac{dx}{x} \to f(x_0).$$
 (5.3.12)

It is easily verified by the same arguments as above that the solution is given by $h(x,t) = \bar{u}(\log x, \tau)$ where \bar{u} is again given by (5.3.5) but this time with $x_0 = 0$ and with $\mu + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2$ instead of μ , i.e.

$$h(x,t) = e^{-r\tau} g(\log x; \mu\tau + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\tau, \sigma^2\tau).$$
(5.3.13)

Indeed, (5.3.11) is obtained by differentiating $h(x,t) = \bar{u}(\log x, \tau)$ and taking (5.3.8) into consideration, and (5.3.12) by taking the limit as $\tau \to 0$ on the right hand side of

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} h(\frac{x}{x_{0}}, t) f(x) \frac{dx}{x} = e^{-r\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y; \mu\tau + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\tau, \sigma^{2}\tau) f(x_{0}e^{y}) dy.$$

We apply this to the following boundary problem. Let H be a sufficiently smooth function of a positive argument (e.g. $(x - K)^+$ as in Section 5.4.3). Integrate (5.3.11) subject to the boundary condition

$$h(x,T) = H(x).$$
 (5.3.14)

5.3. HEAT EQUATIONS

Proposition 5.3.4. The solution of the modified heat equation (5.3.11) subject to the boundary Condition (5.3.14) is given by

$$\bar{h}(x,t) = \int_0^\infty h\left(\frac{x}{y},t\right) H(y)\frac{dy}{y}$$
(5.3.15)

with h defined by (5.3.13).

Proof. Write (5.3.15) in the form

$$\bar{h}(x,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \bar{u}(\log x - y, \tau) H(e^y) dy$$
(5.3.16)

and apply the same arguments as in the course of proving Proposition 5.3.2. \Box By obvious change of variables we get from (5.3.13) and (5.3.16) that

$$\bar{h}(x,t) = e^{-r\tau} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y, -\mu\tau, \sigma^2\tau) H(xe^{y-\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\tau}) dy, \qquad (5.3.17)$$

the formula to which we will return in the Sections 5.4.3 and 5.5.

5.4 Towards the Black–Scholes model

5.4.1 Risk neutral probabilities

The considerations of the present section follow at certain extend the pattern of Section 4.3, though the results are completely different, of course. Via Lemma 4.3.3 we have proceeded to the representation (4.3.41) and the corresponding approximation (4.3.40). Alike, we will depart from Lemma 5.1.2 to get the representation (5.4.7) and the approximation (5.4.6) for the risk neutral probabilities. Next, we will use the equations (4.3.46), i.e.

$$\dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^{N}(\pi) - \dot{v}_{k\,n-1}^{N}(\pi) = -p_{2k\,n}^{N} D_{k}(\dot{V}_{n}^{N}(\pi)), \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^{n-1}, \qquad (5.4.1)$$

with

$$D_k(\dot{V}_n^N(\pi)) = \dot{v}_{2k\,n}^N(\pi) - \dot{v}_{2k-1\,n}^N(\pi)$$
(5.4.2)

for n = 1, ..., N. From these equations and from Lemma 4.3.8 we have obtained Proposition 4.3.9. The latter was intended as a prelimiting version of Proposition 4.4.3 that provides an important characterization of the Poisson market. In the next subsection the same equations (5.4.1) will be combined with Lemma 5.4.2 to prove Proposition 5.4.3 that will provide a prelimiting version of the heat equation. Like the assertion of Proposition 4.3.9, the new result will be expressed in terms of the increments in time and space, as well. Since the heat equations involve the first and second order derivatives in the space coordinate, however, not only (5.4.2) but also the second differences will be involved

$$D_k^2(V_n(\pi)) = v_{4k\,n}(\pi) - v_{4k-1\,n}(\pi) - v_{4k-2\,n}(\pi) + v_{4k-3\,n}(\pi) \tag{5.4.3}$$

for n = 2, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-2}$.

In the remainder of the present subsection we are going to provide two lemmas. The second one is Lemma 5.4.2 mentioned above. It is preceded by Lemma 5.4.1 concerning the gross returns on the stock. From Section 2.3.2 we know that these returns satisfy $DZ^N = DS^N/S^N_-$. In virtue of (5.1.2) we have the following approximation.

Lemma 5.4.1. Under Condition 5.1.1 we have for n = 1, ..., N and $k = 1, ..., 2^{n-1}$ that

$$D_k(Z_n^N) = \frac{D_k(S_n^N)}{s_{k\,n-1}^N} = 2\sigma\sqrt{\Delta t_n}(1 + \xi_{k\,n-1}^N)$$
(5.4.4)

with remainder terms $\{\xi_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ negligible in the sense explained in Remark 4.3.4.

Proof. By (5.1.2)

$$D_k(Z_n^N) = r_{2k\,n}^N - r_{2k-1\,n}^N = 2\sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} + (a+b+\eta_{2k\,n}^N + \eta_{2k-1\,n}^N) \Delta t_n.$$

5.4. TOWARDS THE BLACK-SCHOLES MODEL

This satisfies (5.4.4) with

$$\xi_{k\,n-1}^{N} = \frac{a+b+\eta_{2k\,n}^{N}+\eta_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{2\sigma}\sqrt{\Delta t_{n}},\tag{5.4.5}$$

which under Condition 5.1.1 are indeed negligible remainder terms. \Box

It will be seen below that the risk neutral probabilities of the upward and downward displacements are asymptotically equivalent to the weights (5.1.7) used in Lemma 5.1.2, i.e. for $n = 1, \ldots, N$

$$p_{kn}^N \sim \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + (-1)^{k-1} \frac{\mu}{\sigma} \sqrt{\Delta t_n} \right), \quad k = 1, \dots, 2^n,$$
 (5.4.6)

with the parameters $\sigma > 0$ same as in (5.1.2) and μ as in (5.1.6). This is indeed a consequence of the assertion of the following

Lemma 5.4.2. Under the conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 the risk neutral probabilities $\{p_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ for $n = 1,\ldots,N$ may be represented as follows:

$$p_{kn}^{N} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + (-1)^{k-1} \left(\frac{\mu - \gamma_{kn-1}^{N}}{\sigma} \right) \sqrt{\Delta t_n} \right)$$
(5.4.7)

with remainder terms $\{\gamma_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ negligible (cf Remark 4.3.4).

Proof. For n = 1, ..., N let $\{\gamma_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,...,2^n}$ be defined by the equality

$$(1+\xi_{k\,n-1}^N)\gamma_{k\,n-1}^N = \varrho_n^N + \mu\xi_{k\,n-1}^N - \frac{\eta_{2k\,n}^N - \eta_{2k-1\,n}^N}{2}$$
(5.4.8)

.. ..

with r and ϱ_n^N as in Condition 4.3.1, σ and $\{\eta_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ as in Condition 5.1.1 and $\{\xi_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ as in (5.4.5). Hence under the Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 all of $\{\gamma_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are indeed negligible. Since by (4.3.10) and (5.1.2)

$$\rho_n^N - r_{2k-1\,n}^N = \sigma \sqrt{\Delta t_n} + \left(r + b + \varrho_n^N + \eta_{2k-1\,n}^N\right) \Delta t_n$$

and by (5.1.2) and (5.4.5)

$$r_{2kn}^N - r_{2k-1n}^N = 2\sigma(1 + \xi_{kn-1}^N)\sqrt{\Delta t_n},$$

it follows from (4.3.43) that

$$\begin{split} \sigma(1+\xi_{k\,n-1}^{N})\left(1-2p_{2k\,n}^{N}\right) &= \sigma\xi_{k\,n-1}^{N} - \left(r+b+\varrho_{n}^{N}+\eta_{2k-1\,n}^{N}\right)\sqrt{\Delta t_{n}} \\ &= \left(\mu-\varrho_{n}^{N}+\frac{\eta_{2k\,n}^{N}-\eta_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{2}\right)\sqrt{\Delta t_{n}}. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$p_{2k\,n}^{N} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\mu - \varrho_{n}^{N} + \frac{\eta_{2k\,n}^{N} - \eta_{2k-1\,n}^{N}}{2}}{\sigma \left(1 + \xi_{k\,n-1}^{N} \right)} \sqrt{\Delta t_{n}} \right)$$

which is equivalent to (5.4.7), since

$$\mu - \varrho_n^N + \frac{\eta_{2k\,n}^N - \eta_{2k-1\,n}^N}{2} = \left(1 + \xi_{k\,n-1}^N\right) \left(\mu - \gamma_{k\,n-1}^N\right)$$
(4.8)

by (5.4.8).

5.4.2 Heat equation in finite differences

It will be shown in this subsection that under Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 an identity in finite differences holds that resembles the modified heat equation (5.3.11) upon neglecting remainder terms. This identity concerns the states $v_{kn} = v_{kn}^N(\pi)$ of the value process $V = V^N(\pi)$ for a self-financing strategy π . For simplicity, the argument π is suppressed, as well as all the upper indices N. As was already mentioned in Section 5.4.1, we are going to use both the first differences $D_k(V_n) = v_{2kn} - v_{2k-1n}$ for $n = 1, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-1}$, as well as the second differences $D_k^2(V_n) = v_{4kn} - v_{4k-1n} - v_{4k-2n} + v_{4k-3n}$ for $n = 2, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-2}$. The explicit expressions of the remainder terms and the consequent arguments, which we will need in the course of the proof, are rather clumsy and presented here solely for the sake of completeness (Kac's paper in [70] is a closest reference we know). Otherwise, the proof is in fact immaterial for further reading and may be taken granted.

Proposition 5.4.3. Let the Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 hold. Let π be a self-financing strategy and $V = \{V_n\}_{n=0,1,\ldots,N}$ its value process. Then for each $n = 2, \ldots, N$ and $k = 1, \ldots, 2^{n-2}$ the following identity hold:

$$\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \frac{D_k^2(V_n)}{D_k(Z_{n-1})^2} \left(1 + \xi_{k\,n-2}\right)^2 \left(1 + \varsigma_{k\,n-2}\right) - \left(\mu + \mu_{k\,n-2}\right) \frac{D_k(V_{n-1})}{D_k(Z_{n-1})} \\ = -\frac{v_{4k-1\,n} - v_{k\,n-2}}{t_n - t_{n-2}} + \left(r + \delta_{n-2}\right) v_{k\,n-2} + \delta_{k\,n-2}$$

where $\delta_n, \{\delta_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}, \{\varsigma_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ and $\{\mu_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are negligible remainder terms, alike $\{\xi_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ given by (5.4.5).

Proof. By the first identity in (5.4.4) the desired identity is equivalent to

$$\frac{1}{2} (\sigma s_{k n-2})^2 \frac{D_k^2(V_n)}{D_k(S_{n-1})^2} (1 + \xi_{k n-2})^2 (1 + \varsigma_{k n-2}) - (\mu + \mu_{k n-2}) s_{k n-2} \frac{D_k(V_{n-1})}{D_k(S_{n-1})} = -\frac{v_{4k-1 n} - v_{k n-2}}{t_n - t_{n-2}} + (r + \delta_{n-2}) v_{k n-2} + \delta_{k n-2}$$
(5.4.9)

We will prove that the latter equation is satisfied with the remainder terms

$$\varsigma_{k\,n-2} = 4p_{4k\,n}p_{4k-3\,n} - 1, \tag{5.4.10}$$

$$\mu_{k\,n-2} = (1+\rho_n) \left(1+\xi_{k\,n-2}\right) \left(\mu - \frac{\gamma_{k\,n-2} + \gamma_{2k\,n-1}}{2}\right) - \mu, \qquad (5.4.11)$$

5.4. TOWARDS THE BLACK-SCHOLES MODEL

$$2\delta_{n-2} = \varrho_{n-1} + \varrho_n + (r + \varrho_{n-1})(r + \varrho_n)\Delta t_n$$
(5.4.12)

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$\delta_{k\,n-2} = p_{4k\,n}((1+\xi_{k\,n-1})\,s_{2k\,n-1}\frac{D_{2k}(V_n)}{D_{2k}(S_n)}\frac{\gamma_{2k\,n-1}-\gamma_{2k-1\,n-1}}{2} + \frac{v_{4k-1\,n}-v_{k\,n-2}}{t_n-t_{n-2}} - \frac{v_{4k-2\,n}-v_{k\,n-2}}{t_n-t_{n-2}}).$$
(5.4.13)

This will imply the desired assertion, since the remainder terms, given by (5.4.10)-(5.4.13) are negligible under the Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1. Indeed, the terms $\{\varsigma_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are negligible due to (5.4.6) and the terms $\{\mu_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ due to (4.3.10), (5.4.5) and (5.4.8). Next, the terms $\{\delta_{kn}\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are negligible due to (5.4.8) and to the fact that the difference of the second and third terms on the right-hand side is negligible. Finally, the negligibility of δ_n is obvious.

To prove (5.4.9), we proceed as follows. It will be shown first that (5.4.9) is equivalent to (5.4.14) below. Then the latter identity will be proved. Let us examine (5.4.9) term by term. Due to (5.4.4) and (5.4.10), the first term on the left hand side may be written in the form

$$p_{4k\,n}p_{4k-3\,n}\frac{D_k^2(V_n)}{2\Delta t_n}.$$

The second term may be rewritten as

$$(1+\rho_n)\frac{1-p_{2k\,n-1}-p_{4k\,n}}{2\Delta t_n}D_k(V_{n-1}),$$

since by (5.4.7) and (5.4.11)

$$(1+\rho_n) \sigma \frac{1-p_{2k\,n-1}-p_{4k\,n}}{\sqrt{\Delta t_n}} = (1+\rho_n) \left(\mu - \frac{\gamma_{k\,n-2}+\gamma_{2k\,n-1}}{2}\right) \\ = \frac{\mu+\mu_{k\,n-2}}{1+\xi_{k\,n-2}}.$$

Next, let us handle the right-hand side of (5.4.9). The sum of the first two terms on this side equals

$$\frac{(1+\rho_n)(1+\rho_{n-1})v_{k\,n-2}-v_{4k-1\,n}}{2\Delta t_n}$$

by (4.3.10) and (5.4.12). On verifying this take into consideration that the trading times are equidistant and $\Delta t_n = T/N$ independently of n. Finally, by the same assumptions and by (5.4.4) the third term on the right, given by (5.4.13), may be written in the form

$$\frac{p_{4kn}}{2\Delta t_n} \left(v_{4k-1n} - v_{4k-2n} + D_{2k}(V_n) \sqrt{\Delta t_n} \frac{\gamma_{2kn-1} - \gamma_{2k-1n-1}}{2\sigma} \right).$$

Thus we obtain the following identity, equivalent to (5.4.9):

$$p_{4kn}p_{4k-3n}D_k^2(V_n) + (1+\rho_n)(p_{2kn-1}+p_{4kn}-1)D_k(V_{n-1}) = (1+\rho_n)(1+\rho_{n-1})v_{kn-2} - v_{4k-1n} + p_{4kn}\left(v_{4k-1n}-v_{4k-2n}+D_{2k}(V_n)\sqrt{\Delta t_n}\frac{\gamma_{2kn-1}-\gamma_{2k-1n-1}}{2\sigma}\right).$$

The latter identity, in turn, is equivalent to

$$(1+\rho_n)\{v_{2k\,n-1}p_{4k-3\,n}+v_{2k-1\,n-1}p_{4k\,n} + (p_{2k\,n-1}+p_{4k\,n}-1)D_k(V_{n-1})\} - (v_{4k-1\,n}p_{4k-3\,n}+v_{4k-2\,n}p_{4k\,n}) = (1+\rho_n)(1+\rho_{n-1})v_{k\,n-2} - v_{4k-1\,n} + p_{4k\,n}\{v_{4k-1\,n}-v_{4k-2\,n}+(p_{4k\,n}-p_{4k-2\,n})D_{2k}(V_n)\}$$
(5.4.14)

in virtue of the following two identities. Firstly

$$\sqrt{\Delta t_n} \frac{\gamma_{2k\,n-1} - \gamma_{2k-1\,n-1}}{2\sigma} = p_{4k\,n} - p_{4k-2\,n}$$

which is a consequence of (5.4.7). Secondly, due to

$$p_{4kn}p_{4k-3n}D_k^2(V_n) = (1+\rho_n)\left(v_{2kn-1}p_{4k-3n} + v_{2k-1n-1}p_{4kn}\right) - \left(v_{4k-1n}p_{4k-3n} + v_{4k-2n}p_{4kn}\right)$$

which is a consequence of (5.4.3) and (5.4.1), since

$$D_k^2(V_n) = \frac{(1+\rho_n) v_{2k\,n-1} - v_{4k-1\,n}}{p_{4k\,n}} - \frac{v_{4k-2\,n} - (1+\rho_n) v_{2k-1\,n-1}}{p_{4k-3\,n}}.$$

Thus the equivalence of (5.4.9) and (5.4.14) is proved. It remains to prove (5.4.14). By (5.4.1) in its non-discounted form

$$v_{2k\,n-1}p_{4k-3\,n} + v_{2k-1\,n-1}p_{4k\,n} - (1+\rho_{n-1})\,v_{k\,n-2}$$

= $v_{2k\,n-1}\,(p_{4k-3\,n} - p_{2k\,n-1}) + v_{2k-1\,n-1}\,(p_{4k\,n} - p_{2k-1\,n-1})$
= $(v_{2k\,n-1} - v_{2k-1\,n-1})\,(1-p_{2k\,n-1} - p_{4k\,n}) + v_{2k\,n-1}\,(p_{4k\,n} - p_{4k-2\,n})$

and

$$v_{4k-1\,n}p_{4k-3\,n} + v_{4k-2\,n}p_{4k\,n} - v_{4k-1\,n} = v_{4k-2\,n}p_{4k\,n} - v_{4k-1\,n}p_{4k-2\,n}$$
$$= v_{4k-1\,n} \left(p_{4k\,n} - p_{4k-2\,n} \right) - \left(v_{4k-1\,n} - v_{4k-2\,n} \right) p_{4k\,n}.$$

These two identities imply (5.4.14). The proof is complete.

.

5.4.3 Approximate option pricing

In the present section the link is sought between the binary market of the present Section 5.4 and the Black-Scholes market of the next Section 5.5. By using certain heuristic arguments we show that under the Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 the Black-Scholes model can serve as an approximation to the binary model, when the number of trading periods N increases unboundedly and so the length of each trading period T/N tends to zero. For clear distinction from the prelimiting situation, we will denote the bond and stock prices in the Black-Scholes market by $B^{\circ}(t)$ and $S^{\circ}(t)$, respectively (the coincidence with the notations of the previous case of the Poisson market can't cause ambiguities, as two limiting cases are clearly separated). Trading in the latter market is going on continuously so that $t \in [0, T]$. Regarding the bond, the situation is simple, since Condition 4.3.1 means that at each fixed $t \in [0,T]$ the approximation $B^{N}(t) \sim B^{\circ}(t)$ holds. Actually, the approximate bond price is led to be $B^{\circ}(t) =$ e^{rt} , cf (4.3.12) and (5.5.1) below. As for a risky asset, the stock, in the present setup we will be only able to demonstrate certain aspects of the approximation of the process S^N by S° , for more detailed treatment would lead us too far afield. It will be shown, in particular, how to approximate the fair price of the European call option, see Proposition 5.4.5.

We will use expression (5.4.7) for the approximate risk neutral probabilities, but suppress the negligible remainder terms $\{\gamma_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$, as it is not hard to verify that they play no part in the asymptotic considerations below. Thus the approximation (5.4.6) may be used. Since the right hand side in (5.1.3) is independent of indices k and n, the situation here is asymptotically similar to that of the homogeneous binomial model. Thus we may use the Cox-Ross-Rubinstein option pricing formula (3.5.6) of Chapter 3. Upon the substitutions (4.3.10), (5.1.3) and (5.4.6), this yields the first approximation to the option pricing formula:

$$C^{N} \sim (1 + r\frac{T}{N})^{-N} \sum_{j=0}^{N} {N \choose j} \frac{1}{2^{N}} (1 - \frac{\mu}{\sigma} \sqrt{\frac{T}{N}})^{j} (1 + \frac{\mu}{\sigma} \sqrt{\frac{T}{N}})^{N-j} \times H(s(1 + \sigma\sqrt{\frac{T}{N}} + a\frac{T}{N})^{j} (1 - \sigma\sqrt{\frac{T}{N}} - b\frac{T}{N})^{N-j})$$
(5.4.15)

with $H(x) = (x - K)^+$, the payoff function for the European call option. It will be shown below that this approximation can be considerably simplified, see Proposition 5.4.5. This is preceded by the following

Lemma 5.4.4. Fix positive integers n and $j \le n$. Denote $t_j = j\sqrt{2/n}$ so that $\Delta t_j \equiv \sqrt{2/n}$. Then (i) for a nonnegative constant c

$$\left(\frac{1+\sqrt{\frac{c}{2n}}}{1-\sqrt{\frac{c}{2n}}}\right)^j \sim e^{\sqrt{c}t_j}$$

and (ii) with g the standard normal density (cf (5.1.10))

$$\frac{1}{2^{2n}} \binom{2n}{n+j} \sim g(t_j) \Delta t_j. \tag{5.4.16}$$

Proof. (i) It follows from $\log(1+x) \sim x$ that

$$j\left\{\log\left(1+\sqrt{\frac{c}{2n}}\right)-\log\left(1-\sqrt{\frac{c}{2n}}\right)\right\}\sim j\sqrt{\frac{2c}{n}}=\sqrt{ct_j},$$

which yields the desired result.

(ii) Presenting the left hand side as the product of

$$a_n = \frac{1}{2^{2n}} \binom{2n}{n}$$

and

$$b_n = \frac{n(n-1)\cdots(n-j+1)}{(n+j)\cdots(n+1)} = \frac{1}{(1+\frac{j}{n})(1+\frac{j}{n-1})\cdots(1+\frac{j}{n-j+1})}$$

we get to show

$$a_n \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{\pi n}} = \frac{\Delta t_j}{\sqrt{2\pi}}$$

 and

$$\log b_n \sim -\frac{j^2}{n} = -\frac{t_j^2}{2}.$$

The former relation follows from Stirling's formula $n! \sim e^{-n} n^n \sqrt{2\pi n}$, truly from its consequence

$$\binom{2n}{n} \sim \frac{2^{2n}}{\sqrt{\pi n}},$$

see [7], Section 1.2. The latter one follows from $\log(1 + x) \sim x$, since

$$\log b_n = -\sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \log \left(1 + \frac{j}{n-k} \right) \sim -\sum_{k=0}^{j-1} \frac{j}{n-k} \sim -\frac{j^2}{n} = -\frac{t_j^2}{2}.$$

The proof of (i) is complete.

There are various methods for proving the next proposition presented in textbooks on the probability theory. In the sequel we will continue to follow BREIMAN [7].

Proposition 5.4.5. Under Conditions 4.3.1 and 5.1.1 the fair price of the European call option with the payoff function $H(x) = (x-K)^+$, is approximated as follows:

$$C^N \sim \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y; 0, \sigma^2 T) \left(s e^{y - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T} - \dot{K} \right)^+ dy$$
 (5.4.17)

where $\dot{K} = \frac{K}{B^{\circ}(T)} = e^{-rT}K$ is the discounted exercise price, cf (5.5.1).

120

5.4. TOWARDS THE BLACK-SCHOLES MODEL

Proof. Without loss of generality we assume that N is even. Put N = 2n. Then the summation in (5.4.15) may be changed to $\{-n, \ldots, n\}$ that yields

$$C^N \sim C_n^n \sum_{j=-n}^n g_{jn} c_n^j H\left(sK_n^n k_n^j\right)$$
(5.4.18)

where g_{jn} denotes the left hand side of (5.4.16) and

$$\begin{split} C_n &= \frac{1 - \frac{\mu^2}{\sigma^2} \frac{T}{2n}}{\left(1 + r \frac{T}{2n}\right)^2}, \qquad K_n = (1 + \sigma \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}} + a \frac{T}{2n})(1 - \sigma \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}} - b \frac{T}{2n}), \\ c_n &= \frac{1 - \frac{\mu}{\sigma} \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}}}{1 + \frac{\mu}{\sigma} \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}}}, \qquad k_n = \frac{1 + \sigma \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}} + a \frac{T}{2n}}{1 - \sigma \sqrt{\frac{T}{2n}} - b \frac{T}{2n}}. \end{split}$$

By the well known property of exponentials

$$C_n^n \sim e^{-rT - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mu^2 T}{\sigma^2}}$$

 and

$$K_n^n \sim (1 + (a - b - \sigma^2)\frac{T}{2n})^n \sim e^{\frac{a-b}{2}T - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T} = e^{(r+\mu)T - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T},$$

cf (5.1.6). Apply now Lemma 5.4.4. Assertion (ii) gives an approximation to g_{jn} and assertion (i) gives

$$c_n^j \sim e^{-rac{\mu\sqrt{T}t_j}{\sigma}}$$
 and $k_n^j \sim e^{\sigma\sqrt{T}t_j}$

These approximations reduce (5.4.18) to

$$C^{N} \sim \frac{e^{-rT}}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \sum_{j=-n}^{n} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \frac{(\sigma \sqrt{T} t_{j} + \mu T)^{2}}{\sigma^{2}T}} H(s e^{\sigma \sqrt{T} t_{j} + (r+\mu)T - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}T}) \Delta t_{j}.$$

Put $\tau_j = \sigma \sqrt{T} t_j$. Then

$$C^N \sim e^{-rT} \sum_{\tau_j \in \mathcal{T}_n} g(\tau_j; -\mu T, \sigma^2 T) H(s e^{\tau_j + (r+\mu)T - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T}) \Delta \tau_j$$

with \mathcal{T}_n the set $\{j\sigma\sqrt{\frac{2T}{n}}\}_{j=0,\pm 1,\ldots,\pm n}$ whose lowest entry $-\sigma\sqrt{2nT}$ tends to $-\infty$ and the largest entry $\sigma\sqrt{2nT}$ to ∞ as $n \to \infty$. So the sum in the latter expression is actually the Riemann sum for the integral

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y+\mu T,0,\sigma^2 T) \left(s e^{y+\mu T-\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T} - \dot{K}\right)^+ dy$$

which is independent of μ and equals to the integral on the right hand side of (5.4.17). The proof is complete.

5.5 Black-Scholes model

5.5.1 Assets

In this section we consider the limiting model for a securities market. According to (4.3.11) and (4.3.12), the model for the bond is defined by the linear return process $\mathcal{R}^{\circ} = {\mathcal{R}^{\circ}_t}_{t \in [0,T]}$ and the exponential price process $B^{\circ} = {B^{\circ}_t}_{t \in [0,T]}$ with

$$\mathcal{R}_t^{\circ} = rt \quad \text{and} \quad B_t^{\circ} = e^{rt} \tag{5.5.1}$$

where r > 0 is a riskless interest rate on the bond. (Note that $B^{\circ} = \mathcal{E}(\mathcal{R}^{\circ})$ in the sense given at the very end of Section 5.2.5.)

The stock is again a risky asset: its return process $R^{\circ} = \{R_t^{\circ}\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ is defined in accordance with the right-hand side of (5.1.3): the cumulative impact up to time t of the terms proportional to $\sqrt{\Delta t_n}$ yields \mathcal{W}_t and that of the terms proportional to Δt_n yields the drift $\frac{1}{2}(a-b)t$, see discussion at the end of Section 5.1.2. This leads to the following diffusion model

$$R_t^{\circ} = \mathcal{W}_t + \frac{1}{2}(a-b)t.$$

Consequently, the price process on the stock $S^\circ = \{S^\circ_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ is now defined by

$$S_t^{\circ} = s\mathcal{E}(R^{\circ})_t = se^{\mathcal{W}_t + \frac{1}{2}(a-b)t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 t} = se^{R_t^{\circ} - \frac{1}{2}\langle R^{\circ} \rangle_t}$$
(5.5.2)

(see application (ii) at the end of Section 5.2.5) where s > 0 is a fixed current price on the stock $S_0^{\circ} = s$ and $\langle R^{\circ} \rangle_t = \sigma^2 t$ as in Section 5.2.4. The discounted stock price process is defined by

$$\dot{S}_{t}^{\circ} \doteq \frac{S_{t}^{\circ}}{B_{t}^{\circ}} = se^{\mathcal{W}_{t} + \mu t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}t} = se^{\dot{R}_{t}^{\circ} - \frac{1}{2}\langle\dot{R}^{\circ}\rangle_{t}}$$
(5.5.3)

where $\dot{R}_t^{\circ} = \mathcal{W}_t + \mu t$ is the corresponding return at instant t, cf (5.1.6). The relation $\dot{S}^{\circ} = s\mathcal{E}(\dot{R}^{\circ})$ is obtained in Section 5.2.5.

As we know, Brownian motion takes its rise at the origin but afterwards at any consecutive instant t > 0 it may visit any site $-\infty < x < \infty$. Accordingly, the non-discounted and discounted stock prices, starting from a fixed state s > 0, may occupy at any instant $t \in [0, T]$ and site $-\infty < x < \infty$ one of the states

$$s^{\circ}(x,t) = se^{xI_{\{t\neq 0\}} + \frac{1}{2}(a-b)t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}t}$$

$$\dot{s}^{\circ}(x,t) = se^{xI_{\{t\neq 0\}} + \mu t - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}t}$$
(5.5.4)

where $I_{\{t\neq 0\}}$ is the indicator function equal 1 everywhere except at the origin t = 0 where it equals to 0. Concerning these states, the following simple proposition holds true.

Proposition 5.5.1. (i) At each instant t > 0, the discounted stock price is in one of the states (5.5.4) that satisfies the second order partial differential equation (5.3.8) with r = 0, i.e.

$$-\dot{s}_{t}^{\circ} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\dot{s}_{xx}^{\circ} - \mu\dot{s}_{x}^{\circ}.$$
 (5.5.5)

(ii) With u given by (5.1.12) where $x_0 = 0$, we have

$$\dot{s}^{\circ}(x,t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x-y,\Delta t)\dot{s}^{\circ}(y,t+\Delta t)dy.$$
(5.5.6)

Proof. (i) The required partial derivatives \dot{s}_t° , \dot{s}_x° and \dot{s}_{xx}° are simply calculated. Thus (5.3.2) is easily verified.

(ii) By the obvious property $\dot{s}^{\circ}(x + \Delta x, t + \Delta t) = \dot{s}^{\circ}(\Delta x, \Delta t)\dot{s}^{\circ}(x, t)$ of the states (5.5.4), it suffices to show

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x,t)\dot{s}^{\circ}(-x,t)dx = 1.$$

But this is easily verified by (5.1.11) and (5.1.12).

Remark 5.5.2. By analogy to the prelimiting situation, we want to define the difference operator D in the state space. We depart from (5.4.4) and let $\Delta t_n = \frac{T}{N} \to 0$. The terms $\{\xi_{kn}^N\}_{k=1,\ldots,2^n}$ are negligible. According to (5.1.2) the denominator $2\sigma\sqrt{\Delta t_n}$ is the first approximation to the difference between two alternative states of the return. Then by the same arguments as above Brownian motion enters into consideration: we are led to define the limit on the left as $\frac{DS_{\tau}^{\circ}}{DW_t}$. This yields $\frac{DS^{\circ}}{DW} = S^{\circ}$, one of the first formulas of the Malliavin calculus, see [56], exercise 2.2.1 on p 107.

5.5.2 Self-financing strategies

Let us consider an investor who invests an amount $v \ge 0$ in the present market and then follows a trading strategy $\pi = (\Psi, \Phi)$ with portfolio components $\Psi = \{\Psi_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ and $\Phi = \{\Phi_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$. The corresponding value process $V^{\circ}(\pi) = \Psi B^{\circ} + \Phi S^{\circ}$ is defined at $t \in [0,T]$ by

$$V^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \Psi(t)B^{\circ}(t) + \Phi(t)S^{\circ}(t)$$
(5.5.7)

with $v = V^{\circ}(0; \pi)$. If π is a self-financing strategy in the sense of the definition in Section 5.4.1, then one can apply the integrating by parts formula of Section 5.2.5 (with respect to the geometric Brownian motion instead of the ordinary Brownian motion in (5.2.9); this substitution is allowed by the chain rule (5.2.12)). This yields the same integral representation for discounted value process $\dot{V}^{\circ}(\pi) = {\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi)}_{t\in[0,T]}$ as before: at each $t \in [0,T]$

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = v + \Phi \cdot \dot{S}_t^{\circ}, \tag{5.5.8}$$

cf Section 4.3, Proposition 4.3.5. Analogously to the trading in binary markets, the self-financing of a strategy $\pi = (\Psi, \Phi)$ means that the portfolio components

 $\Psi(t)$ and $\Phi(t)$ yield not only the market value of the holding at instant $t \in (0, T]$ (given by (5.5.7)) but also at an immediate future instant $t + \Delta t$:

$$V^{\circ}(t + \Delta t; \pi) = \Psi(t)B^{\circ}(t + \Delta t) + \Phi(t)S^{\circ}(t + \Delta t)$$
(5.5.9)

cf (4.3.28) and (4.3.29). Let us denote the possible states of the portfolio components $\Psi(t)$ and $\Phi(t)$ by

$$\{\psi(x,t), -\infty < x < \infty\}$$

$$\{\phi(x,t), -\infty < x < \infty\}$$

and the states of the discounted market value of this holding $\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi)$ by

 $\{\dot{v}^{\circ}(x,t;\pi), -\infty < x < \infty\}$

. Then (5.5.7) and (5.5.9) mean both

$$\dot{v}^{\circ}(x,t;\pi) = \psi(x,t) + \phi(x,t)\dot{s}^{\circ}(x,t)$$
(5.5.10)

and

$$\dot{v}^{\circ}(x + \Delta x, t + \Delta t; \pi) = \psi(x, t) + \phi(x, t)\dot{s}^{\circ}(x + \Delta x, t + \Delta t).$$
(5.5.11)

This fact has the following implication:

Proposition 5.5.3. (i) At each instant t > 0, the discounted market value $\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi)$ of a self-financing strategy π is in one of the states { $\dot{v}^{\circ}(x,t;\pi), -\infty < x < \infty$ } that satisfies the second order partial differential equation (5.3.8) with r = 0.

(ii) With u given by (5.1.12) where $x_0 = 0$, we have

$$\dot{v}^{\circ}(x,t;\pi) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} u(x-y,\Delta t)\dot{v}^{\circ}(y,t+\Delta t;\pi)dy.$$
(5.5.12)

Proof. (i) can be obtained from (ii). Indeed, take (5.5.12) with $t + \Delta t = T$ and apply to both sides the operator $\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} - \mu \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial t}$. On the right the operator is allowed to act under the integral sign. But this yields 0, since $u(x - y, \tau)$ satisfies (5.3.8) with r = 0. As usual $\tau = T - t$ is time to maturity.

(ii) In (5.5.11) substitute $x + \Delta x$ by a variable y, multiply both sides by $u(x - y, \Delta t)$ and integrate with respect to dy. By (5.5.6) and (5.5.10) we get (5.5.12).

Remark 5.5.4. Like in the previous remark at the end of Section 5.5.1, we recall the prelimiting situation in which the stock component was expressed as $\Phi^N(t) = \frac{DV^N(t;\pi)}{DS^N(t)}$, see Clark's formula (4.3.34) of Proposition 4.3.7. This structure is retained as $N \to \infty$, thus giving the possibility to rewrite (5.5.8) in Clark's form

$$\dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = v + \frac{DV^{\circ}(\pi)}{DS^{\circ}} \cdot \dot{S}_{t}^{\circ}.$$
(5.5.13)

This is again an elementary formula in the Malliavin calculus, see [56], definition 1.2.1 on p 24. In the remaining part of this section more light will be shed on this formula, cf (5.5.16) below.

5.5. BLACK-SCHOLES MODEL

There is yet another relationship between the value process for a self-financing strategy and the stock price process. Namely, let h be a solution of the partial differential equation (5.3.11) with $r = \mu = 0$. Then for each $t \in [0, T]$ the following useful representation can be proved:

$$\hat{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) = \hat{h}(\hat{S}^{\circ}(t),t).$$
 (5.5.14)

In the next proposition the proof is provided in the form of the relationship between the states of the variables on the left and right hand side.

Proposition 5.5.5. (i) At each instant t > 0 and site x the states of the discounted stock price $\hat{S}^{\circ}(t)$ and the discounted value $\hat{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi)$ for a self-financing strategy π are related by

$$\dot{v}^{\circ}(x,t;\pi) = \dot{h}(\dot{s}^{\circ}(x,t),t)$$
(5.5.15)

where h is the same as in (5.5.14).

Proof. By taking the relevant partial derivatives on the both sides of (5.5.15) we get

$$\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \dot{v}_{xx}^{\circ} - \mu \dot{v}_x^{\circ} + \dot{v}_t^{\circ} = (\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \dot{s}_{xx}^{\circ} - \mu \dot{s}_x^{\circ} + \dot{s}_t^{\circ})\dot{h}_x + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 \dot{s}_x^{\circ2}\dot{h}_{xx} + \dot{h}_t$$

It remains now to recall the assertion (i) in Proposition 5.5.1 and to apply (5.3.11) with $r = \mu = 0$ to the sum of the last two terms on the right. Indeed, by taking into consideration $\dot{s}_x^\circ = \dot{s}^\circ$ we get on the right hand side $\frac{1}{2}\sigma^2\dot{s}^\circ(x,t)^2\dot{h}_{xx}(\dot{s}^\circ(x,t),t) + \dot{h}_t(\dot{s}^\circ(x,t),t)$ which equals 0 in view of the assumption that \dot{h} satisfies (5.3.11) with $r = \mu = 0$. This means that (5.5.15) satisfies (5.3.8) with r = 0, cf Proposition 5.5.3, assertion (i).

Let us apply Itô's formula (5.2.13) to (5.5.14). Taking into consideration also the expression (5.2.11) for the quadratic variation and the chain rule (5.2.12), we get

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}^{\circ}(t;\pi) &= \dot{V}^{\circ}(0;\pi) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{h}_{x}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(\theta),\theta) d\dot{S}^{\circ}(\theta) + \int_{0}^{t} \dot{h}_{t}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(\theta),\theta) d\theta \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \dot{h}_{xx}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(\theta),\theta) \dot{S}^{\circ}(\theta)^{2} d\theta, \end{split}$$

cf [39], formula (1.12). But the last two terms vanish, since \dot{h} satisfies (5.3.11) with $r = \mu = 0$. We thus have the integral representation (5.5.8) (or (5.5.13)) with

$$\Phi(t) = \frac{DV^{\circ}(t,\pi)}{DS^{\circ}(t)} = \dot{h}_x(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t),t).$$
(5.5.16)

Formula (5.5.14) is often presented in its nondiscounted form (see e.g. [39], formula (1.8), or [48], formula (5.8.36)):

$$V^{\circ}(t,\pi) = h(S^{\circ}(t),t)$$
(5.5.17)

where \bar{h} satisfies (5.3.11) with $r = -\mu$. Formula (5.5.16) for the stock component of the portfolio becomes $\Phi(t) = \bar{h}_x(\dot{S}^\circ(t), t)$. One can easily verify these claims by taking into consideration that

$$\bar{h}(x,t) = e^{rt} h(e^{-rt}x,t)$$

. Of course, the factor e^{rt} means discounting, so (cf (5.5.1) and (5.5.3))

$$\dot{h}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t),t) = \frac{\bar{h}(S^{\circ}(t),t)}{B^{\circ}(t)}.$$
(5.5.18)

5.5.3 Hedging strategies and option pricing

In the present section the same question as in Chapter 3, Section 3.4.1 arises whether the Black-Scholes market is complete or not. In order to formulate this question explicitly, consider again an investor whose goal is to attain at the terminal date T a certain wealth $W(T) = W(S^{\circ}(T))$ which is a certain function W of the stock price $W(S^{\circ}(T))$. According to (5.5.4) this wealth may be in one of the states

$$w^{\circ}(x,T) = W(s^{\circ}(x,T)), \quad -\infty < x < \infty.$$
 (5.5.19)

If we now define the completeness of the present market similarly to the definition in Chapter 3, Section 3.4.1 or Chapter 5, Section 4.3.3, then we get

Proposition 5.5.6. The Black–Scholes market is complete: any desired wealth W(T) of the above type is attainable with a certain initial endowment, since there is a uniquely defined self-financing strategy $\pi^{\circ} = (\Psi^{\circ}, \Phi^{\circ})$, called the hedging strategy against W(T), whose value process $V^{\circ}(\pi^{\circ}) = \{V^{\circ}(t; \pi^{\circ})\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ attains at the terminal date T the identity $V^{\circ}(T; \pi^{\circ}) = W(T)$. The necessary initial endowment is then $v = V^{\circ}(0; \pi^{\circ})$.

Proof. This follows from the explicit construction of the hedging strategy $\pi^{\circ} = (\Psi^{\circ}, \Phi^{\circ})$ against W(T) which is provided below.

The hedging strategy $\pi^{\circ} = (\Psi^{\circ}, \Phi^{\circ})$ against W(T) is constructed as follows. Let \bar{h} be the solution of (5.3.11) with $r = -\mu$, subject to the boundary condition (5.3.14) where H(x) is identified with $w^{\circ}(x, T)$ given by (5.5.19). According to Proposition 5.3.4 this function has the representation (5.3.17) with $r = -\mu$ and with H substituted by W. Alternatively, we may work as in the previous section with \dot{h} which solves (5.3.11) with $r = \mu = 0$ and is related to \bar{h} via (5.5.18). Recall that $\dot{h}_x = \bar{h}_x$. Use the notations

$$\psi^{\circ}(x,t) = \dot{h}(x,t) - x\dot{h}_x(x,t) = e^{-rt}\bar{h}(e^{rt}x,t) - x\bar{h}_x(x,t)$$

and

$$\phi^{\circ}(x,t) = \dot{h}_x(x,t) = \bar{h}_x(x,t)$$

to define the strategy $\pi^{\circ} = (\Psi^{\circ}, \Phi^{\circ})$ with $\Psi^{\circ}(t) = \psi^{\circ}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t), t)$ and $\Phi^{\circ}(t) = \phi^{\circ}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t), t)$. By definition (5.5.7) the market value of the latter holding is simply determined:

$$V^{\circ}(t,\pi^{\circ}) = \psi^{\circ}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t),t)B^{\circ}(t) + \phi^{\circ}(\dot{S}^{\circ}(t),t)S^{\circ}(t) = \bar{h}(S^{\circ}(t),t),$$

cf (5.5.17). This is indeed the hedging strategy, since at maturity the market value $V^{\circ}(T, \pi^{\circ}) = \bar{h}(S^{\circ}(T), T)$ amounts to the desired wealth $W(S^{\circ}(T))$ in virtue of the boundary condition fixed above. Thus the desired wealth is attained. In view of (5.3.17) with $r = -\mu$, the necessary initial endowment amounts to

$$v = V^{\circ}(0; \pi^{\circ}) = e^{-rT} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y, 0, \sigma^2 T) H(x e^{y + rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T}) dy.$$
(5.5.20)

with H substituted by W.

Observe that in the special case of $H(x) = (x - K)^+$ the right hand side reduces to the integral in (5.4.17). This is in a full agreement with the method of option pricing by means of a hedging trading strategy that duplicates the payoff, see Chapter 3, Section 3.5, or Chapter 4 Section 4.3.3. According to this method, formula (5.5.20) serves for pricing contingent claims. Let the payoff function of a contingent claim be determined by a certain nonnegative function H of the stock price at maturity $S^{\circ}(T)$, i.e. $H(T) = H(S^{\circ}(T))$. Then we have

Proposition 5.5.7. In the Black–Scholes market the fair price C(H) of a contingent claim with the payoff function $H(T) = H(S^{\circ}(T))$ is identified with the right hand side of (5.5.20).

As was already mentioned, formula (5.5.20) applied to the special payoff $(x - K)^+$ determines the fair price C of the European call option, which coincides with the integral in (5.4.17). It is now easy to present C in the form (5.5.21) below, suitable for calculations by using tables of the standard normal distribution. This is called the *Black-Scholes option valuation formula*.

Corollary 5.5.8. In the Black–Scholes market the fair price C of the European call option is presented as follows

$$C = sG\left(\frac{\log\frac{s}{K} + rT + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}\right) - e^{-rT}KG\left(\frac{\log\frac{s}{K} + rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T}{\sigma\sqrt{T}}\right)$$
(5.5.21)

with G the standard normal distribution, cf(5.1.9).

Proof. The right hand side in (5.4.17), equal to

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(y; \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T, \sigma^2 T) \left(se^{-y} - \dot{K}\right)^+ dy,$$

reduces to

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{\log \frac{s}{K}} g(y; -rT + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T, \sigma^2 T) \left(se^{-(y+rT)} - \dot{K}\right) dy \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\log \frac{s}{K}} sg(y; -rT - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T, \sigma^2 T) dy \\ &- \dot{K} \int_{-\infty}^{\log \frac{s}{K}} g(y; -rT + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^2 T, \sigma^2 T) dy. \end{split}$$

By (5.1.9) the right hand side coincides with that of (5.5.21). The proof is complete. $\hfill \Box$

Using similar considerations one can specify the hedging strategy $\pi^{\circ} = (\Psi^{\circ}, \Phi^{\circ})$ against the European call option by the portfolio components at $t \in [0, T]$ and $\tau = T - t$

$$\Psi^{\circ}(t) = -e^{-rt} KG\left(\frac{\log \frac{S^{\circ}(t)}{K} + r\tau - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\tau}{\sigma\sqrt{\tau}}\right)$$

 and

$$\Phi^{\circ}(t) = G\left(\frac{\log \frac{S^{\circ}(t)}{K} + r\tau + \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{2}\tau}{\sigma\sqrt{\tau}}\right).$$

Bibliography

- K.K. AASE (1988). Contingent claim valuation when the security price is a combination of an Ito process and a random point process. *Stochastic Processes Appl.* 28, 185–220.
- [2] K. BACK (1991). Asset pricing for general processes. J. Math. Econom. 20, 371–395.
- [3] M.W. BAXTER and A.J.O. RENNIE (1996). *Financial Calculus*. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- [4] N.H. BINGHAM and R. KIESEL (1998). Risk Neutral Valuation. Springer: New York.
- [5] T. BJÖRK (1998). Arbitrage Theory in Continuous Time. Oxford University Press: New York.
- [6] F. BLACK and M. SCHOLES (1973). The pricing of options and corporate liabilities. J. Polit. Econom. 81, 637–659.
- [7] L. BREIMAN (1968). *Probability*. Addison-Wesley: Reading, Massachusetts.
- [8] J.Y. CAMPBELL, A.W. LO and A.C. MACKINLEY (1997). The Econometrics of Financial Markets. Princeton University Press: Princeton, New Jersey.
- [9] J. R. CANNON (1984). The One-Dimensional Heat Equation. Enciclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Addison-Wesley: Reading, Massachusetts.
- [10] D.B. COLWELL, R.J. ELLIOTT and P.E. KOPP (1991). Martingale representation and hedging policies. *Stochastic Process. Appl.* 38, 335–345.
- [11] D.R. COX and H.D. MILLER (1965). The Theory of Stochastic Processes. Chapman and Hall: London.
- [12] J.C. Cox and S.A. Ross (1976). The valuation of options for alternative stochastic processes. J. Financial Econom. 3, 145–166.

- [13] J.C. Cox, S.A. Ross and M. RUBINSTEIN (1979). Option pricing: a simplified approach. J. Financial Econom. 7, 229-263.
- [14] J.C. COX and M. RUBINSTEIN (1985). *Options Markets*. Prentice-Hall: Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.
- [15] N. CUTLAND, E. KOPP and W. WILLINGER (1993). From discrete to continuous financial models: new convergence results for option pricing. *Math. Finance* 3, 101–123.
- [16] N. CUTLAND, E. KOPP and W. WILLINGER (1993). A nonstandard treatment of options driven by Poisson processes. *Stochastics* 42, 115–133.
- [17] N. CUTLAND, E. KOPP and W. WILLINGER (1995). From discrete to continuous stochastic calculus. *Stochastics* **52**, 173–192.
- [18] R.C. DALANG, A. MORTON and W. WILLINGER (1990), Equivalent martingale meaures and no-arbitrage in stochastic securities market models. *Stochastics* 29, 185–202.
- [19] R-A. DANA and M. JEANBLANC-PICQUÉ (1994). Marchés Financiers en Temps Continu. Economica: Paris.
- [20] J. DIEUDONNÉ (1960). Foundations of Modern Analysis. Academic Press: New York.
- [21] J.L. DOOB (1953). Stochastic Processes. John Wiley: New York.
- [22] D. DUFFIE (1996). Dynamic Asset Pricing Theory. Princeton University Press: Princeton, New Jersey.
- [23] D. DUFFIE and PH. PROTTER (1991). From discrete to continuous time finance: weak convergence of the financial gain process. *Math. Finance* 2, 1–15.
- [24] K. DZHAPARIDZE and M. VAN ZUIJLEN (1992). Option pricing in a binary securities market, Report 9209, Dept. of Mathematics, Catholic University of Nijmegen, the Netherlands.
- [25] K. DZHAPARIDZE and M.C.A. VAN ZUIJLEN (1996). Introduction to option pricing in a securities market I: binary models. CWI Quarterly 9(4), 319–355.
- [26] K. DZHAPARIDZE (1997). Introduction to option pricing in a securities market II: Poisson approximation. CWI Quarterly 10(1), 65–100.
- [27] K. DZHAPARIDZE (1999). Introduction to option pricing in a securities market III: Gaussian approximation. CWI Quarterly 12(1), 23-61.
- [28] E. EBERLEIN (1989). Strong approximation of continuous time stochastic processes. J. Multiv. Annal. **31**, 220–235.

- [29] E. EBERLEIN (1992). On modeling questions in security valuation. Math. Finance 2, 17–32.
- [30] R.J. ELLIOTT (1982). Stochastic Calculus and Applications. Springer: New York.
- [31] R.J. ELLIOTT and H. FÖLLMER (1991). Orthogonal martingale representation, in *Stochastic Analysis*, *Liber Amicorum for Moshe Zakai*, E. MAYER-WOLF ET AL, (ed.), 139–152. Academic Press: Boston.
- [32] R.J. ELLIOTT and P.E. KOPP (1990). Option pricing and hedge portfolios for Poisson processes. *Stoch. Anal. Appl.* 9, 429–444.
- [33] R.J. ELLIOTT and P.E. KOPP (1999). *Mathematics of Financial Markets*. Springer: New York.
- [34] W. FELLER (1971). An Introduction to Probability Theory and Its Applications, vol 1. Wiley: New York.
- [35] H. FÖLLMER (1991). Probability aspects of options. Discussion paper No B-202, University of Bonn.
- [36] A. FRIEDMAN (1976). Stochastic Differential Equations and Applications. Academic Press: New York.
- [37] J.M. HARRISON (1985). Brownian Motion and Stochastic Flow Systems. Wiley: New York.
- [38] J.M. HARRISON and D.M. KREPS (1979). Martingales and arbitrage in multiperiod securities markets. J. Econom. Theory 20, 381–408.
- [39] J.M. HARRISON and S.R. PLISKA (1981). Martingales and stochastic integrals in the theory of continuous trading. *Stochastic Process. Appl.* 11, 215–260.
- [40] H. HE (1990). Convergence from discrete to continuous contingent claim prices. *Rev. Financ. Studies* **3**, 523–546.
- [41] S. W. HE, J. G. WANG and J.A. YAN (1992). Semimartingale Theory and Stochastic Calculus. Science Press: Beijing and CRC Press: Boca Raton.
- [42] T. HIDA (1980). Brownian Motion. Springer: New York.
- [43] T. HUBALEK and W. SCHACHERMAYER (1997). When does convergence of asset price process imply convergence of option prices. Preprint.
- [44] J.C. HULL (1997). Options, Futures, and Other Derivatives. Prentice-Hall: Upper Saddle River, NJ.
- [45] J. JACOD (1979). Calcul Stochastique et Problemes de Martingales, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 714. Springer: New York.

- [46] A. JAKUBOWSKI, J. MÉMIN and G. PAGÈS (1989). Convergence en loi des suites d'intégrales stochastiques sur l'espace D¹ de Skorokhod. Probab. Theory Rel. Fields 81, 111–137.
- [47] I. KARATZAS (1997). Lecture Notes on the Mathematics of Finance. AMS: Providence, Rhode Island.
- [48] I. KARATZAS and S.E. SHREVE (1988). Brownian Motion and Stochastic Calculus, Springer: New York.
- [49] I. KARATZAS and S.E. SHREVE (1998). *Methods of Mathematical Finance*, Springer: New York.
- [50] T.G. KURTZ and PH. PROTTER (1991). Characterizing the weak convergence of stochastic integrals, in Stochastic Analysis, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series 167, 255–259. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- [51] T.G. KURTZ and PH. PROTTER (1991). Weak limits for stochastic integrals and stochastic differential equations. Ann. Probab. 19, 1035–1070.
- [52] D. LAMBERTON and B. LAPEYRE (1996). Introduction to Stochastic Calculus Applied to Finance. Chapmen and Hall: London.
- [53] R.C. MERTON (1990). Continuous-time Finance, Basil Blackwell Inc, United Kingdom.
- [54] M. MUSIELA and M. RUTKOWSKI (1997). Martingale Methods in Financial Modeling. Springer: New York.
- [55] D.B. NELSON and K. RAMASWAMY (1990). Simple binomial processes as diffusion approximation in financial models. *Rev. Financial Studies* 3, 393–430.
- [56] D. NUALART (1995). The Malliavin Calculus and Related Topics. Springer: New York.
- [57] D. NUALART (1998). Analysis on Wiener space and anticipating stochastic calculus, in *Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics, Ecole d'Eté* de Probabilitès de Saint-Flour XXV-1995. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1690, Springer: New York.
- [58] D.L. OCONE (1984). Malliavin calculus and stochastic integral representation of diffusion processes. *Stochastics* **12**, 161–185.
- [59] D.L. OCONE and I. KARATZAS (1991). A generalized Clark representation formula, with application to optimal portfolios, *Stochastics* **34**, 187–220.
- [60] B. ØKSENDAL (1998). Stochastic Differential Equations. Springer: New York.

- [61] F.H. PAGE, JR. AND A.B. SANDERS (1986). A general derivation of the jump process option pricing formula. J. Financial Quant. Analysis 21, 437–446.
- [62] S.R. PLISKA (1997). Introduction to Mathematical Finance. Blackwell: Oxford.
- [63] P. PROTTER (1990). Stochastic Integration and Differential Equations, Springer, New York.
- [64] S.T. RACHEV and L. RÜSCHENDORF (1994). Models for option prices. Theory Probab. Appl. **39**, 120–153.
- [65] A.N. SHIRYAYEV (1984). Probability. Springer: New York.
- [66] A.N. SHIRYAEV (1999). Essentials of Stochastic Finance. World Scientific: Singapore.
- [67] P. SPREIJ (1996). A crash course in stochastic calculus with applications to mathematical finance. CWI Quarterly 9(4), 357-388.
- [68] M.S. TAQQU and W. WILLINGER (1987). The analysis of finite security markets using martingales. *Adv. Appl. Prob.* **19**, 1–25.
- [69] S.R.S. VARADHAN (1980). Diffusion Problems and Partial Differential Equations. Springer: New York.
- [70] N. WAX, ed. (1954). Noise and Stochastic Processes. Dover: New York.
- [71] N. WIENER (1958). Nonlinear Problems in Random Theory. The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- [72] N. WIENER, A. SIEGEL, B. RANKIN and W.T. MARTIN (1966). Differential Space, Quantum Systems, and Prediction. The M.I.T. Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- [73] D. WILLIAMS (1991). Probability with Martingales. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- [74] W. WILLINGER and M.S. TAQQU (1987). Pathwise approximations of processes based on the fine structure of their filtrations. Sem. de Prob. XXII, 542-599. Lecture Notes in Math. 1321, Springer: New York.
- [75] W. WILLINGER and M.S. TAQQU (1987). Pathwise stochastic integration and applications to the theory of continuous trading. *Stoch. Proc. Appl.* 12, 253–280.
- [76] W. WILLINGER and M.S. TAQQU (1989). An approximation theory for continuous stochastic security market models, Bell Communications Research, Tech. Memorandum.

- [77] W. WILLINGER and M.S. TAQQU (1991). Toward a Convergence Theory for Continuous Stochastic Securities Market Models. *Math. Finance* 1/1, 55–99.
- [78] P. WILMOTT, S. HOWISON and J. DEWYNNE. (1995) The Mathematics of Financial Derivatives. Cambridge University Press: Cambridge.
- [79] P. WILMOTT (1998). Derivatives. Wiley: Chichester.
- [80] J-A. YAN (1998). Introduction to Martingale Methods in Option Pricing. City University of Hong Kong: Hong Kong.
- [81] P.G. ZHANG (1998). Exotic Options. World Scientific: Singapore.

- 1 Vacantiecursus 1984: Hewet plus wiskunde. 1984.
- 2 E.M. de Jager, H.G.J. Pijls (eds.). Proceedings Seminar 1981–1982. Mathematical structures in field theories. 1984.
- 3 W.C.M. Kallenberg, et al. Testing statistical hypotheses: worked solutions. 1984.
- 4 J.G. Verwer (ed.). Colloquium topics in applied numerical analysis, volume 1. 1984.
- 5 J.G. Verwer (ed.). Colloquium topics in applied numerical analysis, volume 2. 1984.
- 6 P.J.M. Bongaarts, J.N. Buur, E.A. de Kerf, R. Martini, H.G.J. Pijls, J.W. de Roever. Proceedings Seminar 1982–1983. Mathematical structures in field theories. 1985.
- 7 Vacantiecurus 1985: Variatierekening. 1985.
- 8 G.M. Tuynman. Proceedings Seminar 1983-1985. Mathematical structures in field theories, Vol.1 Geometric quantization. 1985.
- 9 J. van Leeuwen, J.K. Lenstra (eds.). Parallel computers and computations. 1985.
- 10 Vacantiecursus 1986: Matrices. 1986.
- 11 P.W.H. Lemmens. Discrete wiskunde: tellen, grafen, spelen en codes. 1986.
- 12 J. van de Lune. An introduction to Tauberian theory: from Tauber to Wiener. 1986.
- 13 G.M. Tuynman, M.J. Bergvelt, A.P.E. ten Kroode. Proceedings Seminar 1983-1985. Mathematical structures in field theories, Vol.2. 1987.
- 14 Vacantiecursus 1987: De personal computer en de wiskunde op school. 1987.
- 15 Vacantiecursus 1983: Complexe getallen. 1987.
- 16 P.J.M. Bongaarts, E.A. de Kerf, P.H.M. Kersten. Proceedings Seminar 1984–1986. Mathematical structures in field theories, Vol.1. 1988.
- 17 F. den Hollander, H. Maassen (eds.). Mark Kac seminar on probability and physics. Syllabus 1985–1987. 1988.
- 18 Vacantiecursus 1988. Differentierekening. 1988.
- 19 R. de Bruin, C.G. van der Laan, J. Luyten, H.F. Vogt. Publiceren met LATEX.
 1988.
- 20 R. van der Horst, R.D. Gill (eds.). STATAL: statistical procedures in Algol 60, part 1. 1988.
- 21 R. van der Horst, R.D. Gill (eds.). STATAL: statistical procedures in Algol 60, part 2. 1988.

- 22 R. van der Horst, R.D. Gill (eds.). STATAL: statistical procedures in Algol 60, part 3. 1988.
- 23 J. van Mill, G.Y. Nieuwland (eds.). Proceedings van het symposium wiskunde en de computer. 1989.
- 24 P.W.H. Lemmens (red.). Bewijzen in de wiskunde. 1989.
- 25 Vacantiecursus 1989: Wiskunde in de Gouden Eeuw. 1989.
- 26 G.G.A. Bäuerle et al. Proceedings Seminar 1986-1987. Mathematical structures in field theories. 1990.
- 27 Vacantiecursus 1990: Getallentheorie en haar toepassingen. 1990.
- 28 Vacantiecursus 1991: Meetkundige structuren. 1991.
- 29 A.G. van Asch, F. van der Blij. Hoeken en hun Maat. 1992.
- 30 M.J. Bergvelt, A.P.E. ten Kroode. Proceedings seminar 1986–1987. Lectures on Kac-Moody algebras. 1992.
- 31 Vacantiecursus 1992: Systeemtheorie. 1992.
- 32 F. den Hollander, H. Maassen (eds.). Mark Kac seminar on probability and physics. Syllabus 1987–1992. 1992.
- 33 P.W.H. Lemmens (ed.). Meetkunde van kunst tot kunde, vroeger en nu. 1993.
- 34 J.H. Kruizinga. Toegepaste wiskunde op een PC. 1992.
- 35 Vacantiecursus 1993: Het reële getal. 1993.
- 36 Vacantiecursus 1994: Computeralgebra. 1994.
- 37 G. Alberts. Wiskunde en praktijk in historisch perspectief. Syllabus. 1994.
- 38 G. Alberts, J. Schut (eds.). Wiskunde en praktijk in historisch perspectief. Reader. 1994.
- 39 E.A. de Kerf, H.G.J. Pijls (eds.). Proceedings Seminar 1989-1990. Mathematical structures in field theory. 1996.
- 40 Vacantiecursus 1995: Kegelsneden en kwadratische vormen. 1995.
- 41 Vacantiecursus 1996: Chaos. 1996.
- 42 H.C. Doets. Wijzer in Wiskunde. 1996.
- 43 Vacantiecursus 1997: Rekenen op het Toeval. 1997.
- 44 Vacantiecursus 1998: Meetkunde, Oud en Nieuw. 1998.
- 45 Vacantiecursus 1999: Onbewezen Vermoedens. 1999.
- 46 P.W. Hemker, B.W. van de Fliert (eds.). Proceedings of the 33rd European Study Group with Industry. 1999.
- 47 K.O. Dzhaparidze. Introduction to Option Pricing in a Securities Market. 2000.

MC SYLLABI

1.1 F. Göbel, J. van de Lune. Leergang besliskunde, deel 1: wiskundige basiskennis. 1965.

1.2 J. Hemelrijk, J. Kriens. Leergang besliskunde, deel 2: kansberekening. 1965.

1.3 J. Hemelrijk, J. Kriens. Leergang besliskunde, deel 3: statistiek. 1966.

1.4 G. de Leve, W. Molenaar. Leergang besliskunde, deel 4: Markovketens en wachttijden. 1966.

1.5 J. Kriens, G. de Leve. Leergang besliskunde, deel 5: inlei-ding tot de mathematische besliskunde. 1966.

Log De or Mainemaisterne Desistandae. 1960.
I.6a B. Dorhout, J. Kriens, Lergang besliskunde, deel 6a: wiskundige programmering 1. 1968.
1.6b B. Dorhout, J. Kriens, J.Th. van Lieshout. Leergang besliskunde, deel 6b: wiskundige programmering 2. 1977.
1.7a G. de Leve. Leergang besliskunde, deel 7a: dynamische programmering 1. 1968.

1.7b G. de Leve, H.C. Tijms. Leergang besliskunde, deel 7b: dynamische programmering 2. 1970.

1.7c G. de Leve, H.C. Tijms. Leergang besliskunde, deel 7c: dynamische programmering 3. 1971.

1.8 J. Kriens, F. Göbel, W. Molenaar. Leergang besliskunde, deel 8: minimaxmethode, netwerkplanning, simulatie. 1968.

2.1 G.J.R. Förch, P.J. van der Houwen, R.P. van de Riet. Colloquium stabiliteit van differentieschema's, deel 1. 1967. 2.2 L. Dekker, T.J. Dekker, P.J. van der Houwen, M.N. Spijker. Colloquium stabiliteit van differentieschema's, deel 2. 1968.

3.1 H.A. Lauwerier. Randwaardeproblemen, deel 1. 1967.

3.2 H.A. Lauwerier. Randwaardeproblemen, deel 2. 1968. 3.3 H.A. Lauwerier. Randwaardeproblemen, deel 3. 1968.

4 H.A. Lauwerier. Representaties van groepen. 1968. 5 J.H. van Lint, J.J. Seidel, P.C. Baayen. Colloquium discrete wiskunde. 1968.

6 K.K. Koksma. Cursus ALGOL 60. 1969.

7.1 Colloquium moderne rekenmachines, deel 1. 1969.

7.2 Colloquium moderne rekenmachines, deel 2. 1969.

8 H. Bavinck, J. Grasman. Relaxatietrillingen. 1969.

9.1 T.M.T. Coolen, G.J.R. Förch, E.M. de Jager, H.G.J. Pijls. Colloquium elliptische differentiaalvergelijkingen, deel 1. 1970.

92. W.P. van den Brink, T.M.T. Coolen, B. Dijkhuis, P.P.N. de Groen, P.J. van der Houwen, E.M. de Jager, N.M. Temme, R.J. de Vogelaere. Colloquium elliptische differentiaal-vergelijkingen, deel 2. 1970.

10 J. Fabius, W.R. van Zwet. Grondbegrippen van de waar schijnlijkheidsrekening. 1970.

11 H. Bart, M.A. Kaashoek. H.G.J. Pijls, W.J. de Schipper, J. de Vries. Colloquium halfalgebra's en positieve operatoren. 1971

12 T.J. Dekker. Numerieke algebra. 1971.

13 F.E.J. Kruseman Aretz. Programmeren voor rekent ten; de MC ALGOL 60 vertaler voor de EL X8. 1971.

14 H. Bavinck, W. Gautschi, G.M. Willems. Colloquius approximatietheorie. 1971.

15.1 T.J. Dekker, P.W. Hemker, P.J. van der Houwen. Collo-quium stijve differentiaalvergelijkingen, deel 1. 1972.

15.2 P.A. Beentjes, K. Dekker, H.C. Hemker, S.P.N. van Kampen, G.M. Willems. Colloquium stijve differentiaalver-gelijkingen, deel 2. 1973.

15.3 P.A. Beentjes, K. Dekker, P.W. Hemker, M. van Veldhuizen. Colloquium stijve differentiaalvergelijkingen, deel 3. 1975.

16.1 L. Geurts. Cursus programmeren, deel 1: de elementen van het programmeren. 1973.

16.2 L. Geurts. Cursus programmeren, deel 2: de programmerenal ALGOL 60. 1973.

17.1 P.S. Stobbe. Lineaire algebra, deel 1. 1973.

17.2 P.S. Stobbe. Lineaire algebra, deel 2. 1973. 17.3 N.M. Temme, Lineaire algebra, deel 3, 1976.

18 F. van der Blij, H. Freudenthal, J.J. de Iongh, J.J. Seidel, A. van Wijngaarden. Een kwart eeuw wiskunde 1946-1971, syllabus van de vakantiecursus 1971. 1973.

19 A. Hordijk, R. Potharst, J.Th. Runnenburg. Optimaal stoppen van Markovketens. 1973.

stoppen van Markovketeris. 193. 20 T.M.T. Coolen, P.W. Hemker, P.J. van der Houwen, E. Slagt. ALGOL 60 procedures voor begin- en randwaardeproblemen. 1976.

21 J.W. de Bakker (red.). Colloquium programmacorrectheid. 1975.

22 R. Helmers, J. Oosterhoff, F.H. Ruymgaart, M.C.A. van Zuylen. Asymptotische methoden in de toetsingstheorie; toepas-singen van naburigheid. 1976.

23.1 J.W. de Roever (red.). Colloquium onderwerpen uit de biomathematica, deel 1. 1976.

23.2 J.W. de Roever (red.). Colloquium onderwerpen uit de biomathematica, deel 2. 1977.

24.1 P.J. van der Houwen. Numerieke integratie van differen-tiaalvergelijkingen, deel 1: eenstapsmethoden. 1974.

25 Colloquium structuur van programmeertalen. 1976.

26.1 N.M. Temme (ed.). Nonlinear analysis, volume 1. 1976. 26.2 N.M. Temme (ed.). Nonlinear analysis, volume 2. 1976.

27 M. Bakker, P.W. Hemker, P.J. van der Houwen, S.J. Polak, M. van Veldhuizen. Colloquium discretiseringsmetho den. 1976.

28 O. Diekmann, N.M. Temme (eds.). Nonlinear diffusion problems. 1976.

29.1 J.C.P. Bus (rod.). Colloquium numerieke programmatuur, deel 1A, deel 1B. 1976.

29.2 H.J.J. te Riele (red.). Colloquium numerieke programma-tuur, deel 2. 1977.

J. Hoering, P. Klint (red.). Colloquium programmeerom-gevingen. 1983.
 J.H. van Lint (red.). Inleiding in de coderingstheorie. 1976.

32 L. Geurts (red.). Colloquium bedrijfsystemen. 1976.

33 P.J. van der Houwen. Berekening van waterstanden in zeeën en rivieren. 1977.

34 J. Hemelrijk. Oriënterende cursus mathematische statistiek. 1977.

35 P.J.W. ten Hagen (red.). Colloquium computer graphics.

1978

J.M. Aarts, J. de Vries. Colloquium topologische dynamische systemen. 1977.
 J.C. van Vliet (red.). Colloquium capita datastructuren.

1978

T.H. Koornwinder (ed.). Representations of locally compact groups with applications, part 1. 1979.
 T.H. Koornwinder (ed.). Representations of locally compact groups with applications, part 11. 1979.
 O.J. Vrieze, G.L. Wanrooy. Colloquium stochastische en control of the second se

spelen. 1978.

40 J. van Tiel. Convexe analyse. 1979.

41 H.J.J. te Riele (ed.). Colloquium numerical treatment of integral equations. 1979.

42 J.C. van Vliet (red.). Colloquium capita implementatie van programmeertalen. 1980.

43 A.M. Cohen, H.A. Wilbrink. Eindige groepen (eer inleidende cursus). 1980.

44 J.G. Verwer (ed.). Colloquium numerical solution of partial differential equations. 1980.

45 P. Klint (red.). Colloquium hogere programmeertalen en computerarchitectuur. 1980.

46.1 P.M.G. Apers (red.). Colloquium databankorganisatie, deel 1. 1981.

46.2 P.G.M. Apers (red.). Colloquium databankorganisatie, deel 2. 1981.

47.1 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60: general information and indices. 1981.

47.2 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 1: elementary procedures; vol. 2: algebraic evaluations. 1981.

erautations. 1981. 47.3 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 3A: linear algebra, part I. 1981. 47.4 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 3B: linear algebra, part II. 1981. 47.5 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 4: analytical evaluations; vol. 5A: analytical problems, part I. 1981. 47.6 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL summinal evacutions in

A7.6 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 5B: analytical problems, part II. 1981. 47.7 P.W. Hemker (ed.). NUMAL, numerical procedures in ALGOL 60, vol. 6: special functions and constants; vol. 7: interpolation and approximation. 1981.

48.1 P.M.B. Vitányi, J. van Leeuwen, P. van Emde Boas

(red.). Colloquium complexiteit en algoritmen, deel 1. 1982. 48.2 P.M.B. Vitányi, J. van Leeuwen, P. van Emde Boas (red.). Colloquium complexiteit en algoritmen, deel 2. 1982.

49 T.H. Koornwinder (ed.). The structure of real semisimple Lie groups. 1982.

50 H. Nijmeijer. Inleiding systeemtheorie. 1982.

51 P.J. Hoogendoorn (red.). Cursus cryptografie. 1983.